Xénia Farkas

VISUAL POLITICS: VISUAL POLITICAL COMMUNICATION ON SOCIAL MEDIA

DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE CORVINUS UNIVERSITY OF BUDAPEST

VISUAL POLITICS: VISUAL POLITICAL COMMUNICATION ON SOCIAL MEDIA

Supervisor: Márton Bene, PhD

©Xénia Farkas

DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE CORVINUS UNIVERSITY OF BUDAPEST

VISUAL POLITICS: VISUAL POLITICAL COMMUNICATION ON SOCIAL MEDIA

ARTICLE-BASED DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Xénia Farkas

Budapest, Hungary 2022 An article-based doctoral dissertation in accordance with § 31 of the Doctoral Regulation of Corvinus University Budapest, September 2021 (JISZ-SZ/8/2021), based on the following publications:

- Article 1: Farkas, X., & Bene, M. (2021). Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 26(1), 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220959553
- Article 2: Farkas, X., Jackson, D., Baranowski, P., Bene, M., Russmann, U., & Veneti, A. (2022). Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries. *European Journal of Communication*, Online first, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/02673231221082238
- Article 3: Farkas, X., & Bene, M. Orbán Viktor vizuális és verbális populista stílusa a Facebookon [The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook]. Accepted by the journal *Politikatudományi Szemle*, will be published in the 2022/3 issue.

Table of Contents

Abstract	. 10
1. Introduction	. 11
1.1 Visuals in political communication	. 13
1.1.1 Main notions: images, visuals, visual political communication, personalization, populism	. 13
1.1.2 Why do visuals matter in political communication?	. 15
1.1.3 VPC on social media	. 19
1.2 Visual political communication: A Literature review	. 21
1.2.1 Review method	. 22
1.2.2 Findings	. 24
1.3 The research focus of the thesis	. 38
1.3.1 Research Questions	. 39
2. Methodological overview	. 40
2.1 Visual methodologies	. 40
2.2 Visual methods in practice	. 43
2.3 Applied methods in the thesis	. 44
3. Individual publications and findings	. 45
3.1 Article 1: Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media	. 46
3.2 Article 2: Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries	
3.3 Article 3: The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook	. 51
4. Conclusions and future directions	. 54
5. References	. 58
Appendix	. 69
Statement of Authorship	. 69
Author's Own Contributions for Co-Authored Publications	. 70
Author's Publication List	. 72
Article 1	. 74
Article 2	103
Article 3	135

List of Tables

Table 1. Top ten most cited studies	24
Table 2. Top fifty frequently applied keywords	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Number of VPC studies over time	. 24
Figure 2. The frequency of the examined countries in VPC studies	. 27
Figure 3. The investigated media types and platforms in VPC studies	. 28
Figure 4. The frequency of the applied methods to study VPC	. 29
Figure 5 Frequency of the examined periods in VPC	. 30

Acknowledgments

This dissertation could not have been written without the support of my professional and personal environment. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor and one of my best friends, Márton Bene for all his patience, time, help, support, and trust. Through these years, I've learned a lot from him, both professionally and personally. Since the very beginning of my doctoral studies, he stood by me, listened to all my concerns and fears, suggested possible solutions, comforted me at the low points, and laughed with me after the successful conference presentations. He not just taught me how to apply quantitative methods, but supported my ideas and ambitions, and provided me with opportunities to join international research projects. He taught me how to be a researcher, and I cannot thank him enough.

I would also like to thank Balázs Kiss for being the first person who truly believed that I should start the Ph.D. program, even at those moments when I still had my doubts. He pushed me out of my comfort zone, motivated me to submit my first conference paper, and helped me in the first two years of the program. Balázs showed me the importance of visuals in politics and inspired me to dig deeper into this topic, and I really appreciate he taught me how to analyze images from a social semiotic approach. Thank you Balázs for your trust.

Further, I am grateful for all my colleagues at the Centre for Social Sciences, Institute for Political Science, especially Zsófi Papp, who not only taught me special skills in research design, and provided one of the most valuable comments on my papers, but showed me the love of running, drank a lot of Fritz Cola with me and became a really good friend of mine through these years. Thanks go to the whole Department of Political Behaviour, especially Gabriella Szabó, who provided me opportunities to widen my focus on visuals in the direction of emotions. Also, I appreciate the support of Gábor Dobos, who tolerated my complaining sessions during several lunch times and always created a friendly and comfortable atmosphere in our office. Having been working at the CSS for more than 7 years, I could learn and get feedback from the best researchers.

Moreover, I would like to thank the support of the leaders of the Doctoral School of International Relations and Political Science, CUB, especially Zoltán Balázs and Réka Várnagy, and my fellow Ph.D. students, Ádám Darabos, and András Bánki.

I am grateful for all my co-authors throughout these years, I have learned a lot from them. Besides Márton Bene, Balázs Kiss, and Gabriella Szabó, I owe a debt of gratitude to Fruzsina Nábelek, Lilla Szabó, Norbert Merkovity, Krisztina Burai, and from the international collaborations, thanks to Pawel Baranowski, Daniel Jackson, Uta Russmann, and Anastasia Veneti. Also, I would like to thank Júlia Sonnevend and Dániel Oross for their valuable comments on the first version of the dissertation.

I am also very grateful for the Fulbright Hungary and Károly Jókay to support my ideas and allow me to work on a research project in the United States with Maria Elizabeth Grabe at the Media School of Indiana University Bloomington. I sincerely appreciate all the professional and personal help of Betsi Grabe, who introduced me to the American research environment, went on long walks with me and showed me how to work hard, even harder than I could imagine. Thanks go to fellow Fulbrighters, Zsolt Boda and Péter Krekó as well for their support, and I am thankful to Andor Sugár for the English courses, and my friends in the US for being there for me in the hardest periods of conducting research abroad.

Finally, I want to express my deepest gratitude to my family and friends for their support. Papa's interest in politics inspired me to focus on the topic and understand politics better. He has always been there for me, he never spared the time to listen to my professional concerns and achievements, and supported me to continue this path. Thank you, Papa! I also really appreciate the support of Lejla, Milán, and Zlatan, who showed me how a caring family works and never complained about my tight schedule. I would like to highlight some of my friends as well, especially Kata, who has been my friend for more than 20 years, and still, never missed an opportunity to drink a coffee with me and talk about some chocolate-ice-cream-related nonsense. Perhaps I will not surprise anyone by saying that the Ph.D. program sometimes involves great sacrifices, and that is true when it comes to meeting friends, too. So I truly appreciate my friends who tolerated my missing presence through these years, and they adapted to me and my schedule. Thank you, Juci, Edina, Frida, Hajni, and Zsófi!

Last but definitely not least, I could not have done this without the support of my partner and best friend, Gergő Paukovics, and the unconditional love of our dog, Szója. Gergő, you are a true hero for me, not just because you are still with me, but because you still love me, although you have seen my worst moments throughout the years of the Ph.D. program. Your calmness, patience, and support gave me time and freedom to focus on my research. I am grateful for all the small and big things, the uncountable quantity of coffees, the high-quality food, the well-timed gin-sodas that you made me, the new songs that you showed me, the long conversations, and all the loving care that you provided me. Thank you for letting me cry on your shoulder when I was exhausted, and thank you for being happy with me for every small and big success I achieved. I cannot be grateful enough for you, thank you, Gergő. Also, I appreciate all the love that Szója gave me, and her attentiveness to never forgetting to remind me to go out of the room for a walk. I hope we will go for longer walks soon.

Abstract

Visuals are an integral part of our life, and it is also true for political communication. Political posters and advertisements are not only visible on television, and on the streets but everywhere on the Internet, especially on social media. It is highly unlikely to go through our Facebook newsfeed without seeing any political visuals, such as photos, videos, or gifs. These visuals have a huge influencing impact, as they are processed quicker than verbal and textual information, sometimes even unconsciously, which is well-known by the political actors as well, and they are using images as part of their strategic toolkit to influence voters. However, political communication research did not reflect on these processes for long. Fortunately, this tendency started to change in the last decade, and research on visual political communication, or as Bucy and Joo (2021) calls it, visual politics, gained momentum. The dissertation aims to contribute to this emerging research area, as due to the relative novelty of the research field, several research questions remain to be answered. The thesis provides insights into three related studies that apply visual content analysis. To better understand visual political communication on social media, visual personalization strategies, and their effects on different social media platforms are studied. Further, the similarities and differences between populist and non-populist parties' visual communication are described. The populist style of an exemplary populist leader is also tested across different periods and modalities. Additionally, portable coding instruments that allow visual, and bimodal investigations related to political communication strategies, personalization, and populism were created and published to increase research in the field.

1. Introduction¹

A decade ago, Schill (2012) published a review article on visual political communication (VPC) research aiming to increase scholarly attention in the field. By describing the functions of visuals in politics, the main argument of the study was that due to the prominent role of visuals in political communication, research should also focus on them. As Schill (2012) stated,

"One myth that must be challenged is that visuals have limited importance in politics, operate superficially, or are of trivial consequence. Not only is this myth incorrect, it has exerted a chilling effect on research in this area. When scholars only examine written or verbal texts, they are only seeing a small part of the political communication process." (p. 133)

Indeed, visuals of politics remained "one of the least studied and least understood areas" (Schill, 2012, p. 119) for a long period. As Bucy and Joo (2021) strengthen it, "only in the last decade or so have social scientists begun to take visuals seriously" (p. 5). Accordingly, in the last ten years, scholars seem to react to this call, and the number of studies on VPC has grown markedly. Articles on the topic have been published in journals such as *Political Communication, Visual Communication, Political Psychology, Social Media* + *Society, New Media & Society, American Behavioral Scientist,* or *The International Journal of Press/Politics,* and books with a specific VPC focus, such as *Election Posters Around the Globe Political Campaigning in the Public Space* (Holtz-Bacha & Johansson, 2017), *Visual Global Politics* (Bleiker, 2018), or *Visual Political Communication* (Veneti et al., 2019) have been published.

As Schill's (2012) article could capture scholarship that mostly predates the rise of social media in political communication, its main arguments were derived from the prominent role of television as a source of political information. Although television is still an important source of news (Newman et al., 2022), in the age of the Internet and social media platforms, different questions are formulated regarding visually constructed political messages. As Lilleker and colleagues (2019) argue, the new communication platforms are widely used in political communication by campaigners, as "they offer to deliver compelling visuals directly to their target audience. In turn, citizens seek to

¹ The introduction is partly based on a manuscript titled "Visual Political Communication Research: A Literature Review from 2012 to 2022" that has been submitted to the Review of Communication Research and is currently under revision and resubmission.

consume, understand and influence the political reality using various visual representations" (pp. 5-6). Social media has not only increased the importance of VPC (Lilleker, 2020) but has contributed to the (1) distinguished attention on individual political actors instead of parties (Enli & Skogerbø 2013); (2) highlighted the role of emotions in politics (Coleman & Wu, 2015); (3) application of new communication strategies (Russmann et al., 2019).

Hence, this article-based dissertation focuses on VPC on social media and aims to provide a synthesized understanding of different political actors' social media-based VPC strategies, the external factors that shape these strategies, and their effects on citizens.

For that, first, after the description of the key concepts of the dissertation, the thesis provides an overview of the literature on visual aspects of politics that predated social media. As the chapter demonstrates, the first studies that acknowledged the important role of visuals in politics 1) were mainly based on televised political news and debates, 2) their theoretical background was embedded in varied fields from communication studies through visual studies, or psychology, 3) and they described the importance of VPC through the demonstration of the functions and effects of visuals in politics.

Then a combination of a systematic and narrative review describes general and specific, content-related trends in the last ten years of VPC – the social media era. This chapter lists the most influential studies in the field and connects the findings of VPC to current political communication trends. The results showed that visuals in politics are often used for personalization, and populist actors can also often benefit from the visually created messages on social media.

In the next chapter, the general research questions of the thesis are presented in three main points. First, the examination was focused on social media-based visual political communication strategies of different political actors. Second, the external factors that might affect these strategies are also investigated. Finally, the effects of social media-based VPC are examined in terms of user engagement.

After a methodological overview, qualitative and quantitative content analysis, as the applied methods of the dissertation are described. In the following parts, summaries and findings of the individual publications are presented, then conclusions and future research directions are delineated. In the appendix, all three individual publications' accepted manuscripts are attached.

1.1 Visuals in political communication

The first sub-chapter starts with the introduction of the key concepts of the thesis: visuals, visual political communication, personalization, and populism. Then the importance of visuals in politics is highlighted by the overview of the literature that predated the social media era and is mainly based on visual studies research. The sub-chapter ends with a chronological overview that leads to VPC on social media.

1.1.1 Key concepts: images, visuals, visual political communication, personalization, populism

There are different approaches to defining visuals. Scholars from different visual research fields highlight different aspects of the notion, and there is a huge variation of visual research that is based on different theories. First of all, the terms of images and visuals are distinguished and defined by Müller (2007): the term *image* refers to all kinds of visible representations, but it denotes immaterial meanings, such as metaphors or representations in the mind as well, while the *visuals* denote material visual products. Accordingly, visuals can be "tv programmes, advertisements, snapshots, public sculpture, movies, surveillance video footage, newspaper pictures, paintings" (Rose, 2001, p. 6), or "drawings, paintings, photographs, videos, films, computer graphics, animations, and virtual reality displays" (Kenney 2008, p. 1). According to Emmison and Smith (2000), visuals are everything that is seen and observable: photographs, buildings, clothing, body language, or eye contact can also be considered visual data. Indeed, the thesis considers body language, gestures, and facial expressions as important visual communication tools.

Additionally, it needs to be noted that although the dissertation is built on the definitions of *visuals*, it differentiates between moving and still images. While the theoretical part of the thesis has a wide focus, and both kinds of visuals are included in the literature review, the individual publications focused only on still images. The decision on focusing only on still images is based on methodological considerations: the examination of moving images, such as videos or gifs needs different methods that focus not only on visual but audio-visual messages as well (Rose, 2001).

Further, the area of VPC was hardly defined in the literature. In short, VPC can be described as a field of political communication, related to visuals. However, as political communication has no exact definition (for various descriptions see Norris, 2001; Perloff, 2013), neither does VPC. There is no widely accepted or applied definition of the area of VPC. Aiming to provide a definition that can help outline the topic of the thesis, one of the various definitions of political communication can be a useful starting point. Like other authors' approaches, de Vreese's (2006) definition is built on three types of actors-political actors, the media, and citizens. These actors and the interactions between them are the focus of political communication, while political communication research is concerned with these actors' messages, and their constructions and effects. Still, as Bene (2020) suggests, to have an empirically manageable definition of political communication, it is worth limiting the broad theoretical definition to interactions connected in some way to the institutional world of politics. Accordingly, "something is considered to be political communication if it is part of interactions related to institutional (e.g. voting) or organized forms of political participation (e.g. demonstration, collective product boycott, etc.), political institutions, institutional political actors (parties, politicians) or binding decisions forms"² (Bene, 2020, p. 23). In the following, the thesis applies these approaches when defining VPC. Because political messages are communicated not only through written or spoken but through nonverbal channels as well, VPC can be understood as the visual part of the interactions between the three actors, while VPC research is concerned with the construction and effects of visual political messages. Therefore, in the thesis, any kind of visual communication, such as nonverbal communication, appearance, and visual depiction of issues, related to institutional or organized political participation, political institutions, institutional political actors, or binding decision forms are considered part of VPC.

Moreover, as personalization and populism are two main concepts of the thesis, it is worth describing the concepts here shortly, then the individual publications offer detailed definitions and their connections to VPC.

Personalization is understood as a trend in political communication, where "individual political actors have become more prominent at the expense of parties and collective identities" (Karvonen, 2010, p. 4). Although it is not a new phenomenon in political communication (Balmas & Sheafer, 2015), our knowledge on the topic was mainly based on verbal communication research for a long period. Nevertheless, as the literature review will demonstrate, in the last decade, scholars turned their attention to the visual aspects of personalization and broadened our understanding of the different kinds of personalization, both individualization, and privatization (Van Aelst et al., 2012). Furthermore, personalization of politics, and visual personalization touch upon celebritization as well, which trend is connected to the spread of popular culture, and the

² Translated by the author.

articulated need for entertainment in politics (van Zoonen, 2006). Celebritization's main effect is that political contents in themselves became less interesting, they are mixed with political performances, media appearances, and celebrity events (Ekman and Widholm, 2017), and these trends are connected to visual performances.

Unlike in the case of personalization, there is no widely accepted definition of the concept of populism (see Mudde, 2004; Weyland, 2001; Hawkins, 2009). Nonetheless, from the competing approaches, visuals can be examined only from two of these. First, de Vreese and colleagues' (2018) approach defines populism as a communication phenomenon, built around (1) people-centrism, (2) anti-elitism, (3) and reference to outgroups. Second, Moffitt (2016) argues that populism is a political style, which refers to a "symbolically mediated performance" that unquestionably contains visual aspects as well. Accordingly, considering populism as a communication phenomenon or a style, the relevance of visuals is undoubted, thus, it seems to be necessary to investigate populist VPC to better understand this trend.

1.1.2 Why do visuals matter in political communication?

As Bucy and Joo (2021) note, the works of Griffin (1991), Graber (1988), Masters and colleagues (1986), and Lanzetta and colleagues (1985) all described the need to examine visuals in politics. However, research on the field remained scattered until the last decade (Bucy & Joo, 2021). Political communication scholars often ignored the visually constructed messages, and even if a study mentioned the word "image", it often referred to the ethos of the candidate, and not to visual elements in their communication (Schill, 2012). Still, a smaller group of researchers started to pay attention to the visual aspects of politics, mainly from the fields of communication, psychology, and visual studies, and in a lesser degree from political science. Scholarly works before the social media era were mainly focused on the importance of televised political communication, and its effects on citizens.

The importance of visual politics was argued from several aspects. From the field of biopolitics, scholars (see Masters et al., 1986; Lanzetta et al., 1985), described the importance of politicians' facial expressions, as forms of visual communication. Facial displays of candidates' can express emotions such as anger or threat, fear or evasion, and happiness or reassurance (Masters et al., 1986). These nonverbal expressions on televised news are used as a source of information for voters which can influence and predict their voting behavior (Mullen et al., 1986). Further, not only facial expressions but the physical attractiveness of the candidates also serves as a VPC tool. As Sigelman and colleagues (1987) described, the attractiveness of candidates can result in a higher number of votes. These findings on nonverbal behavior and the appearance of the politicians were strengthened and nuanced later from various aspects and approaches. For instance, Sullivan (1996) showed that leaders' positive nonverbal cues can mobilize voter support. Further, although positive facial expressions of leaders generate positive emotions in viewers, negative displays are considered more honest and credible (Bucy, 2000). As the results of these studies showed, there is a connection between visuals and emotions in politics, which was also examined from other perspectives as well.

Another line of scholarly works described the biological background and psychological background of this enormous power of images, which is based on the brain's different abilities to process information. Compared to written or spoken texts, people believe more about what they see (Schweiger & Adami, 1999). Further, visual information is not only processed faster but is easier to be remembered (Graber, 1996). These are strengthened by Grabe and Bucy (2009) as well, who dedicated a chapter to explaining in detail, from the very beginning of life, why visuals matter and how they are processed. As they put it, "visuals are equally processed in the thinking part of the brain and contain a great deal of nuanced social information important for political decision making" (Grabe & Bucy, 2009, p. 21). Thus, it can be said that VPC has powerful cognitive and emotional potential.

Moreover, the power of visuals was highlighted from the perspective of visual rhetoric studies, which represents a crucial field in the study of VPC. The reason for this is that "the most important function of images in political communication is that they can have rhetorical impact and make persuasive arguments to viewers" (Schill, 2012, p. 122). As Messaris (1994; 2012) described it in connection with visual literacy: compared to verbal language, visual communication images are easier to be understood, however, for this very reason, it is harder to detect visual manipulation or persuasion. In visual rhetoric studies, the focus is on the signs and symbols that construct messages (Foss, 2005). In politics, all kinds of symbols can create messages: the depiction of flags may increase nationalism (Kemmelmeier & Winter, 2008), colors can signal ideologies (Schloss & Palmer, 2014) and crowds can symbolize popularity (Schill, 2009). These findings suggest that visuals in politics have not only cognitive and emotional power, but political actors might apply visual messages to persuade voters.

Visual persuasion was investigated from another approach as well. Visual framing can be understood as another function of VPC, which has been studied mainly from the

perspective of the media. Research on issue framings, such as protests (Arpan et al., 2006), or war (Fahmy, 2005; 2010) showed that visuals can be, and are used by the media actors to influence citizens' emotions, attitudes, and opinions. At this point, it seems that VPC has cognitive, emotional, and influential power as well.

Additionally, Schill's (2012) review of the literature prior to 2012 marked 10 functions of visuals in politics in total. Accordingly, visuals in politics: "serve as arguments, have an agenda setting function, dramatize policy, aid in emotional appeals, build the candidate's image, create identification, connect to societal symbols, transport the audience, and add ambiguity" (p. 122).

These functions can be understood as overlapping strategies and their effects based on the cognitive, emotional, and influential power of images that is communicated through the depiction of nonverbal communication, symbols, and issues. The depiction of facial expressions, gestures, the appearance of the political actors, and symbols, such as flags and logos can shape arguments, build the political image, arouse emotions, symbolize broader meanings, help identification, and by documenting the present, they can transport the audience to different times and space, also to add ambiguity. Further, the depiction of issues such as wars, global warming, protest, or gender can be connected to agenda setting and policy dramatization. Here, the overlap between the strategies and their effects might appear because of the field's diverse background. As Barnhurst and Quinn (2012) put it,

"Political communication and visual studies may seem not to intersect, given their independent growth and institutional separation in departments of art and government. But as multimedia communication via television, film and the Internet spread, scholars should pay more attention to the intersection." (p. 276)

It is clear that research on VPC emerged from completely different theoretical frameworks and research areas. Accordingly, the existing literature on VPC prior to social media was mainly based on visual studies for a long period. Considering the fact that VPC intersects not only with the fields of political and communication studies, but with media studies, sociology, and psychology as well, it needs to be acknowledged that visual elements that might touch upon politics have been studied separately, without building a connection to the different research areas, or visual theory (Barnhurst & Quinn, 2012).

Studies focusing not necessarily on VPC but visual communication in general, are based on visual theory and apply different research approaches. Barnhurst and colleagues' (2004) article gives a detailed review of the main currents of visual studies from 1999 to 2003 and identifies three major trends in the applied approaches: 1) visual rhetoric, 2) visual semantics, and 3) visual pragmatics.

The most widely used approach of visual studies is *visual rhetoric*: applied mainly in the field of mass media and popular culture, the focus of these studies is on persuasion by images, and the meanings of the visual messages (Barnhurst et al., 2004). This approach can be a useful tool to study images in political communication since images have a rhetorical impact to make persuasive arguments to viewers (Schill, 2012). On the other hand, as Martin (2011) argues, the approach is focused only on the viewers' side and does not pay attention to the intents of the creator. Indeed, visual messages that are interpreted by the audience can differ from the intentions of the creator.

The second identified theory by Barnhurst and colleagues (2004) is the *visual semantic* approach, which was dominant in the fields of arts, psychology, and visual literacy, but lately, media and technology studies also adopted the approach. Göransson and Fagerholm (2018) classify research with a primarily semantic approach as visual studies, which expression is often used in the literature as a synonym of 'visual culture' and/or 'cultural studies', despite the remarkable differences in their meanings (Elkins, 2000). While visual culture is about visually communicated, constructed values and identities, visual studies grew out from cultural studies and it is focused on the internal structures, the cultural construction of visuals that create meanings (Martin, 2011).

The *pragmatic* approach in visual research is mainly from the applied fields of journalism and engineering: studies about the practice, the production of images, and the sense-making during the reception (Barnhurst et al., 2004). This practice-oriented approach can be classified as empirical visual communication (Martin, 2011; Göransson & Fagerholm, 2018): a subfield of communication science that is based on a multidisciplinary background with its empirical, social scientific traditions and uses social scientific methods to understand and explain "current visual phenomena and their implications for the immediate future" (Müller, 2007, p. 24). Kenney (2008) also highlights the social aspects of visual communication and defines it "as a social process in which people exchange messages that include visuals" (p. 1). Further, the concept of visual communication can be connected to mass communication and mass media (Griffin, 1991).

Considering that the focus of visual communication is on the social aspects, and the approach is connected to mass communication, this approach can help to study visuals in political communication on social media platforms. Furthermore, as visual content analysis is embedded in visual communication, this approach is suitable to study how messages are created through visuals. Hence, the thesis applies the pragmatic visual communication approach to fill research gaps in VPC research.

1.1.3 VPC on social media

From a chronological perspective, visuals in political communication became critical with the technological advances: from the printed press to the television, and finally the Internet. Perloff (2013) refers to two memorable examples to certify the influential effect of visuals in political communication. First, the first presidential debate broadcasted on television and radio in 1960, the Kennedy-Nixon debate: while Kennedy had touch-ups on his face, highlighting attractive features, wearing an elegant, dark suit, Nixon refused to wear make-up, looked pale, fatigued, and ill. As a result, research after the debate found that television viewers believed Kennedy had won the debate, while radio listeners thought Nixon won. As a second example, one of Ronald Reagan's famous image-making techniques can also be mentioned: his well-known picture of having a beer in an Irish pub with blue-collar workers contributed to his "regular guy" image. Continuing the examples that strengthen the power of visuals, Lilleker (2019) describes the image of the youthful and relaxed Barack Obama and the "lurched, tongue out" John McCain during the final debate in 2008, to underline the influential impact of iconic scenes that went viral in the wide range of media outlets, including social media platforms as well: "an image, if viewed as representing a synthesis of the choice to be made, can lead to impressions being formed that can prove decisive at the ballot box" (p. 38).

As it is clear from the examples as well, even though the role of television in visual political communication is still prominent (Newman et al., 2022), digital media has highlighted visuals from new perspectives. Blumler and Kavanagh (1999), and later Blumler (2016) described the first, second, third, and fourth ages of political communication: the period after World War II until the '60s is considered as the first age of political communication with party-dominated communication, substantive messages and easy access to mass media; from the 1960s, the television became the main channel of political communication with a limited number of outlets; then from the 1990s the limited nature not only disappeared but communication channels multiplied; finally, the proliferation of the Internet, especially social media, resulted in the fourth age of political

communication. It is clear that through the ages, on all these channels, the television, and the Internet, especially social media platforms, such as Facebook, Instagram, or YouTube, political communication became increasingly visual. Barack Obama's 2008 campaign was the first-ever campaign when social media platforms such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and YouTube were integrated and used to communicate with voters, and for Obama, the Internet has become what TV was for Kennedy (Bimber, 2014). Apparently, both channels are highly visual, which means that to understand political messages, VPC has to be investigated, especially in the fourth age of political communication.

Further, the proliferation of the Internet and social media platforms has opened up new opportunities for political communication, especially for VPC. As Gerodimos (2019) described, after the 2008 Obama campaign and Trump's use of Twitter, social media platforms became inseparable from political campaigns and political communication research. Of 4.66 billion active Internet users worldwide (59.5 percent of the global population), 92.6 percent used it on mobile devices (Johnson, 2021). Hence, with the increased number of phones with cameras, the widely available Internet access, and the visual affordances of social media platforms, VPC also gained momentum.

Moreover, compared to television, social media provides different affordances than audiovisual media with a lesser role of media control (Stromer-Galley, 2014), the networked media logic (Bennett & Segerberg, 2013), and new communication genres (Kreiss et al., 2018). In televised VPC political actors can primarily control their appearance, nonverbal communication, and the symbols they apply, as media workers (e.g. news creators, reporters) have filtering and editing roles. In contrast, on social media political actors can carefully craft their visual messages that include, but are not limited to their appearance and nonverbal communication. So to say, social media-based VPC not only offers more opportunities for political actors to control their visual presentation and frame their messages but on these platforms, everything can be and presumably needed to be visually presented due to the highly visual nature of social media. Based on these changes, and considering the visual nature of these platforms (Lilleker et al., 2019), it can be expected that there are transformations in VPC as well, strategies and effects do not work in the same way on these new platforms. Nevertheless, it is important to note that the transformation due to the Internet as a medium is not necessarily limited to the territory of the Internet, since we live in a hybrid media system (Chadwick, 2013), where old and new media logics interact, and can be present on all channels. For instance, televised election debates can influence social media-based political communication (e.g.

Shah et al., 2015), or social media posts of politicians might have an agenda-setting role on television (Gilardi et al., 2021). Hence, a review of VPC research in the area of social media and television seems to be necessary.

In the last decade, VPC has become an emerging research area, but due to its relatively late rump-up, there are still several research gaps that will be described in the literature review. Further, it remained only among a narrow range of scholars, whose main research interest touches upon any kind of visual component of political communication, and the general political communication research still often ignores the visual messages. Hence, more research on the topic of visual politics is required.

For that, the dissertation examines social media-based visual political communication, with a focus on still images, uploaded by politicians and parties to Facebook and Instagram during different periods: election campaigns, COVID-19 pandemic, and cucumber periods without major political events.

1.2 Visual political communication: A Literature review³

In the following, the main findings of the last 10 years of VPC literature will be described to provide a theoretical and literature base to the thesis. The aim is to examine and summarize the findings of studies written in the last decade, compare the new trends with Schill's (2012) findings related to the functions of visuals in politics, and offer an empirical investigation of the scholarship in the emerging research area of VPC. To that end, a combination of a systematic and narrative review is provided to highlight the results and developments in this area.

Therefore, 455 articles, books, and book chapters –written in English and related to VPC– were collected through the application of the snowball sampling procedure (Wholin, 2014), and a systematic search in the Web of Science database. The starting date of the collection of the works is 2012 since Schill's (2012) review article covered a huge part of the preceding period, but from then until the present (2022), there is no systematic reflection on this productive period.

This fast-growing body of literature in the last ten years underlines the emergence of VPC as an area of research. A closer look at this scholarship also reveals noticeable differences regarding the focus on geography, media platforms, time periods, actors,

³ The literature review is based on a manuscript titled "Visual Political Communication Research: A Literature Review from 2012 to 2022" that has been submitted to the Review of Communication Research and is currently under revision and resubmission.

methods, and the type of visuals. This chapter describes the diversity in general trends and discusses findings focused on the relationship between VPC and political communication trends, aiming to shed light both on the progression and the future directions of VPC research.

1.2.1 Review method

Considering the types of literature reviews, this chapter of the thesis is a combination of systematic and narrative reviews (Greenhalgh et al., 2018). Aiming to summarize the current status of VPC research, the first part of the examination offers a systematic review with a general overview of the number of the studies, their geographical focus, the applied methods, the investigated platforms, actors, and periods.

For this, the snowball method is applied as Wohlin (2014) describes. The start set of papers was identified as the chapters (N=14) of *Visual Political Communication* (Veneti et al., 2019). The selection of this book as the starting point of the snowball procedure was based on two factors. First, the book offers a unique, geographically and thematically comprehensive, both theoretically and empirically grounded overview of VPC. Second, this edited volume "is especially timely because of the growth and almost ubiquitous use of social media" (Stanyer, 2021, p. 1).

After the identification of the start set of papers, the criteria of exclusion and inclusion of further papers were set up on the reference lists of the chapters: (1) studies (articles, books, book chapters) had to be (2) published between 01/01/2012 and 07/31/2022; (3) written in English; (4) focused broadly on any area of visual political communication. Accordingly, works like conference presentations or theses, published sooner or later than this period, and written not in English were excluded.

The book chapters' references provided a huge tentative dataset (N=583) to evaluate for inclusion and exclusion. Works that met the criteria (N=178) were included in the snowballing procedure. With backward snowballing, the reference list of the included works was examined to identify new papers to include. As a next step, forward snowballing was conducted with the use of Google Scholar, to identify new papers that cite the collected papers. Iteration was closed when no new studies were found (N=240).

Additionally, in order to broaden the research into a systematic review, a Google Scholar search for "visual political communication" within the investigated period has been carried out. From the records (N= 426), with the additional snowballing procedure, 134 new works met the above-mentioned criteria and have been added to the database.

Moreover, as the Web of Science (WoS) collection is considered one of the most extensive database in social sciences (Chadegani et al., 2013), a WoS search was also carried out with filters on the topic of "visual political communication" and the investigated period. These found records (N=453) of the WoS Core Collection were further filtered into articles written in English (N=385). 64 works were identified as already present in the database built on snowball procedure and Google Scholar search, 229 studies did not match the criteria of the present investigation, and 92 new items were added to the database.

Finally, after cleaning the dataset, it includes 455 studies on the field of VPC, 358 articles, 13 books, and 84 chapters. All studies were coded by the author, according to the following criteria. A record in the database contains the author(s) of the paper, its publication year, title, the type of the work (article/book/chapter), its keywords (if provided by the authors), the journal, book or publisher of the work, its country/region focus, and the method that was applied. Moreover, the topic/focus of the research was categorized inductively after reading the studies. For instance, a paper's focus can be on migrants, refugees, and asylum seekers, which are overlapping topics, thus, all were coded finally as refugees. Studies' full or partial visual content focus was decided on the basis of whether a visual analysis was carried out, or the presence of visuals is integrated into the investigation without their deeper analysis. The type of the investigated visuals was differentiated in terms of still and moving images as well. The media type and platforms where visuals were examined were also coded as specifically as the authors described them, e.g. television, Instagram, Facebook, newspaper, poster, or t-shirts, and stamps. The main actors of the papers were coded inductively: after reading the studies, their main actor(s) were categorized into the three actor types of political communication: political actors, media, and citizens (including movements and other civil actors). In the case of multiple actors in one study, all the examined actors were coded. Further, studies' empirical or theoretical, and qualitative or quantitative nature was also coded. The period of the investigation was coded based on the authors' description, and later these periods were categorized as campaign, protest, crisis, general, and other periods. Finally, the coding of the times a work was cited was based on Google Scholar data, then in order to obtain comparable data, the number of citations was divided by the number of years since the publication of the study.

The second part of the analysis provides a narrative review, aiming to promote research knowledge. Hence, it brings in the most cited studies, and in some cases, less

cited studies with important ideas as well, and focuses on their main findings, grouped by their content focus.

1.2.2 Findings

Data is analyzed in two sections: first, a systematic review outlines an overview of the general findings of all the collected works, then in the next part, a narrative review describes the content-related findings of VPC papers, separating theoretical and partly visual-focused works, and empirical and full visual-focused works. Findings of the latter group of studies are grouped according to their media platform focus: social media and television.

1.2.2.1 General trends

The number of studies shows a moderate growth until 2016, but the next year the number of works rapidly grew. However, it has to be noted that in 2017, two edited volume (Holtz-Bacha & Johansson, 2017; Holtz-Bacha et al., 2017) was published with 25 relevant chapters on political advertising and posters. Still, not counting these studies, this year, there was an increased interest in this area of research, then the number of studies falls back to the level of 2014. As Figure 1 shows, after 2018, the yearly number of studies is close to 50, which trend shows a slightly emerging interest in the field of VPC research.



Figure 1. Number of VPC studies over time. *As 2022 is not finished yet, data from this year is not depicted in the diagram.

The top 10 most cited studies can be seen in Table 1. This shows that the most influential paper was Bossetta's (2018) study on social media affordances which had only a partial visual focus, while all the others examined visuals as the central element of their research. Eight studies focused on still images, one on moving, and one on both types of images. Each of the works is an empirical study, four of them used qualitative, three

quantitative methods, and three papers applied both approaches. Five of the ten papers focused on the United States, while the others examined Canada, the UK, Australia, Germany, and Europe. Considering the investigated topics, a wide range of political trends and issues stands out: celebritization, emotionalization, disinformation, technological aspects of communication, refugees, and ideologies. Political actors, the media, and the citizens are all examined in the top 10 cited papers. Half of the studies focused on social media platforms, three on newspapers, while two had no specific platform focus. Regarding the applied methods, three articles used content analysis, another three applied experiments, while in the remaining cases discourse, semiotic and multimodal analyses, and an interview was carried out.

Author(s)	Year	Title	Times cited	Citation/year	
		The Digital Architectures of Social Media:			
		Comparing Political Campaigning on Facebook,			
		Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat in the 2016			
Michael Bossetta	2018	U.S. Election	382	95.5	
Lilie Chouliaraki, Tijana		Rethinking media responsibility in the refugee			
Stolic	2017	'crisis': a visual typology of European news	266	53.2	
Mireille Lalancette,		The Power of Political Image: Justin Trudeau,			
Vincent Raynauld	2017	Instagram, and Celebrity Politics	258	51.6	
		Pop Polyvocality: Internet Memes, Public			
		Participation, and the Occupy Wall Street			
Ryan M. Milner	2013	Movement	451	50.1	
Roland Bleiker, David					
Campbell, Emma					
Hutchison, Xzarina					
Nicholson	2013	The visual dehumanisation of refugees	405	45	
Johanna Schindler,		Design follows politics? The visualization of			
Philipp Müller	2017	political orientation in newspaper page layout	223	44.6	
		Digital cultures of political participation:			
		Internet memes and the discursive			
Andrew S.Ross, Damian		delegitimization of the 2016 U.S Presidential			
J. Rivers	2017	candidates	216	43.2	
Michael Hameleers					
,Thomas E. Powell, Toni		A Picture Paints a Thousand Lies? The Effects			
G.L.A. Van Der Meer,		and Mechanisms of Multimodal Disinformation			
Lieke Bos	2020	and Rebuttals Disseminated via Social Media	83	41.5	
Thomas E. Powell, Hajo					
G. Boomgaarden, Knut					
De Swert, Claes H. de		A Clearer Picture: The Contribution of Visuals			
Vreese	2015	and Text to Framing Effects	280	40	
		Deepfakes and Disinformation: Exploring the			
Cristian Vaccari, Andrew		Impact of Synthetic Political Video on			
Chadwick	2020	Deception, Uncertainty, and Trust in News	79	39.5	

Table 1. Top ten most cit	ed studies
---------------------------	------------

Focusing on the whole database and all the collected works it can be said that in the case of articles where keywords were provided by authors, words were counted by an online word counting site (wordclouds.com). The three most common keywords are political, communication, and visual, which means that despite the diverse nature and focus of the studies on VPC, authors are using VPC as a distinctive areal marker that underlines the emerging nature of the field, just like Bucy and Joo (2021) suggested. As the frequency of other keywords shows in Table 2, social media platforms are important channels to investigate VPC, especially Instagram, Facebook, and Twitter, which trend supports the idea of a new era in VPC. Keywords related to periods show that the election campaign is also common. The widely applied method, the content analysis also stands out from the word cloud of the keywords. Considering the focus of the research on VPC, images, nonverbal and facial expressions, populism, gender, and emotions are the most frequently highlighted keywords. In general, keywords show a tentative picture of the main research interests of the field, however, since 28 percent of the studies provided no keywords, conclusions can only be drawn cautiously at this point.

Rank	Weight	Word	Rank Weight		Word
1	146	Political	26	15	Perception
2	121	Communication	20	14	Debates
3	105	Visual	28	14	Discourse
4	92	Media	29	13	Twitter
5	78	Social	30	12	Behaviour
6	53	Analysis	31	12	Culture
7	34	Election	32	12	European
8	28	Framing	33	12	Online
9	28	Nonverbal	34	12	Research
10	28	Politics	35	11	Campaigns
11	27	Campaign	36	11	Communication
12	27	Content	37	11	Cues
13	27	Instagram	38	11	Facial
14	26	Visual	39	11	personalization
15	25	Political	40	11	Trump
16	21	Images	41	10	Campaigning
17	20	Elections	42	10	Digital
18	19	Gender	43	10	Effects
19	18	Advertising	44	10	Movements
20	18	Image	45	10	Posters
21	18	Populism	46	10	Protest
22	17	News	47	10	Public
23	17	Presidential	48	10	Semiotics
24	17	Social	49	10	Stereotypes
25	16	Facebook	50	9	Conflict

Table 2. Top fifty frequently applied keywords

The scope of the investigated countries in VPC research shows that the majority of the studies focused on the United States (25%). As Figure 2 shows, from Europe, the

most frequently analyzed country is Germany (6%), and studies that focused generally on the EU (5%), and on the UK (4%) are also quite common. Generally speaking, it can be said that almost the whole European region is covered in the studies, however, there are significant differences considering the number of frequencies. While Spain, Austria, Sweden, Finland, and Romania are the focus of more than five studies, all the other European countries are studied to a lesser degree, especially the countries not visible in Figure 2, because they were examined less than 3 times. These are Netherland, Brazil, Denmark, France, Korea, Poland, Syria, Chile, Colombia, Cyprus, Hong Kong, Iran, Ireland, Jakarta, Japan, Jordan, Latvia, Mexico, New Zealand, Nigeria, North Korea, Norway, Peru, Portugal, Singapore, Switzerland, Thailand, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, and Venezuela. Data show that from the African region, South Africa is more studied than the other parts of the region, while from Asia, India and China are more commonly examined. Australia and Canada are still less in the focus of research, compared to the well-investigated European areas, especially compared to the US. Finally, it needs to be noted that 11 percent of the studies had no specific country focus due to their experimental or theoretical nature.



Figure 2. The frequency of the examined countries in VPC studies

Considering the type of visuals that were examined in the studies, in 293 cases still images were in the focus, and only 66 studies investigated moving images. In 80 works, both kinds of visuals were analyzed, while in 16 works, these options were not applicable because of their theoretical nature.

38 percent of the studies investigated visuals without a specific platform focus, for instance, due to their experimental nature (e.g. Dobber et al., 2020; Olivola et al., 2012), or being theoretical (e.g. Mendonça et al., 2020; Doerr et al., 2013) or methodological overview (e.g. Joo & Steinert-Threlkeld, 2018). However, 62 percent of the papers analyzed visuals on a specific media or platform type. As Figure 3 shows, television in itself is the most frequently (N=65) analyzed media type, which is followed by the visual communication-centered social media platform, Instagram, then Facebook. Twitter is almost as frequently examined as newspapers, while YouTube is ranked only on 8th place, and other social media platforms, such as WhatsApp or Snapchat are rarely examined. However, there are a few studies that focused their attention on social media in general, and all together, social media sites are twice frequently (N=130) analyzed as traditional media platforms, which trend supports the relevance of a literature review on the last decade of VPC. Finally, data shows that posters are analyzed as often as the uncategorizable platforms like t-shirts, or stamps, and cartoons and comics are still investigated.



Figure 3. The investigated media types and platforms in VPC studies

Built on the actor-centric approach of political communication (de Vresse, 2006), the most commonly examined actors were the politicians and parties (276 cases), followed by the citizens (133 cases), and the media (64 cases). In the remaining 70 cases, this category was not applicable, or the actors were not unifiable into bigger categories, such as abductors or terrorists.

Considering the research design of the studies, varied methods are applied to analyze VPC. Half of the studies (50%) applied quantitative methods, 38 percent used

qualitative methods, 7 percent combined these, and in the remainder, the differentiation was not applicable (e.g. in the case of books). Turning to the specific methods, in 6 percent of studies, the applied methods could not be categorized into unified blocks, or this aspect was not applicable. As Figure 4 shows the number of the applied methods, with 30 percent, the most frequently applied method is content analysis, followed by experimental methods (20%). Theoretical overviews and discourse analyses were both present in 4 percent of the works. Social semiotic or semiotic analyses were applied in 4 percent, and qualitative descriptions were also present in 4 percent. Visual framing analysis and multimodal analyses were both applied in 3 percent, while interviews in 2 percent of the studies. In the remaining 11 percent of the works, reviews, visual analyses, automated methods, historical overviews, computer-based techniques, image type analyses, visual rhetoric analyses, eye-tracking methods, and iconographic analyses were applied, individually each counted in less than 2 percent of all works. In 20 percent of the studies, the applied methods category was not applicable, or cannot be categorized.



Figure 4. The frequency of the applied methods to study VPC

As Figure 5 shows, campaigns are the most frequently analyzed periods (4%). Protests, general periods, and any other periods (such as wartime, conflict, crisis, pre- and post-election periods) are each present in less than 7 percent of the works. However, 35 percent of the studies had no special period focus, or this aspect was not applicable.



Figure 5 Frequency of the examined periods in VPC

1.2.2.2 Visual Political Communication Content

In the following, a schematic content review is presented on the empirical VPC studies, applying a full visual focus, based on the two most frequently investigated media platforms: social media and television. However, before this, a brief overview of the content of works that are not included in this scope—partly visual and non-empirical works—is provided.

Partly Visual-focused Works

Considering the content-related aspects of VPC studies, data show 414 papers with a full visual focus and 41 studies with a partial visual focus. Latter works are focused on other aspects of political communication and included visual materials in the analysis, however, the detailed examination of the visual elements is not part of these studies, rather their presence and effects on user engagement. The information value of these studies is still relevant to the area of VPC, as they described more general findings on visuals that can inspire deeper examinations. For instance, these findings show that social media platforms' affordances affect the mode of political communication on them: on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, photos are often used and edited to represent a more artistic VPC, however, videos are more frequently used on Facebook than on the other platforms (Bossetta, 2018). Still, photos are posted more often by political actors than videos (Magin et al., 2017). Further, Facebook posts that contain visuals are more popular among citizens (Koc-Michalska et al., 2021). Focusing on Republican and Democratic candidates' Instagram use, and newspaper articles during the 2016 US presidential primary, results indicate some intermedia agenda setting between Instagram and mainstream media (Towner & Muñoz, 2017). Studies with partial visual focus also reported on the connections between VPC and populism. For example, populist style elements include not only rhetorical but visual elements, such as nonverbal elements or

appearance (Ekstrom et al., 2018). Further, the comparison of visuals used by populist charismatic leaders can also signal differences in terms of ordinary and defiant styles (Kissas, 2019). Also, the frequency of visuals used by populist and non-populist parties shows significant differences: populists upload more visuals to Facebook than non-populists, and they can reach higher levels of user engagement in terms of shares, likes, and comments (Larsson, 2020). Accordingly, the findings of these studies underlined not only the various use of visuals by political actors but their popularity among citizens.

Theoretical Works

When considering the collected studies' methodological nature, 12 percent of the works applied a theoretical approach. These descriptions, reviews, and overviews provided useful information on several issues related to VPC. Articles provided insights and new theories on visual areas of politics that should be investigated, such as camerawitnessing through phones with cameras (e.g. Anden-Papadopoulos, 2014), iconic images that gained international political impact (e.g. Hansen, 2014), and the understudied role of visuals in social movements (e.g. Doerr et al., 2015). Connections between nonverbal communication and politics (e.g. Dumitrescu, 2016; Mendonca et al., 2022), technological aspects (e.g. Messaris, 2019), and different resources of VPC (e.g. Pauwels, 2019) were reviewed and overviewed. From a methodological point of view, studies offered descriptions of the application of frame processing theory to multimodal analysis (e.g. Geise and Baden, 2014), automated visual content analysis to study political science (e.g. Joo & Steinert-Threlkeld, 2018), and an overview of the applied methods to examine VPC (e.g. Gerodimos, 2019). Still, as Gerodimos (2019) also highlighted, from a methodological point of view, there is great need in VPC for widely applicable coding guides. Introductory works highlighted the presence of VPC on social media platforms (e.g. Russmann & Svensson, 2017), or connected the dots between the power of visuals and their application in political communication (e.g. Lilleker et al., 2019), aiming to urge more research on the topic of VPC.

Empirical Studies with Full Visual Focus

The main findings of the empirical studies with full visual focus will be presented based on the application of VPC on the most commonly examined platforms: social media (N=130), and television (N=65). Studies mentioned in each category have been selected based on their reference numbers, or special relevance.

Social media

On Instagram, visuals are often applied to personalize political communication. The analysis of Greek political leaders' Instagram posts showed that some politicians stick to presenting only their political self, however, Instagram VPC is often used to present a more personal and private side of the politicians (Poulakidakos & Giannouli, 2019). In the case of the leader of the Spanish party Vox, Santiago Abascal, Instagram posts also showed the presence of personalization (Sampietro and Sánchez-Castillo, 2020). Additionally, an investigation of Facebook posts of German parliament members showed that visual posts that include images are more personalized than only textual posts (Metz et al., 2019).

However, personalization can appear in different forms. Instagram was somewhat similarly used in the 2016 US election campaign as television was used in the '90s and early 2000s: depiction of the "ideal candidate" with family members, and patriotic symbols were common, but unlike in the case of Grabe and Bucy's (2009) earlier findings, the "populist campaigner" frame was not frequently applied (Muñoz & Towner, 2017). In the case of the Austrian leader, visual self-presentation was built around a biographical strategy, a team, and an incumbent strategy by depicting Alexander Van der Bellen in personal contexts, surrounded by young supporters, and popular soccer events (Liebhart & Bernhardt, 2017). In the Instagram posts of Justin Trudeau, personalization and celebritization techniques were combined to promote all kinds of policies from the issue of youth, to health or transport and infrastructure, e.g. by the depiction of Trudeau in front of metro cars (Lalancette & Raynauld, 2017). The emerging celebritization dimension of personalization through visuals on Instagram is strengthened by the examination of Swedish leading politicians' VPC as well (Ekman & Widholm, 2017).

Moreover, personalization seems to appear differently on the platforms. In Sweden, VPC on Instagram showed a strong presence of personalization's individualization dimension, but from an additional strategic approach, the platform was rather used as a "virtual billboard" for broadcasting purposes (Filimonov et al., 2016). On the contrary, mobilization through VPC on Instagram was Podemos' main strategy in the Spanish elections in 2015 and 2016, however, no other parties applied this strategy (Turnbull-Dugarte, 2019). These findings suggest that visual strategies are strongly shaped by contextual or cultural factors. Visual political self-presentation elements on social media can be connected to populism as well. The case of Jair Bolsonaro showed specific clothing, facial expressions, and depiction of specific situations to build both ordinariness and extraordinariness on Instagram (Mendonça & Caetano, 2020). Focusing on several social media platforms in the 2016 US election, research showed that VPC is a useful tool for populist actors to highlight their anti-elite characteristics on Instagram by the application of an amateur production style with amateur/anti-professional image production (Baldwin-Philippi, 2018). An examination of the Finnish national-populist Facebook images, Hokka and Nelimarkka (2019) found that images are appropriate tools for spreading essential negative populist emotions, such as fear, anger, and resentment without country or language barriers. Further, in a multiplatform (Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, Flickr, and parties' websites) VPC investigation, scholars described that with visuals, populist parties are able to differently depict their relations to 'the people'–populist parties can be parties for the people and parties of the people (Gimenez & Schwarz, 2016).

VPC research on social media investigated gender-related questions of visuals as well. A comparison of self- and media-presentation of female and male candidates during the 2019 European Election on social media and in the news showed that "female candidates are actually portrayed more often happy on SNS [social networking sites] than in the news, which echoes the interpretation of a visual communication strategy that is in line with the strategic stereotype theory" (Haim and Jungblut, 2020, p. 15). Examination of visual self-presentation of Dutch and American politicians on Instagram led to a result that visual depiction did not differ by gender, except in the case of clothing: female politicians appeared more often in casual clothing (Brands et al., 2021). In a study by Carlson and Håkansson (2022), visual party communication on Facebook in the 2019 EU election campaigns' national level showed that the depiction of smiling faces and casual clothing was more frequent among female than male politicians. It seems that positive facial expressions and casual clothing can be connected to the depiction of female candidates, which results suggest a gender-stereotypical VPC on social media.

Some research focused on the effect side of politicians' visual communication. Barack Obama's 2012 Facebook campaign showed that personalized visual Facebook posts could reach higher engagement with more likes, comments, and shares than posts without depicting him, (Gerodimos & Justinussen, 2014). Within visual Facebook posts, emotional self-personalization can generate even more reactions (Metz et al., 2019). Although there are only a few results available on the effects of different kinds of visual personalization, it seems that the individualization dimension is more popular among users (Lindholm et al., 2020). Further, results suggest that not only the content of visual social media posts but the attributions of the posts' publisher are also relevant factors in the effects on users. For instance, on Instagram, Brands and colleagues (2021) found on Instagram that "female politicians receive more likes when they are present in a picture in comparison to male politicians" (p. 2027), while Turnbull-Dugarte (2019) showed that new challenger parties could reach higher user engagement levels with their VPC than old parties.

Turning to the VPC of citizens, it seems that these actors' visual communication is commonly examined on Twitter, especially connected to protests, and social movements. It seems that visuals can be used as forms of political engagement. By spreading Occupy Wall Street memes, VPC contributed to a vibrant public discourse (Milner, 2013). An examination of Twitter images of 2011 Egyptian revolution showed that visual content with the depiction of symbols and iconic figures can create unification "as a strategy to build consensus for future planning and preventing conflict in the absence of government" (Kharroub & Bas, 2015, p. 16). Further, citizens' VPC can be used for varied strategies as well. Just like in the case of the Black Lives Matter movement and ShutdownA14 protest in the US, emotion-evoking photos showed mobilizing effects among citizens (Casas & Williams, 2018), while citizens' visuals depicting violence during the Blockupy Frankfurt protests' were the most commonly retweeted by the media and police (Neumayer & Rossi, 2018).

Television

VPC in television is often examined through politicians' nonverbal communication and its effects on citizens. Although an examination of the 2005 German national election televised debate showed a smaller effect of nonverbal than verbal communication on viewers, (Nagel et al., 2012), a study on the real-time Twitter-based effects of the 2012 US presidential televised debates indicates that "nonverbal behavior of candidates is consequential in driving social media responses, rivaling what candidates actually say during debates" (Shah et al., 2016, p. 1837). Turning to more specific results, it seems that certain nonverbal expressions can generate more reactions than others. As Bucy and colleagues (2020) found during the televised presidential debate of 2016, Donald Trump's nonverbal populist communication style with the expression of anger, defiance, and aggression generated more attention on Twitter than Hillary Clinton's controlled, diplomatic, and reassuring nonverbal communication. Results also indicate

that televised VPC, especially nonverbal expressions contribute to candidate evaluation by citizens. Based on the 2012 US presidential debates' facial expressions, Gong and Bucy (2016) found inappropriate displays (nonverbal elements incongruent with the communication settings) arouse viewers' attention, and generate negative emotion. Results of a comparison of Richard Nixon's and Barack Obama's nonverbal expressions during their first televised debates showed that nonverbal behavior affected their negative results, suggesting that the "Look of Losing" exists (Bucy, 2016). However, the effects of smiling candidates were measured in the German local televised debate, and results showed that muted depiction of smiling politicians had positive effects on the viewer (Sülflow & Maurer, 2019). It seems like nonverbal communication can both positively and negatively affect candidates' evaluations by citizens. However, the evaluation might be shaped by politicians' gender as well: in the case of woman candidates, anger displays are punished by the voters, while happiness displays are rewarded (Boussalis et al., 2021).

It seems that the examination of nonverbal communication through television can shed light on gender issues as well. A visual and verbal comparison of gender stereotypes used by candidates in the US campaign ads showed that visual feminine stereotypes (such as the depiction of family, children, and locations indicating caring) are more often used both by female and male candidates than masculine visual stereotypes (like a formal attire-business suit or the presence of military), however, "female candidates air ads with a higher degree of feminine visual- masculine verbal conflict" (Carpinella & Bauer, 2019, p. 13). Results of research on the nonverbal communication of leaders from Western countries also support the idea of gender-specific nonverbal communication (Grebelsky-Lichtman & Katz, 2020). Thus, there seems to be a gender-stereotyped VPC not only on social media but on television as well.

Similar to social media VPC research, a further research direction of televised VPC is focused on personalization. The findings of Holtz-Bacha and colleagues (2012) on TV party ads broadcasted during the 2009 European Election campaign in France, Germany, Sweden, and the UK indicated that even in party-oriented political systems, personalization is a general feature of elections in terms of the appearance of politicians in the visuals. Data from Denmark and Germany also strengthens this (Zeh & Hopmann, 2013). Thus, results suggest that visual personalization on television does not depend on different political systems, it seems to be a general characteristic.

Although populist VPC on television is less investigated than on social media, a study described televised debates' nonverbal communication as part of the populist visual

communication toolkit, arguing that both negative attitudes towards 'the elite' and references to the 'the people' are often expressed by specific appearance, eye contact, facial expressions, or gestures, such as pointing fingers, long handshake with eye contact or trespassing the rival's territory (Piontek & Tadeusz-Ciesielczyk, 2019). This suggests that televised VPC research could be broadened in the direction of populism.

Finally, unlike in the case of social media, where political actors and citizens can create and control their own messages, media workers can decide what, and how to present on issues, politicians, and citizens. Accordingly, issues of the gender-based differences are shaped not only by the politicians but by the media as well. Female and male politicians' emotionality are portrayed differently in the television: female politicians can be seen more often with positive emotional facial displays than male ones (Renner & Masch, 2019). However, television news contribute to other issues as well. For instance, Dan and colleagues (2020) found, refugees and asylum seekers in German television news are framed negatively, most commonly by the application of the invasion frame with the depiction of faceless masses of people or illegal activities for instance. Further, although nonverbal political communication on television is a tool for politicians to shape their evaluation, television can make production decisions how to frame candidates as well. As Stewart and colleagues (2020) showed, the electoral status of politicians determine camera angles, perspectives, and camera time used by television, which means that candidates are treated differently by media in terms of VPC. These results suggest that varied issues are depicted by television as a media actor through VPC.

1.2.2.3 Discussion of the findings

The presented findings offered a systematic and narrative review of the last decade of VPC. This overview was timely because of the emergence of social media platforms that significantly changed the context of VPC, even beyond these specific sites.

General trends showed that there is a slightly emerging interest in the field of VPC research, considering both the number of studies and the use of a distinctive areal marker of the field. The 10 most influential papers of the last ten years examined a wide range of topics, which indicates the diversity of VPC research. Focusing on the whole database and all of the studies, it seems that in the applied research methods, there is a shift towards quantitative methods, especially content analysis. Still, as Gerodimos (2019) also stated, studies rarely offer codebooks that could facilitate research on the field. Further, examination more often focuses on still images, than moving ones, while comparisons between visual and verbal messages are scarce. Geographically, the vast majority of the
works focus on the United States, and while some European countries are quite commonly investigated, there are significant discrepancies in this manner, and international comparisons are rare. Moreover, campaign periods are the most frequently examined periods, which might be explained by the increased communication during the campaigns. However, to better understand social media-based VPC, the examination of non-campaign periods and comparisons of different periods would also be necessary. The most frequently investigated media platforms are social media sites, followed by television, which fact demonstrates the importance of the new communication platforms, and served as a base of the structure of the narrative review.

As the narrative review suggests, on social media platforms, such as Instagram, Facebook, and Twitter, VPC is often used for personalized communication, populist, and gender-stereotypical communication by political actors. Findings showed that social media-based visual personalization is connected to different self-presentation strategies, including the depiction of celebritization techniques or patriotic symbols. Although it seems that cultural and contextual differences shape VPC on social media, there might be other, non-investigated external factors that influence VPC, for instance the different affordances of the platforms. Moreover, the effects of social media-based VPC on citizens also remained a less studied field. Further, the depiction of certain clothing, facial expressions, situations, or emotional characteristic of populism, and the application of an amateur production style can all contribute to a populist VPC. It seems that populist actors can benefit from social media-based VPC, however, it is not clear whether populist actors apply a specific populist visual communication style that differs from their non-populist counterparts' communication. Findings on televised personalization are in line with social media-based VPC, as personalization appears on television also as a general characteristic of politicians' visual strategy.

Nonetheless, findings on VPC indicate gender-stereotypical use of visuals on social media with the depiction of mainly positive facial expressions and casual clothing of female politicians. In the case of televised VPC, television appears as a media actor that creates messages. By doing so, television-controlled VPC also covers the issues of gender-based differences, and other topics as well, such as refugees, and candidate framing by certain camera settings, compositions, and camera time. However, politicians' nonverbal communication is investigated as a means of influencing factors, independent of television. Findings suggest that nonverbal communication triggers social media responses and shapes candidate evaluation both positively and negatively, which depends

on several factors. For instance, as gender-stereotyped VPC appears not only on social media but on television as well, accordingly, the gender of the candidate shapes candidate evaluation.

It seems that similar topics appear in the television literature as in social media VPC literature, which shows both the convergence of these channels and the strong link of the VPC field to issues that are key concepts in contemporary political and communication science. Consequently, functions of visuals in political communication listed by Schill (2012) remained still relevant, however, research in the last ten years of VPC got closer to political communication trends. Comparing the results of Schill (2012) to the present examination's findings, the most remarkable difference is related to the role of television. As Schill (2012) argued, "despite the rising popularity of online news, television is by far the most important communication channel" (p. 119). Although television remained an important source of news, social media platforms provided a new impetus to VPC. Accordingly, scholars turned their attention to these new opportunities. Future research directions suggested by Schill (2012) put emphasis on the construction of visual symbols, their rhetorical operation and reception by viewers, and their normative implications in politics. Although these aspects were more or less analyzed in the past decade, the focus of VPC research turned out to be different on the new communication platforms: how visuals contribute to and construct political messages from the perspective of a less controlled media environment and a networked media logic. Thus, the rise of social media has brought changes to VPC, which started to be reflected in the literature, as the chapter demonstrated.

It is worth noting that Schill's (2012) main argument to study visuals in political communication seems to be heard by researchers, the number of studies on the field started to grow, and VPC became an emerging research area. However, as Bucy and Joo (2021) also argue, there is still a long way to go. Hence, the thesis put emphasis on the research gaps of VPC as described in the following sub-chapters.

1.3 The research focus of the thesis

The thesis focuses on image-based political communication on social media. At the beginning of the doctoral research program, the investigation had an open research interest and aimed to provide a better understanding of how visuals are used by political actors. Later on, it has become clear that two major, current political trends are inseparable from visual political communication on social media: personalization and populism. Hence, these two concepts are the focus of the research. As the literature review demonstrated, there are several research gaps in the field of VPC. First, visuals in political communication are often investigated without a systematic approach, considering both visual and political communication foundations. Second, there is still a great need to provide more information on the research methods that can be applied flexibly to study visuals in political communication to facilitate scholars to include images in their investigations. Third, although the connections between personalization and VPC started to be examined, comparisons between different social media platforms are still rare. Fourth, research on populist visual communication on social media shows fragmented results. There is a lack of knowledge on whether a specific populist VPC exists, and findings are not connected to the theoretically grounded conceptualizations of populism. Finally, international comparisons, visual and verbal comparisons, and comparisons between different time periods are also limited.

Further, the increased role of social media both in verbal and visual political communication is clear. It is also known that social media is widely used as a source of information and news (Newman et al., 2022). The literature review demonstrated that political actors are building on this widespread use of social media by the voters, and use the platforms as part of their strategic toolkit. Hence, the articles of the thesis focus on the strategic use of visual political communication on social media. However, each article has a different actor focus: the first article investigates Hungarian candidates who are present both on Facebook and Instagram; the second article focuses on political parties from all EU countries on Facebook; while the third article examined the Hungarian Prime Minister's social media-based VPC on Facebook. With this wide actor focus, the thesis provides comparisons not only between different social media platforms but spatial and temporal comparisons as well.

1.3.1 Research Questions

Although all three articles of the thesis formulated specific research questions, based on the research gaps identified through the literature review, three overarching questions are drawn up as general interests of this article-based dissertation:

RQ1: What kinds of social media-based visual political communication strategies can be identified in the case of different political actors, such as:

RQ1a: In the case of politicians?

RQ1b: In the case of parties?

RQ1c: In the case of Viktor Orbán, the Prime Minister of Hungary, who is an exemplar case of populist leaders?

RQ2: Is visual communication strategy conditioned by external factors, such as:

RQ2a: Are there differences across social media platforms?

RQ2b: Are there differences between populist and non-populist actors?

RQ2c: Are there differences across different time periods?

RQ2d: Are there differences between social media-based visual and verbal political communication?

RQ3: What are the effects of visual political communication on social media in terms of user engagement?

2. Methodological overview

Research on visual materials might be challenging, as methods applied to textual materials cannot always be translated into visual data due to the complex nature of visual messages. Applying Gillian Rose's (2001) theoretical framework, this chapter gives an overview of visual methodologies and summarizes the main research techniques, how visuals can and should be investigated, depending on the aim of the analysis. This description is followed by the demonstration of the applied methods of the thesis.

2.1 Visual methodologies⁴

Not only in political communication but in general, a critical understanding of images is based on the three different sites "at which the meanings of an image are made: the site(s) of the production of an image, the site of the image itself, and the site(s) where it is seen by various audiences" (Rose, 2001, p. 16). All three sites have different modalities, i.e. aspects of how they can be understood: the technological, the compositional, and the social modalities. Practically this means that when deciding on the methods of how to investigate visuals, all the three modalities of each site have to be considered. Accordingly, the site of 1) the production refers to the way how the visuals are made technically, the genre in which its compositional features fit, and the social, economic, political circumstances in which the image was produced. The site of 2) the image itself concerns the formal components, what is depicted in the image, and how. The site of 3) the audiences is about how an image is seen by its spectators, how it affects the compositional structure, in what kind of contexts, and on which platforms.

⁴ Based on Gillian Rose's (2001) book with the same title.

"Theoretical debates about how to interpret images can be understood as debates over which of these sites and modalities is most important for understanding an image. These debates affect the methodology that is most appropriately brought to bear on particular images" (Rose, 2001, p. 32).

Turning to the methods, first, the "good eye" technique or the compositional interpretation relates mainly to the site of the image itself and its compositional modality, while social aspects of the images are not investigated here. The technique's biggest disadvantage is the lack of an explicit methodology or theory. However, it offers a detailed vocabulary to describe what is depicted in an image. This detailed vocabulary is concerned with the colors of the image, and especially the hue, the saturation, the value, the harmonious combination of the colors, or the combination of hues, values, and saturation. Further, the "good eye" technique investigates the spatial organization also, how the volumes are arranged and what are the effects of these. So to say, the spatial organization is concerned with the perspectives, the way in which the picture offers a particular position to its viewers, and the "specific relation between image and spectator" (Rose, 2001, p. 45).

Second, the method of *discourse analysis* is built on Foucault's work. Rose (2001) argues that "discourses are articulated through all sorts visual and verbal images and texts, specialized or not, and also through the practices that those languages permit" (p. 136), visuality can be considered as a sort of discourse. Hence, discourse analysis can be applied to visual materials as well. By doing so, intertextuality and discursive formation have to be considered as key aspects of the investigation. In the case of images, intertextuality refers to the fact that meanings carried out by images that surround the investigated one, need to be considered as well, while the latter notion discursive formation refers to "the way meanings are connected together in a particular discourse" (p. 137). Accordingly, by applying this method, visual meanings and messages are identified through the analysis of images and their rhetorical organization but the investigation does not deal with hidden, not explicitly stated meanings. The first type of visual discourse analysis pays attention to the image itself, the social modality of the image site, and the social production and effects of discourses. However, social practices are not dealt with. The second type of visual discourse analysis focuses on the social institutional technologies, while does not pay attention to the image itself.

Another method that can be applied to investigate visuals is *semiology* or *semiotics*. As Rose (2001) describes it, semiology "offers a very full box of analytical

tools for taking an image apart and tracing how it works in relation to broader systems of meaning" (p. 69). This toolbox is based on the notion of sign, which is the smallest unit of meaning that consists of the signified and signifier. When looking for meanings, it is important that "there is no necessary relationship between a particular signifier and its signified" (Rose, 2001, p. 74), which allows research on the connections of signifiers, signified, and signs. It is clear that images are studied in semiology focused on the image itself, however, audiences are not analyzed here. Nonetheless, the *social semiotic* (van Leeuwen, 2004) approach that grew out from the same basics, keeps its focus on the image itself but broadened the investigation into the social and cultural aspects of the signs (Hodge, 2014). Social semiotics investigates the details of the images –such as the frames, metaphors, dis-courses, genre, style, modality, and composition– that create the meanings, but with special attention on the cultural and social landscape, the context where these signs exist. Hence, this approach allows research that focuses on the production and the image itself with a strong emphasis on the social and compositional modalities.

Finally, one of the most widely applied empirical methods in communication research is content analysis (Müller, 2007). Its main advantage lies in its rigorous rules, reliability, and objectivity, or as Rose (2001) puts it, in its explicit methodology. Content analysis that was originally applied to texts, "is a research technique for making replicable and valid inferences from data to their context" (Krippendorff, 1980, p. 21). Nevertheless, its rules can be applied to visuals as well, and while doing so, a large amount of data can be examined. Content analysis is "counting the frequency of certain visual elements in a clearly defined sample of images, and then analysing those frequencies" (Rose, 2001, p. 56). For that, a well-defined unit of the analysis, and a representative sample are essential. As a next step, an exhaustive and exclusive coding book is also inevitable, where all the investigated attributes are listed, and these attributes are mutually exclusive, i.e. one unit cannot be categorized into multiple groups. To ensure that categories are well-defined and the coding book is replicable, coder reliability tests should be run, which means that "different researchers at different times using the same categories would code the images in exactly the same way" (Rose, 2001, p. 62). After the application of the coding book on the sample of images, the frequencies are counted and analyzed according to the research questions. Although it is clear that content analysis is a critical visual methodology, it needs to be noted that the method's focus remains on "the compositional modality of the site of the image itself. It therefore has very little to say about the production or the audiencing of images" (Rose, 2001, p. 56). However, content analysis on social media can be complemented with a focus on users' perspectives through the analysis of user engagement.

Further, Rose (2001) lists other visual methods, such as visual analysis in psychoanalysis, and mixed methods, and methods that focus specifically on the audience, such as interviews, ethnographic methods, and experiments. In the following subchapter, the most popular, and commonly applied methods and their application in the practice will be introduced.

2.2 Visual methods in practice

The literature review on the last ten years of visual political communication studies showed that the most frequently applied research method on visual materials is qualitative (e.g. O'Connell, 2018; Farris & Silber Mohamed, 2018) and/or quantitative (e.g. Russmann & Svensson, 2017; Meeks, 2019; Famulari, 2020) content analysis. Besides manual coding (e.g. Kharroub & Bas, 2015; Adi et al., 2018), the advantages of computational science have started to be used on this field as well, by the application of computer-based content analysis (e.g. Joo & Steinert-Threlkeld, 2018; Haim & Jungblut, 2020). Computer-based methods, such as machine learning methods (e.g. Garimella & Eckles, 2020), automatic facial expression analysis (e.g. Horiuchi et al., 2012; Joo et al., 2019), computer vision analysis (e.g. Peng, 2020), and data mining (e.g. O'Halloran et al., 2016) have become popular among VPC researchers. Interpretive methods, such as discourse analysis (e.g. Dumitrescu, 2017), semiotic and social semiotic analysis (e.g. Rovisco, 2017), multimodal analysis (e.g. Doerr, 2017), and visual framing (e.g. Bleiker et al., 2013) are also often applied in the study of VPC. Additionally, experiments are also conducted to investigate visuals in political communication, in the form of field (e.g. Matland & Murray, 2015), laboratory (e.g. Milazzo & Mattes, 2016), and survey experiments (e.g. Schmuck & Matthes, 2017; Powell et al., 2019).

Research on visuals on social media has further challenges (Quan-Haase & Sloan, 2017). As Rasmussen Pennington (2017) puts it, "visual data is perhaps more complex to decipher than printed text, but both are necessary and one informs the other" (p. 233). Messages in social media posts can be created through images (photos, videos, or gifs), tags (other users mentioned in a post), captions (description attached to images), post texts (the textual post), and links (an URL of a website). These components in a post can be grasped by the notion of intertextuality: the meanings of an image are created through

its visual elements but also through other images and texts that surround the given image (Hand, 2017). Further, user engagement forms –such as the viewers' comments (people's responses to a post), reactions (different "like" buttons), and shares (users broadcasting a post)– should also be considered when studying social media data.

Visuality in social media can be conceptualized by three main elements: images, circulation, and social practices (Hand, 2017). The focus of the research can be challenging due to the complex relationship between the peculiarities of platforms, the many types of images, the additional textual meanings, and the social practices. The existing methodologies for studying social media from visual perspectives can be challenging since social media platforms like Facebook and Instagram alter the methods of interpretation.

2.3 Applied methods in the thesis

As the thesis works with a large amount of visual data on social media and aims to provide reliable, replicable, and objective results, all three articles of the dissertation apply content analysis. The main features of the three content analyses are discussed in the section below, however, more details of the datasets are introduced in the articles. Further, as Gerodimos (2019) argues, there is a lack of studies that ensure systematic, portable, and adaptable analysis of visual data. Hence, each codebooks developed for the articles accompanies this thesis.

Article 1: Inductive and deductive visual qualitative content analysis

The first article relies on a combination of inductive and deductive qualitative content analysis. Inductive content analysis is a useful method in the case of is a literature gap (Elo and Kyngäs, 2008). Accordingly, the inductive part was created to study visual personalization both on Facebook and Instagram, as there was no previous systematic visual content analysis that could capture the essence of personalization through different social media platforms. For that, categories were created with open coding of a sample of the image-posts, then after the creation of an exhaustive coding scheme, it was applied deductively on the whole dataset of the research. Categories focused on the visual nature of the pictures, their content, feature, and sentiment, the depicted people, the depiction of the candidate, and the cultural and political references.

The dataset included all Facebook posts (N=2,925) and Instagram posts (N=858) containing pictures of those Hungarian candidates who owned both Facebook and

Instagram accounts at the time of the 2018 election (N=51). Coder reliability was ensured in the coding process: each post was coded by three undergraduates, and only those codes were accepted, which were recorded at least by two coders.

Articles 2 and 3: Quantitative visual content analysis

Both the second and third articles apply quantitative visual content analysis. However, the categories were devised differently. As the second article aims to compare populist and non-populist visual communication on social media, categories had to be able to capture general and populist communication as well. Accordingly, the coding instrument contained categories related to the visual types of the pictures, the applied visual tools, the context and content of the posts, the depicted actors, and the number of the people, also the depicted symbols, objects, connections, and clothing. The third article's focus is on the visual and verbal elements of populism. For that, Moffitt's (2016) theoretical work on the populist style has been translated into a coding scheme that can capture the bimodal populist communication. A group of categories was aimed to measure general visual features, while three groups of categories were derived from Moffitt (2016) to code 1) populist appeals to 'the people' versus 'the elite', 2) bad manners, and 3) crisis, breakdown, and threat communication.

The dataset of the second article contained a random sample of all EU parties' image-based Facebook posts from the last 28 days of the 2019 EP campaign (N=997). Coding was carried out by two coders. The inter-coder reliability showed acceptable Krippendorff alpha values for each category (>.69).

The third article was based on a dataset of all image-based Facebook posts of Viktor Orbán (N = 492) over a three-year period (2018-2020). Photos and their verbal post texts were coded by two coders, and the inter-coder reliability showed acceptable Krippendorff alpha values for each category (>.80).

3. Individual publications and findings

This chapter summarizes the aims and major findings of the three articles that together form the basis of this article-based dissertation. The full articles can be found in the appendix.

3.1 Article 1: Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media

The first article aimed to describe the visual political communication strategies of Hungarian politicians on Facebook and Instagram during the 2018 parliamentary election campaign, and their success in triggering user engagement. One of our main arguments was built on the fact that visuals in political communication were treated as illustrations to verbal and textual communication for long, and not as interests of their own. Hence, our article put the focus on the images and visual strategies. Our first Research Question was related to the visual political communication strategies.

(RQ1): What kinds of visual communication strategies are applied by political actors on social media platforms?

Built on the results of verbal political communication studies on social media– we had a special focus on personalization, the process in which "individual political actors have become more prominent at the expense of parties and collective identities" (Karvonen 2010, p. 4). We hypothesized that visual communication on social media is predominantly used by politicians to personalize their appearance (H1).

We differentiated two types of personalization: individualization and privatization. Individualization refers to the process in which the politicians are at the forefront of politics instead of parties, while privatization means that politicians' private and personal features are highlighted instead of their professional ones (Van Aelst et al., 2012). In our approach, individualization was treated as the depiction of formal political work, while privatization showed informal characteristics. We expected that both types of personalization are applied in social media-based visual political communication: e.g. settled images and the candidates' official clothes can be understood as rather formal elements, while spontaneous images and casual clothes are signs of informality. However, it is worth noting that the aim of the coding was not to identify individualized or privatized images per se but to describe the extent of the use of formal and informal visual elements.

Further, as the literature was limited to single platform studies, we put a special focus on the comparison of two social media platforms, Facebook and Instagram. Accordingly, the first Research Question was specified in two sub-questions related to our comparative approach in terms of the platforms.

(RQ1a) What features can be considered general characteristics of social media visual communication?

(RQ1b) What are the platform-specific strategies?

Based on the findings of single platform studies, we assumed that Instagram is rather a place for informal visuals and privatization (H2) by the depiction of family members and personal moments, while on Facebook, images are used to depict more formal and individualized visual elements (H3)⁵, such as images depicting politicians in their office.

As we were interested not only in the visual communication strategies applied by candidates on the two social media platforms but in their success as well, our research focus was widened to the effects of their visual posts in terms of user engagement–reactions, comments, and shares. The second Research Question and two sub-questions were formulated accordingly:

(RQ2) What kind of images perform well on social media platforms?

(RQ2a) What types of visual tools trigger "likes" as the most widely used and comparable reaction form?

(RQ2b) What cross-platform similarities and differences can we identify in the liking response to politicians' visual communication?

Hence, the number of reactions, comments, and shares of the posts was also measured on Facebook and Instagram. As previous works (Bene, 2017; Heiss et al. 2019) demonstrated a stronger like-provoking potential of personalized posts than those without personal elements, we assumed that images with personalized aspects –either formal or informal– are more liked both on Facebook and Instagram (H4). However, we also expected differences between the two platforms: we also assumed that formal, individualized visuals are more liked on Facebook (H5), while informal, privatized image posts are preferred by Instagram users (H6).

To answer the research questions, inductive and deductive qualitative content analysis was applied on the still image-based Facebook (N = 2925) and Instagram posts (N = 858) of Hungarian politicians, who were active on both platforms in the period of the 2018 Hungarian parliamentary election campaign (N = 51).

Findings supported our first hypothesis, as visual political communication is highly personalized both on Facebook and Instagram. However, data showed that Instagram image posts are more personalized (95 percent of the image posts) than Facebook images (66 percent), in terms of depiction of the candidates and/or being self-

⁵ In the published article, the third hypothesis was incorrectly described as "on Instagram images should be used to display more informal aspects of candidates' life, relevant to the individualization dimension of personalization (H3)" (Farkas & Bene, 2021, p. 125). The dissertation demonstrates the corrected version of the hypothesis.

made, original images by the candidates themselves. Images that are posted on both platforms are exceptionally personalized, which tells us that although Facebook images are not always personalized (44 percent), only the personalized pictures are posted on Instagram as well.

Further, results supported our second and third hypotheses also, as formal elements are more often depicted on Facebook than on Instagram, while informal visual features are more common on Instagram. However, this does not mean exclusivity. Formal visual elements are present on both platforms but on Instagram, informal images are also common. Hence, it can be said that individualization is present both on Facebook and Instagram, while privatization is rather an Instagram communication feature.

To reflect on intertextuality, the additional meanings of post texts and captions were also investigated. Results suggested, that although texts are frequently added to images on both platforms, these kinds of messages had no additional meanings on Instagram, and only half of the Facebook post texts contained other information than messages carried out by the images.

User engagement patterns of visual posts were examined by multilevel negative binomial regression models. Results of the analysis supported our fourth hypothesis, as personalized images had more likes on both platforms than pictures without personalized features. Further, the fifth hypothesis is also confirmed by the data: formal, individualized visual elements are more likely to be liked on Facebook, and less popular on Instagram. Nonetheless, although informal, privatized images are popular on Instagram, they are not more favored on Instagram than on Facebook. Consequently, our sixths hypothesis was rejected.

Nevertheless, our investigation contributed to the emerging area of visual political communication research by 1) focusing on visuals in political communication as objects of interest on their own; 2) creating a coding scheme that can be applied to study visual political communication strategies; 3) moving beyond the commonly applied single-platform approach; 4) examining engagement patterns of different visual tools.

3.2 Article 2: Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries

Article 2 had a special focus on visual populist communication. Unlike in the case of Article 1, where Hungarian politicians' VPC was investigated, this article examined the visual communication of 28 EU countries' parties. This allowed us an international comparison between populist and non-populist communication on Facebook, which is the most commonly used social media platform in Europe (Newman et al., 2020). The investigation time frame stretched through the last 28 days of the 2019 EP campaign.

In this article, we contributed to the increased attention on visual political communication research: as the emerging number of studies on visual populist communication are based on single country analyses, we aimed to broaden our knowledge on the field through an international focus and more generalizable results.

From the various definitions of populism (see Mudde, 2004; Weyland, 2001; Hawkins, 2009) we applied a mixed approach. As we focused on the differences and similarities of populist and non-populist communication, Mudde's (2004) actor-centric approach was useful to focus on the question of *who* and identify populist and non-populist parties. However, as we were interested in the question of *what* as well, our hypotheses were formulated on the basis of the populist communication style approach (de Vreese et al., 2018). Nonetheless, besides the content elements, the question of *how* was also raised, and as visuals in populist communication can only be understood from the perspective of Moffitt's (2016) style approach, this was applied to describe symbolically mediated performance elements.

Although social media-based visual communication seemed naturally fit to populist communication (Kriesi, 2014), it was not investigated so far whether a distinct populist visual communication style exists. Hence, our Research Question was formulated as follows:

(RQ1) What are the differences and similarities between populist and non-populist actors' image-based visual communication on Facebook during the 2019 European Parliament election campaign?

Based on the concepts of populism and previous works' results, hypotheses were formulated to describe our expectations related to populist visual communication. Application of the codebook and the quantitative visual content analysis showed mixed results related to our hypotheses.

We assumed that photos without superimposed texts (text applied on the image) are less used (H1a), while photos with text are more common (H1b) in populist visual communication, as superimposed texts can specify the complex visual messages with simplification. Although this can be considered one of populism's main features, both hypotheses were rejected by the data. Populists are less likely to use photos with text than non-populists, while the use of photos without text showed no significant difference.

The second hypothesis was also rejected by the data. Based on populism's tendency to arouse negative emotions towards 'the elite' or 'the others' (Moffitt, 2016), we also assumed that compared to non-populist parties, populists upload more images with negative contexts (H2). However, images are mainly positive both in populist and populist communication.

Further hypotheses were formulated related to the depicted content of the images. Based on populism's ordinariness focus, and its anti-elitist claim that is in contrast to the traditional elite-like appearance, three hypotheses were formulated. We assumed that personalized, privatized images are more common in populist visual communication (H3a), while policy issues (H3b) and traditional political work (H3c) are more frequently depicted by non-populists. Built on populist anti-elitism, crisis, and threatcommunication, it was also hypothesized that critical visual contents (unfavorable depiction of political opponents) are more frequently applied by populists than nonpopulists (H3d). Although H3a was rejected, as in the visual communication of parties, personal images are marginal both in populist and non-populist communication, H3b is confirmed by the data with more policy images in the case of non-populists than populists. H3c and H3d are rejected, as both traditional political work and unfavorable depictions of political opponents are rarely present in both cases.

Considering populism's leader-centric nature, we assumed that populist parties more frequently depict their own leaders (H4a), and this hypothesis was confirmed by the data. Further, based on anti-elitism and the creation of crisis and enemies, it was hypothesized that populists depict other parties' leaders (H4b), as well as other countries' leaders (H4c) more often than non-populists. Although H4b was rejected, as other party's leaders and politicians are rarely depicted in both cases, other country's leaders are significantly more often depicted by populists than non-populists, which confirms H4c. Nonetheless, as populism is about 'the people', we expected that populist images depict random people more frequnetly than non-populists (H4d), which was confirmed by the data. As part of the populist crisis and threat communication, armed forces were assumed to be present more often in populist images than in non-populist ones (H4e). We also expected that populist parties depict more people in their pictures than non-populists (H4f), as it can be a sign of people-centrism. However, both H4e and H4f were rejected by the data.

As signs of ordinariness, casual clothes (H5), politicians' interaction with crowds (H6a), or random people (H6b) were expected to be more often depicted in populist

images. The depiction of approving audiences was also assumed to be a populist visual element (H6c). As casual clothes were exceptional in both cases, H5 was rejected, however, politicians' interaction with crowds was more commonly depicted by populists, which confirmed H6a. Nonetheless, H6b and H6c were rejected by the data, as there is no significant difference between the populist and non-populists depiction of interaction with random people, or approving audiences.

Finally, hypotheses related to political symbols and election-related objects were also formulated. It was expected that political symbols, such as EU, country, and party symbols are more often depicted by populists (H7a) in order to trigger positive or negative reactions towards the in- and the outgroups. Data showed that although national symbols were more often depicted by populists than non-populists, there was no significant difference in the presence of EU and party symbols, rejecting H7a. Popular cultural symbols were also assumed to be used more often by populist parties (H7b) to express ordinariness, however, this was also rejected by our data. Media symbols, such as microphones and cameras were expected to be less frequently shown by populists (H8a) based on their negative communication about mass media. In lack of significant differences in populist and non-populist visual communication, this was also rejected by the data. However, election-related objects, such as ballots or ballot boxes were assumed to appear more often in populist images (H8b) as signs of their mobilization focus, and this was supported by our data.

To sum up, Article 2 showed little differences in populist and non-populist visual party communication on Facebook during the 2019 EP campaign. Although research on verbal and textual communication suggests a distinctive populist communication, the analysis of party visuals resulted in only a few remarkable populist features. Its leader-centric nature, ordinariness, and the important role of national symbols can be grasped in the visuals. However, our study suggests that based on populist party visual communication on social media, populists are very similar to their non-populist counterparts. Hence, Article 2 underlined that focusing on visuals of politics can contribute to a more nuanced knowledge on political communication.

3.3 Article 3: The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook

Just like Article 2, Article 3 also focused on populist visual communication. However, as Article 2 showed only a few differences in populist and non-populist visual communication in the case of parties, in this article, we turned our attention from parties to an exemplar case of populist leaders, Viktor Orbán, the Prime Minister of Hungary. Further, built on the results of Article 2 that contradicted the previous verbal results on populist communication, in Article 3, we created a bimodal coding scheme, which allowed us to focus both on the visual and verbal aspects of social media-based political communication. For that, Moffitt's (2016) populist communication style theory was translated into a measurement system with the use of a few categories from Article 2's coding system. This approach considers populism as a "symbolically mediated performance" (Moffitt, 2016, p. 46) that contains not only verbal but visual elements as well, thus we could compare these two modalities. Further, as both Article 1 and Article 2 focused on campaign periods, in Article 3, we broadened our investigation's period into different periods as well: from 2018 to 2020, besides election periods, we examined the whole first and the half of the second wave of COVID-19, and periods of slow news that is called cucumber time in the news industry.

Research on the visual aspects of populism has already shown a variety of visual populist characteristics, however, they could offer only fragmented results. Nonetheless, Moffitt's (2016) political communication style approach allows a more complex and amalgamated investigation by connecting the now dispersed findings into an integrated framework of a theoretically grounded approach.

As Moffitt (2016) describes it, the populist communication style is built on three main elements: 1) appeal to 'the people' versus 'the elite'; 2) bad manners; 3) crisis, breakdown, and threat communication. These dimensions have further sub-dimensions, such as people-centrism, closeness to 'the people', distance to 'the elite', the distinctive role of the leader, the leader's ordinariness and extraordinariness, the use of slang, coarse words, politically incorrectness, the creation of crisis and enemies, and oversimplification of complex issues. After translating these into visual and verbal categories, we applied the coding instrument on the posts of Viktor Orbán to answer the following research questions:

RQ1: Which dimension of Moffitt's (2016) populist style was applied most prominently in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts?

RQ2: Are there differences between the image and textual messages of Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts?

RQ3: Were there differences in Viktor Orbán's Facebook communication across the campaign period, the COVID-19 crisis period, and the non-campaign period?

Results of the bimodal quantitative content analysis suggested that the Prime Minister is often presented in the pictures, which is not only in line with populism's leader-centric nature but the findings of Article 1 about the increased personalization of social media-based visual communication as well. However, verbal self-references were rare. Further, although the people-centric characteristics of populism would suggest the common presence of 'the people', results showed an only moderate visual depiction of and verbal reference to them. Nonetheless, 'the elite' was the second most commonly presented actor in the posts. Surprisingly, the valence of the posts where 'the elite' are present, was not predominantly negative, as populism's anti-elite feature would suggest. On the contrary, these posts were more frequently positive. Another striking finding is that the supposed enemies of Viktor Orbán, such as the migrants, George Soros, or Ferenc Gyurcsány were not present in the image posts of the Prime Minister.

Considering the first Research Question, it can be said that Moffitt's (2016) dimensions, in general, were applied differently: the appeals to 'the people' versus 'the elite' categories were applied often, the creation of crisis, breakdown, and threat was applied moderately, while the bad manners categories were hardly applied. The details of the dimensions show that closeness and ordinariness categories are often present through performative rituals, expressions, national symbols, and the informal clothing of the leader. Extraordinariness is mainly presented by the depiction of media interest around the leader and his accomplishments. Elites are presented not only by elite actors but through the depiction of a setting that signifies wealth.

To answer the second Research Question it can be said that closeness categories are presented rather verbally, while ordinariness and the elites are depicted more frequently visually. As national symbols and casual clothing of the leader are the main conveyors of ordinariness, it is not surprising that this dimension is predominantly visually presented. Extraordinariness is also more presented visually than verbally, while bad manners and threats appeared similarly verbally and visually.

Results showed only slight differences across the time periods. Closeness categories are more common during the campaign period than in the other periods, while threat categories are applied more frequently during the COVID-19 period than during the campaigns or the cucumber times. There are no remarkable differences during the periods in the application of ordinariness categories, but they are more common during the period of COVID-19 than during the cucumber period.

Hence, as a conclusion of Article 3's findings, it can be noted that the Hungarian Prime Minister's social media-based populist style can be only partially grasped by the application of Moffitt's (2016) approach. Viktor Orbán's communication on Facebook is mainly built on the appeal to 'the people' versus 'the elite' dimension, however, the presentation of the elites is far from negative. Orbán's communication does not truly differ across the time periods, it stays predominantly consistent across the campaign, crisis, and cucumber periods. Nevertheless, it is worth highlighting that some populist communication style elements were identified more commonly visually than verbally, which fact underlines the importance and necessity of visual political communication research.

4. Conclusions and future directions

Although visuals are important part of political communication, research on the field of visual politics just gained momentum only in the past decade. The dissertation aimed to contribute to this emerging research area, where a number of research questions are still unanswered. The thesis' general research questions are related to 1) the social media-based visual political communication strategies of different political actors, 2) the influence of external factors –such as the different social media platforms, time periods, modalities, or the identification as populist or non-populist– on visual political communication. To this end, the thesis provides three related studies.

The three articles of the dissertation contribute to a better understanding of visual political communication on social media at least in three general ways: highlighted and compared visual personalization strategies and their effects on different social media platforms, described the similarities and differences of populist visual communication of parties, and tested the populist style of an exemplar populist leader across different periods and modalities.

The first article discussed visual personalization strategies and effects on two different social media platforms: Facebook and Instagram. Our results showed that personalization is an important visual political communication strategy on both platforms. However, on Facebook, its more formal dimension, individualization is present, while Instagram visual communication is characterized by its more informal dimension, privatization. Further, user engagement indicators showed that personalized visual contents are more liked on both platforms than images without personalization. Nonetheless, on Facebook, individualized visuals are more likely to be liked than on Instagram, but privatized images are not more liked on Instagram than on Facebook.

The second article's results showed that there is no strikingly distinct populist visual communication in parties' Facebook communication. However, there are some features that might signal visual populism: the remarkably frequent depiction of the leaders, national symbols, and ordinariness in terms of the presence of 'the people'.

The third article's findings suggested that Moffitt's (2016) populist style approach is only partially able to describe Viktor Orbán's populist style. The Hungarian Prime Minister's Facebook posts mainly applied the appeals to 'the people' versus 'the elite' dimensions of populism, crisis and threat communication was somewhat relevant, while bad manners categories are not common. Further, the article showed only minor differences across the different periods, which result indicates the consistent communication of Viktor Orbán. However, we could describe that some populist features are predominantly depicted only by visuals, which underlines the need to examine visuals in political communication.

Although all three studies had a different research focus in terms of research questions, in general, some differences and similarities in the visual communication of the three examined actor types –a populist leader, Viktor Orbán, European parties, and Hungarian candidates– can be highlighted. One of the main similarities is personalization: all three actors often use images to depict individual politicians and leaders. A further similarity between the European populist parties and Viktor Orbán is the remarkably frequent depiction of national symbols, and ordinariness, however, not in the case of the presence of 'the people'. Also, positive valence was common in all three cases. Considering the differences, 'the people' are often depicted in the case of European populist parties, which is not true for Orbán, whose images depicted less often 'the people' than 'the elite'. Further, European parties do not depict leaders or candidates in casual clothes, while Viktor Orbán's shirt is almost always casual, unbuttoned at the top.

Furthermore, as the emerging research area of visual politics is still in great need of portable coding systems, the dissertation has an additional contribution to the field by providing three coding instruments that allow visual, and bimodal investigations related to political communication strategies, personalization, and populism.

Considering the findings of the dissertation on the strategic visual communication of politicians on social media, the following concluding ideas can be drawn. Personalization, the focus on the leader, and application of a positive tone, and certain populist elements (e.g. depiction of ordinary people, the elites, and national symbols) are prominent visual political communication strategies. Further, visual political communication can be considered quite consistent. Although there are some differences in the use of the different platforms, between parties, and periods, these are not remarkable: there seems to be a kind of professionalization, thereby a standardization of visual political communication.

Nonetheless, besides the important contributions, the thesis has its limitations. First of all, there is a great need to broaden the research focus of VPC studies. Although the emerging area of VPC investigation encompasses works with a diverse research focus, there is still room for improvement. There are not only geographical disproportionalities considering the overwhelming extent of US-based VPC research, but there are shortcomings regarding the examined platforms, types of visuals, periods, and actors. The audiovisual-based YouTube, moving images, such as videos, and gifs, non-election periods, and citizens as actors are less examined from the VPC perspective. Amateur visual production can be also an important research area of VPC, considering its emerging role both in protests and populist communication. New directions in VPC research could also be set to the field of visual mis- and disinformation, which is especially timely in the era of fake news.

Further, although qualitative and quantitative visual content analyses are useful methods to provide reliable, replicable, and valid results, they can grasp the dynamics and context, where visuals are embedded, only in a limited way. Qualitative methods, such as the compositional interpretation or the semiotic analysis offer a nuanced and detailed analysis and understanding of the images, however, these can't be applied to a huge amount of data. Further, as Bucy and Joo (2021) also suggested, scholars of the field should broaden their focus both in terms of applied methods and interdisciplinary collaborations. The application of qualitative methods that help understand the details of visually constructed messages would be as welcome as methods based on the new technological advances. For that, cooperative works from the area of computational science and VPC would be necessary.

Moreover, although Article 1 had a cross-platform approach, this could be also continued in the future by the investigation of other platforms as well, such as YouTube or TikTok. Additionally, the thesis put more emphasis on the sites of production and the image itself, while the site of the audience was examined only in the first study, which might be a further future direction. Further, as the narrative literature review suggested, new theoretical insights and concepts could be raised on the basis of VPC. The established concepts, such as personalization and populism, provide useful grips and VPC can indeed provide new insights in these areas, however, it would also be beneficial to notice and capture communicative specificities that primarily unfold in the field of visuals.

As Schill (2012) concluded, "not only is continued research vital and necessary in this area; it also provides fertile ground for understanding political communication" (p. 135). By the systematic and narrative review of the last decade of VPC, and by filling in some research gaps related to social media-based VPC, the thesis attempted to further increase the popularity of VPC research. Findings of the empirical review and the three articles, also the attached coding schemes might be useful for political communication scholars to widen their focus in the direction of visuals, and those who already contributed to the understanding of VPC, may find inspiration for new approaches.

5. References

Andén-Papadopoulos, K. (2014). Citizen camera-witnessing: Embodied political dissent in the age of 'mediated mass self-communication.' *New Media & Society*, *16*(5), 753–769. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444813489863

Arpan, L. M., Baker, K., Lee, Y., Jung, T., Lorusso, L., & Smith, J. (2006). News Coverage of Social Protests and the Effects of Photographs and Prior Attitudes. *Mass Communication and Society*, 9(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327825mcs0901_1

Balmas, M., & Sheafer, T. (2015). Personalization of Politics. In *The International Encyclopedia of Political Communication* (pp. 1–9). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118541555.wbiepc021

Barnhurst, K. G., & Quinn, K. (2012). Political Visions: Visual Studies in Political Communication. In *The SAGE Handbook of Political Communication* (pp. 276–291). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446201015

Barnhurst, K. G., Vari, M., & Rodríguez, Í. (2004). Mapping Visual Studies in Communication. *Journal of Communication*, *54*(4), 616–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2004.tb02648.x

Bast, J. (2021). Managing the Image. The Visual Communication Strategy of European Right-Wing Populist Politicians on Instagram. *Journal of Political Marketing*, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377857.2021.1892901

Bene, M. (2017). Go viral on the Facebook! Interactions between candidates and followers on Facebook during the Hungarian general election campaign of 2014. *Information, Communication & Society, 20*(4), 513–529. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1198411

Bene, M. (2020). *Virális politika: politikai kommunikáció a Facebookon*. L'Harmattan Kiadó; Könyvpont Kiadó.

Bennett, W. L., & Segerberg, A. (2013). *The logic of connective action: digital media and the personalization of contentious politics*. Cambridge University Press.

Bimber, B. (2014). Digital Media in the Obama Campaigns of 2008 and 2012: Adaptation to the Personalized Political Communication Environment. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, *11*(2), 130–150. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681.2014.895691

Bleiker, R., Campbell, D., Hutchison, E., & Nicholson, X. (2013). The visual dehumanisation of refugees. *Australian Journal of Political Science*, *48*(4), 398–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/10361146.2013.840769

Blumler, J. G. (2016). The Fourth Age of Political Communication: *Politiques de Communication*, N° 6(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.3917/pdc.006.0019

Blumler, J. G., & Kavanagh, D. (1999). The Third Age of Political Communication: Influences and Features. *Political Communication*, *16*(3), 209–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/105846099198596 Bossetta, M. (2018). The Digital Architectures of Social Media: Comparing Political Campaigning on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat in the 2016 U.S. Election. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, *95*(2), 471–496. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699018763307

Boussalis, C., Coan, T. G., Holman, M. R., & Müller, S. (2021). Gender, Candidate Emotional Expression, and Voter Reactions During Televised Debates. *American Political Science Review*, *115*(4), 1242–1257. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055421000666

Brands, C., Kruikemeier, S., & Trilling, D. (2021). Insta(nt)famous? Visual selfpresentation and the use of masculine and feminine issues by female politicians on Instagram. *Information, Communication & Society*, *24*(14), 2016–2036. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2021.1962942

Bucy, E. P. (2000). Emotional and Evaluative Consequences of Inappropriate Leader Displays. *Communication Research*, *27*(2), 194–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365000027002004

Bucy, E. P. (2016). The Look of Losing, Then and Now: Nixon, Obama, and Nonverbal Indicators of Opportunity Lost. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *60*(14), 1772–1798. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764216678279

Bucy, E. P., Foley, J. M., Lukito, J., Doroshenko, L., Shah, D. V., Pevehouse, J. C., & Wells, C. (2020). Performing populism: Trump's transgressive debate style and the dynamics of Twitter response. *New Media & Society*, *22*(4), 634–658. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819893984

Bucy, E. P., & Joo, J. (2021). Editors' Introduction: Visual Politics, Grand Collaborative Programs, and the Opportunity to Think Big. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *26*(1), 5–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220970361

Carpinella, C., & Bauer, N. M. (2021). A visual analysis of gender stereotypes in campaign advertising. *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, 9(2), 369–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565503.2019.1637353

Casas, A., & Williams, N. W. (2019). Images that Matter: Online Protests and the Mobilizing Role of Pictures. *Political Research Quarterly*, *72*(2), 360–375. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912918786805

Chadegani, A. A., Salehi, H., Yunus, M. M., Farhadi, H., Fooladi, M., Farhadi, M., & Ebrahim, N. A. (2013). A Comparison between Two Main Academic Literature Collections: Web of Science and Scopus Databases. *Asian Social Science*, *9*(5), p18. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v9n5p18

Chadwick, A. (2013). *The hybrid media system: politics and power*. Oxford University Press.

Chouliaraki, L., & Stolic, T. (2017). Rethinking media responsibility in the refugee 'crisis': a visual typology of European news. *Media, Culture & Society*, *39*(8), 1162–1177. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443717726163

Coleman, R., & Wu, H. D. (2015). *Image and emotion in voter decisions: the affect agenda*. Lexington Books.

Dan, V., Grabe, M. E., & Hale, B. J. (2020). Testing three measures of verbal–visual frame interplay in German news coverage of refugees and asylum seekers. *International Journal of Communication*, *14*, 3843–3865.

de Vreese, C. H., Esser, F., Aalberg, T., Reinemann, C., & Stanyer, J. (2018). Populism as an Expression of Political Communication Content and Style: A New Perspective. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *23*(4), 423–438. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161218790035

Dobber, T., Metoui, N., Trilling, D., Helberger, N., & de Vreese, C. (2021). Do (Microtargeted) Deepfakes Have Real Effects on Political Attitudes? *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *26*(1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220944364

Doerr, N. (2017). Bridging language barriers, bonding against immigrants: A visual case study of transnational network publics created by far-right activists in Europe. *Discourse & Society*, *28*(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/0957926516676689

Dumitrescu, D. (2016). Nonverbal Communication in Politics: A Review of Research Developments, 2005-2015. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *60*(14), 1656–1675. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764216678280

Dumitrescu, D. (2017). Up, close and personal: the new Front National visual strategy under Marine Le Pen. *French Politics*, *15*(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41253-016-0012-7

Ekman, M., & Widholm, A. (2017). Political communication in an age of visual connectivity: Exploring Instagram practices among Swedish politicians. *Northern Lights*, *15*(1), 15–32. https://doi.org/10.1386/nl.15.15_1

Ekström, M., Patrona, M., & Thornborrow, J. (2018). Right-wing populism and the dynamics of style: a discourse-analytic perspective on mediated political performances. *Palgrave Communications*, *4*(1), 83. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-018-0132-6

Elkins, J. (2000). How to Use Your Eyes (1 edition). Routledge.

Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x

Emmison, M., & Smith, P. (2000). *Researching the Visual: Images, Objects, Contexts and Interactions in Social and Cultural Inquiry*. SAGE Publications UK.

Enli, G. S., & Skogerbø, E. (2013). Personalized Campaigns in Party-Centered Politics: Twitter and Facebook as arenas for political communication. *Information, Communication & Society*, *16*(5), 757–774. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2013.782330

Fahmy, S. (2005). Emerging Alternatives or Traditional News Gates: Which News Sources Were Used to Picture the 9/11 Attack and the Afghan War? *Gazette (Leiden, Netherlands)*, 67(5), 381–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016549205056048

Fahmy, S. (2010). Contrasting visual frames of our times: A framing analysis of English- and Arabic-language press coverage of war and terrorism. *International Communication Gazette*, 72(8), 695–717. https://doi.org/10.1177/1748048510380801

Famulari, U. (2021). The Strategic Use of Visuals on Facebook: A Multimodal Analysis of Images and Audience Reactions During the Campaign for the 2019 UK General Election. *Visual Communication Quarterly*, *28*(4), 199–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/15551393.2021.1986828

Farkas, X., & Bene, M. (2021). Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *26*(1), 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220959553

Farkas, X., Jackson, D., Baranowski, P., Bene, M., Russmann, U., & Veneti, A. (2022). Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and nonpopulist parties across 28 countries. *European Journal of Communication*, 026732312210822. https://doi.org/10.1177/02673231221082238

Farris, E. M., & Silber Mohamed, H. (2018). Picturing immigration: how the media criminalizes immigrants. *Politics, Groups, and Identities, 6*(4), 814–824. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565503.2018.1484375

Filimonov, K., Russmann, U., & Svensson, J. (2016). Picturing the Party: Instagram and Party Campaigning in the 2014 Swedish Elections. *Social Media* + *Society*, *2*(3), 2056305116662179. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305116662179

Foss, S. K. (2005). Theory of visual rhetoric. In K. Smith, S. Moriarty, G. Barbatsis, & K. Kenney (Eds.), *Handbook of visualcommunication: Theory, methods, and media* (pp. 41–152). Lawrence Erlbaum.

Garimella, K., & Eckles, D. (2020). Images and Misinformation in Political Groups: Evidence from WhatsApp in India. *Harvard Kennedy School Misinformation Review*. https://doi.org/10.37016/mr-2020-030

Gerodimos, R. (2019). The Interdisciplinary Roots and Digital Branches of Visual Political Communication Research. In A. Veneti, D. Jackson, & D. G. Lilleker (Eds.), *Visual Political Communication* (pp. 53–73). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18729-3_4

Gerodimos, R., & Justinussen, J. (2014). Obama's 2012 Facebook Campaign: Political Communication in the Age of the Like Button. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, *12*(2), 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681.2014.982266

Gilardi, F., Gessler, T., Kubli, M., & Müller, S. (2022). Social Media and Political Agenda Setting. *Political Communication*, *39*(1), 39–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2021.1910390

Göransson, K., & Fagerholm, A.-S. (2018). Towards visual strategic communications: An innovative interdisciplinary perspective on visual dimensions within the strategic communications field. *Journal of Communication Management*, 22(1), 46–66. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-12-2016-0098 Grabe, M. E., & Bucy, E. P. (2009). *Image Bite Politics: News and the Visual Framing of Elections*. Oxford University Press.

https://www.oxfordscholarship.com/view/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195372076.001.0001 /acprof-9780195372076

Graber, D. A. (1996). Say It with Pictures. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 546, 85–96. JSTOR. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1048172

Grebelsky-Lichtman, T., & Katz, R. (2020). Gender Effect on Political Leaders' Nonverbal Communicative Structure during the COVID-19 Crisis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(21), 7789. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17217789

Griffin, M. (1991). Defining Visual Communication for a Multi-Media World. *The Journalism Educator*, 46(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769589104600102

Hameleers, M., Powell, T. E., Van Der Meer, T. G. L. A., & Bos, L. (2020). A Picture Paints a Thousand Lies? The Effects and Mechanisms of Multimodal Disinformation and Rebuttals Disseminated via Social Media. *Political Communication*, *37*(2), 281–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2019.1674979

Hand, M. (2017). Visuality in Social Media: researching images, circulations and practices. In L. Sloan & A. Quan-Haase (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 215–231). SAGE.

Hansen, L. (2014). How images make world politics: International icons and the case of Abu Ghraib. *Review of International Studies*, *41*(2), 263–288. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210514000199

Hawkins, K. A. (2009). Is Chávez Populist? Measuring Populist Discourse in Comparative Perspective. *Comparative Political Studies*, *42*(8), 1040–1067. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414009331721

Heiss, R., Schmuck, D., & Matthes, J. (2019). What drives interaction in political actors' Facebook posts? Profile and content predictors of user engagement and political actors' reactions. *Information, Communication & Society*, *22*(10), 1497–1513. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2018.1445273

Hodge, B. (2014). Social Semiotics. In T. Miller (Ed.), *The Routledge Companion to Global Popular Culture* (pp. 36–44). Routledge.

Hokka, J., & Nelimarkka, M. (2019). Affective economy of national-populist images: Investigating national and transnational online networks through visual big data. *New Media & Society*, 22(5), 770–792. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819868686

Holtz-Bacha, C., & Johansson, B. (Eds.). (2017). *Election Posters Around the Globe*. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32498-2

Holtz-Bacha, C., Johansson, B., Leidenberger, J., Maarek, P. J., & Merkle, S. (2012). Advertising for Europe. *Nordicom Review*, *33*(2), 77–92. https://doi.org/10.2478/nor-2013-0015

Holtz-Bacha, C., Novelli, E., & Rafter, K. (Eds.). (2017). *Political Advertising in the 2014 European Parliament Elections*. Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-56981-3

Horiuchi, Y., Komatsu, T., & Nakaya, F. (2012). Should Candidates Smile to Win Elections? An Application of Automated Face Recognition Technology: Should Candidates Smile to Win Elections? *Political Psychology*, *33*(6), 925–933. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9221.2012.00917.x

Johnson, J. (2021, September 10). Global digital population as of January 2021. *Statista*. https://www.statista.com/statistics/617136/digital-population-worldwide/

Joo, J., Bucy, E. P., & Seidel, C. (2019). Computational Communication Science Automated Coding of Televised Leader Displays: Detecting Nonverbal Political Behavior With Computer Vision and Deep Learning. *International Journal of Communication*, *13*(2019), 4044–4066.

Joo, J., & Steinert-Threlkeld, Z. C. (2018). *Image as Data: Automated Visual Content Analysis for Political Science*. https://doi.org/10.48550/ARXIV.1810.01544

Karvonen, L. (2010). *The personalisation of politics: a study of parliamentary democracies*. ECPR Press.

Kemmelmeier, M., & Winter, D. G. (2008). Sowing Patriotism, But Reaping Nationalism? Consequences of Exposure to the American Flag: Exposure to the American Flag. *Political Psychology*, *29*(6), 859–879. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9221.2008.00670.x

Kenney, K. (2008). Visual Communication Research Designs. Taylor & Francis.

Kharroub, T., & Bas, O. (2015). Social media and protests: An examination of Twitter images of the 2011 Egyptian revolution. *New Media & Society*, *18*(9), 1973–1992. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444815571914

Kissas, A. (2019). Performative and ideological populism: The case of charismatic leaders on Twitter. *Discourse & Society*, *31*(3), 268–284. https://doi.org/10.1177/0957926519889127

Koc-Michalska, K., Lilleker, D. G., Michalski, T., Gibson, R., & Zajac, J. M. (2021). Facebook affordances and citizen engagement during elections: European political parties and their benefit from online strategies? *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, *18*(2), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681.2020.1837707

Kreiss, D., Lawrence, R. G., & McGregor, S. C. (2018). In Their Own Words: Political Practitioner Accounts of Candidates, Audiences, Affordances, Genres, and Timing in Strategic Social Media Use. *Political Communication*, *35*(1), 8–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2017.1334727

Kriesi, H. (2014). The Populist Challenge. *West European Politics*, *37*(2), 361–378. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2014.887879

Krippendorff, K. (1980). Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. SAGE.

Lanzetta, J. T., Sullivan, D. G., Masters, R. D., & McHugo, G. J. (1985). Emotional and Cognitive Responses to Televised Images of Political Leaders. In S. Kraus & R. E. Perloff, *Mass Media and Political Thought*. Sage.

Larsson, A. O. (2020). Picture-perfect populism: Tracing the rise of European populist parties on Facebook. *New Media & Society*, 146144482096377. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444820963777

Lilleker, D. (2020). The cognitive approach to understanding visual political communication. *Journal of Visual Political Communication*, 8(1), 3–28. https://doi.org/10.1386/jvpc_00010_2

Lilleker, D. G. (2019). The Power of Visual Political Communication: Pictorial Politics Through the Lens of Communication Psychology. In A. Veneti, D. Jackson, & D. G. Lilleker (Eds.), *Visual Political Communication* (pp. 37–51). Springer International Publishing.

Lilleker, D. G., Veneti, A., & Jackson, D. (2019). Introduction: Visual Political Communication. In A. Veneti, D. Jackson, & D. G. Lilleker (Eds.), *Visual Political Communication* (pp. 53–73). Springer International Publishing.

Lindholm, J., Carlson, T., & Högväg, J. (2020). See Me, Like Me! Exploring Viewers' Visual Attention to and Trait Perceptions of Party Leaders on Instagram. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *26*(1), 167–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220937239

Magin, M., Podschuweit, N., Haßler, J., & Russmann, U. (2017). Campaigning in the fourth age of political communication. A multi-method study on the use of Facebook by German and Austrian parties in the 2013 national election campaigns. *Information, Communication & Society*, 20(11), 1698–1719. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1254269

Martin, K. N. (2011). *Visual Research: Introducing a Schema for Methodologies and Contexts* [Dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of North Carolina State University].

Masters, R., Sullivan, D., Lanzetta, J., Mchugo, G., & Englis, B. (1986). The facial displays of leaders: Toward an ethology of human politics. *Journal of Social and Biological Systems*, 9(4), 319–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-1750(86)90190-9

Matland, R. E., & Murray, G. R. (2015). I Only Have Eyes for You: Does Implicit Social Pressure Increase Voter Turnout?: I Only Have Eyes for You. *Political Psychology*, *37*(4), 533–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12275

Meeks, L. (2019). Owning your message: Congressional candidates' interactivity and issue ownership in mixed-gender campaigns. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, *16*(2), 187–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681.2019.1620149

Mendonça, R. F., Ercan, S. A., & Asenbaum, H. (2022). More than Words: A Multidimensional Approach to Deliberative Democracy. *Political Studies*, 70(1), 153– 172. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032321720950561 Messaris, P. (1994). Visual "literacy": image, mind, and reality. Westview Press.

Messaris, P. (2012). Visual "Literacy" in the Digital Age. *Review of Communication*, *12*(2), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/15358593.2011.653508

Messaris, P. (2019). The Digital Transformation of Visual Politics. In A. Veneti, D. Jackson, & D. G. Lilleker (Eds.), *Visual Political Communication* (pp. 17–36). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18729-3_2

Metz, M., Kruikemeier, S., & Lecheler, S. (2019). Personalization of politics on Facebook: examining the content and effects of professional, emotional and private self-personalization. *Information, Communication & Society*, 0(0), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2019.1581244

Milazzo, C., & Mattes, K. (2016). Looking Good For Election Day: Does Attractiveness Predict Electoral Success in Britain? *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, *18*(1), 161–178. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-856X.12074

Moffitt, B. (2016). *The global rise of populism: performance, political style, and representation*. Stanford University Press.

Mudde, C. (2004). The Populist Zeitgeist. *Government and Opposition*, *39*(4), 541–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-7053.2004.00135.x

Mullen, B., Futrell, D., Stairs, D., Tice, D. M., Baumeister, R. F., Dawson, K. E., Riordan, C. A., Radloff, C. E., Goethals, G. R., Kennedy, J. G., & Rosenfeld, P. (1986). Newcasters' facial expressions and voting behavior of viewers: Can a smile elect a president? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(2), 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.2.291

Müller, M. G. (2007). What is visual communication? Past and future of an emerging field of communication research. *Studies in Communication Sciences*, 7(2), 7–34.

Muñoz, C. L., & Towner, T. L. (2017). The Image is the Message: Instagram Marketing and the 2016 Presidential Primary Season. *Journal of Political Marketing*, *16*(3–4), 290–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377857.2017.1334254

Nagel, F., Maurer, M., & Reinemann, C. (2012). Is There a Visual Dominance in Political Communication? How Verbal, Visual, and Vocal Communication Shape Viewers' Impressions of Political Candidates: Visual Dominance in Political Communication. *Journal of Communication*, *62*(5), 833–850. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2012.01670.x

Neumayer, C., & Rossi, L. (2018). Images of protest in social media: Struggle over visibility and visual narratives. *New Media & Society*, *20*(11), 4293–4310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818770602

Newman, N., Fletcher, R., Robertson, C. T., Eddy, K., & Nielsen, R. K. (2022). *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2022*. Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism.

Newman, N., Fletcher, R., Schulz, A., Andı, S., & Nielsen, R. K. (2020). *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2020*. Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism.

Norris, P. (2001). *Digital Divide: Civic Engagement, Information Poverty, and the Internet Worldwide* (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139164887

O'Connell, D. (2018). #Selfie: Instagram and the United States Congress. *Social Media* + *Society*, *4*(4), 205630511881337. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305118813373

O'Halloran, K. L., Tan, S., Wignell, P., Bateman, J. A., Pham, D.-S., Grossman, M., & Moere, A. V. (2016). Interpreting Text and Image Relations in Violent Extremist Discourse: A Mixed Methods Approach for Big Data Analytics. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *31*(3), 454–474. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2016.1233871

Peng, Y. (2018). Same Candidates, Different Faces: Uncovering Media Bias in Visual Portrayals of Presidential Candidates with Computer Vision. *Journal of Communication*, 68(5), 920–941. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jqy041

Perloff, R. M. (2013). *The Dynamics of Political Communication: Media and Politics in a Digital Age* (1 edition). Routledge.

Petticrew, M., & Roberts, H. (Eds.). (2006). *Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470754887

Piontek, D., & Tadeusz-Ciesielczyk, M. (2019). Nonverbal components of the populist style of political communication: A study on televised presidential debates in Poland. *Central European Journal of Communication*, *12*(2), 150–168. https://doi.org/10.19195/1899-5101.12.2(23).3

Poulakidakos, S., & Giannouli, I. (2019). Greek Political Leaders on Instagram: Between "Soft" and "Hard" Personalization. In A. Veneti, D. Jackson, & D. G. Lilleker (Eds.), *Visual Political Communication* (pp. 187–206). Palgrave Macmillan.

Powell, T. E., Boomgaarden, H. G., De Swert, K., & de Vreese, C. H. (2015). A Clearer Picture: The Contribution of Visuals and Text to Framing Effects: Visual Framing Effects. *Journal of Communication*, *65*(6), 997–1017. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12184

Powell, T. E., Van der Meer, T. G. L. A., & Peralta, C. B. (2019). Picture Power? The Contribution of Visuals and Text to Partisan Selective Exposure. *Media and Communication*, 7(3), 12–31. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v7i3.1991

Quan-Haase, A., & Sloan, L. (2017). Introduction to the Handbook of Social Media Research Methods. In L. Sloan & A. Quan-Haase (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 1–10). SAGE.

Rasmussen Pennington, D. (2017). Coding of non-text data. In L. Sloan & A. Quan-Haase (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (pp. 232–250). SAGE.

Renner, A.-M., & Masch, L. (2017). Emotional woman – rational man? Gender stereotypical emotional expressivity of German politicians in news broadcasts. *Communications*, 44(1), 81–103.

Rose, G. (2001). *Visual Methodologies: An Introduction to the Interpretation of Visual Materials*. SAGE.

Ross, A. S., & Rivers, D. J. (2017). Digital cultures of political participation: Internet memes and the discursive delegitimization of the 2016 U.S Presidential candidates. *Discourse, Context & Media*, *16*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcm.2017.01.001

Rovisco, M. (2017). The indignados social movement and the image of the occupied square: the making of a global icon. *Visual Communication*, *16*(3), 337–359. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470357217702088

Russmann, U., & Svensson, J. (2017). Interaction on Instagram? Glimpses from the 2014 Swedish Elections. *International Journal of E-Politics; 1, 8*. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJEP.2017010104

Sampietro, A., & Sánchez-Castillo, S. (2020). Building a political image on Instagram: A study of the personal profile of Santiago Abascal (Vox) in 2018. *Communication & Society*, *33*(1), 169–184. https://doi.org/10.15581/003.33.1.169-184

Schill, D. (2009). *Stagecraft and statecraft: advance and media events in political communication*. Lexington Books.

Schindler, J., & Müller, P. (2018). Design follows politics? The visualization of political orientation in newspaper page layout. *Visual Communication*, *17*(2), 141–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470357217746812

Schloss, K. B., & Palmer, S. E. (2014). The politics of color: Preferences for Republican red versus Democratic blue. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 21(6), 1481– 1488. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-014-0635-0

Schmuck, D., & Matthes, J. (2017). Effects of Economic and Symbolic Threat Appeals in Right-Wing Populist Advertising on Anti-Immigrant Attitudes: The Impact of Textual and Visual Appeals. *Political Communication*, *34*(4), 607–626. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2017.1316807

Schweiger, G., & Adami, M. (1999). The nonverbal image of politicians and political parties. In B. I. Newman (Ed.), *Handbook of political marketing* (pp. 347–364). Thousand Oaks.

Shah, D. V., Hanna, A., Bucy, E. P., Lassen, D. S., Van Thomme, J., Bialik, K., Yang, J., & Pevehouse, J. C. W. (2016). Dual Screening During Presidential Debates: Political Nonverbals and the Volume and Valence of Online Expression. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *60*(14), 1816–1843. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764216676245

Sigelman, L., Sigelman, C. K., & Fowler, C. (1987). A Bird of a Different Feather? An Experimental Investigation of Physical Attractiveness and the Electability of Female Candidates. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *50*(1), 32. https://doi.org/10.2307/2786888

Sloan, L., & Quan-Haase, A. (Eds.). (2017). *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods* (1 edition). SAGE Publications Ltd.

Stanyer, J. (2021). Book Review: Visual Political Communication. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 26(1), 302–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220942693

Sullivan, D. G. (1996). Emotional responses to the nonverbal behavior of French and American political leaders. *Political Behavior*, *18*(3), 311–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01498604

Towner, T. L., & Muñoz, C. L. (2017). Picture Perfect? The Role of Instagram in Issue Agenda Setting During the 2016 Presidential Primary Campaign. *Social Science Computer Review*, *36*(4), 484–499. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439317728222

Turnbull-Dugarte, S. J. (2019). Selfies, Policies, or Votes? Political Party Use of Instagram in the 2015 and 2016 Spanish General Elections. *Social Media* + *Society*, 5(2), 205630511982612. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305119826129

Vaccari, C., & Chadwick, A. (2020). Deepfakes and Disinformation: Exploring the Impact of Synthetic Political Video on Deception, Uncertainty, and Trust in News. *Social Media* + *Society*, *6*(1), 205630512090340. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120903408

Van Aelst, P., Sheafer, T., & Stanyer, J. (2012). The personalization of mediated political communication: A review of concepts, operationalizations and key findings. *Journalism*, *13*(2), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884911427802

van Leeuwen, T. (2004). *Introducing Social Semiotics: An Introductory Textbook* (1 edition). Routledge.

van Zoonen, L. (2006). The personal, the political and the popular: A woman's guide to celebrity politics. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, *9*(3), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549406066074

Vreese, de, C. H. (2006). *Ten Observations about the Past, Present and Future of Political Communication*. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.5117/9789056294373

Weyland, K. (2001). Clarifying a Contested Concept: Populism in the Study of Latin American Politics. *Comparative Politics*, *34*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/422412

Wohlin, C. (2014). Guidelines for snowballing in systematic literature studies and a replication in software engineering. *Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering - EASE '14*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1145/2601248.2601268

Zeh, R., & Hopmann, D. N. (2013). Indicating mediatization? Two decades of election campaign television coverage. *European Journal of Communication*, *28*(3), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323113475409

Appendix

Statement of Authorship

DECLARATION

related to the independent intellectual property and form,

for submission of the PhD dissertation

I the undersigned Xénia Farkas, PhD candidate of the Doctoral School of International Relations and Political Science (Program/Specialization: Political Science Doctoral Program) hereby declare that the PhD dissertation I submitted to the Doctoral Office of the Corvinus University of Budapest

at the date: 1 September, 2022

with the title: Visual Politics: Visual Political Communication on Social Media having 197 pages,

is the result of my research and the whole of my dissertation is my own, independent intellectual property using only the indicated sources.

Clearly, by indicating the source, I have marked all the parts, including my own previous work that I have taken from another source, literally or in the same sense, but reworded.

I also declare that I have not previously submitted my doctoral dissertation to another institution, it has not been rejected, I have not had an unsuccessful doctoral defence within two years.

Regarding the **form and structure** of my doctoral dissertation, it is (please underline the right one):

- an article-based dissertation

- a non-article-based dissertation

Date: 1 September, 2022

Signature:

Author's Own Contributions for Co-Authored Publications

Article 1

Title: Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media

Researchers involved: Xénia Farkas (XF), Márton Bene (MB)

	Limited contribution	Substantial contribution
Conceptualization (main idea, theory)	MB	XF
Methodology (design, operationalization)		XF, MB
Data collection	MB	XF
Data analysis		XF, MB
Writing (original draft preparation)		XF, MB
Writing (review and editing)	MB	XF
Conference presentations	MB	XF
Visualizations	XF	MB

Article 2

Title: Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries

Researchers involved: Xénia Farkas (XF), Daniel Jackson (DJ), Paweł Baranowski (PB), Márton Bene (MB), Uta Russmann (UR), Anastasia Veneti (AV)

	Limited contribution	Substantial contribution
Conceptualization (main idea, theory)	DJ, PB, MB, UR, AV	XF
Methodology (design, operationalization)	DJ, UR,	XF, MB
Data collection		XF
Data analysis	PB	XF, MB
Writing (original draft preparation)	PB, UR, AV	XF, DJ, MB
Writing (review and editing)	MB, PB	XF, DJ, UR, AV
Conference presentations		XF, DJ, UR
Visualizations	MB, DJ, UR, AV	XF, PB

Article 3

Title: The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook. Submitted to the journal

Researchers involved: Xénia Farkas (XF), Márton Bene (MB)

	Limited contribution	Substantial contribution
Conceptualization (main idea, theory)		XF
Methodology (design, operationalization)		XF, MB
Data collection		XF
Data analysis		XF, MB
Writing (original draft preparation)	MB	XF
Writing (review and editing)	MB	XF
Conference presentations		XF
Visualizations		XF, MB

The co-authors herewith confirm the author contribution statement:

Wrocław, 16.08.2022

Location and Date

BUDAPEST, 31.08 2012

Location and Date

Bournemouth, 16.08.2022

Location and Date

Tel Aviv, 18.08.2022

Location and Date

Mouremenouth, 50.08. 2021

Location and Date

Parto Burnant

Paweł Baranowski

Márton Bene

Dh

Daniel Jackson

Uta Rußmann

Uta Russmann

Aucriton Ucuch'

Anastasia Veneti

Author's Publication List

Peer-Reviewed Journal Articles

- Bene, M., & Farkas, X. (2022). Ki mint vet, úgy arat? A 2022-es választási kampány a közösségi médiában. Századvég, 2022(2), 131–160.
- Farkas, X., & Bene, M. (2021). Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 26(1), 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220959553
- Farkas, X., Jackson, D., Baranowski, P., Bene, M., Russmann, U., & Veneti, A. (2022). Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and nonpopulist parties across 28 countries. *European Journal of Communication*, 026732312210822. https://doi.org/10.1177/02673231221082238
- Kiss, B., Szabó, L. P., & Farkas, X. (2021). Ki lehet áldozat? Viktimizáció a 2017-es magyar metoo-vitában. *Politikatudományi Szemle*, 30(1), 104–126. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.30718/POLTUD.HU.2021.1.104
- Szabó, G., & Farkas, X. (2021). Libernyákok és O1G. Modortalanság a politikai kommunikációban. *Politikatudományi Szemle*, 30(1), 60–81. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.30718/POLTUD.HU.2021.1.60

Book Chapters in Edited Volumes

- Bene, M., & Farkas, X. (2018). Kövess, reagálj, oszd meg! A közösségi média a 2018-as országgyűlési választási kampányban. In B. Böcskei & A. Szabó (Eds.), Várakozások És Valóságok. Parlamenti Választás 2018. (pp. 410–424). MTA TK PTI, Napvilág Kiadó.
- Bene, M., Farkas, X., & Burai, K. (2021). Same Strategy, but Different Content.
 Hungarian Parties' Facebook Campaign During the 2019 EP Election. In J. Haßler, M.
 Magin, U. Russmann, & V. Fenoll (Eds.), *Campaigning on Facebook in the 2019 European Parliament Election : Informing, Interacting with, and Mobilising Voters* (pp. 119–134). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bene, M., Farkas, X., & Merkovity, N. (2020). Válságcsörték A koronavírus-válság kormányzati, ellenzéki és médiakommunikációja. In A. Körösényi, A. Szabó, & B.
 Böcskei, Vírusba oltott politika : Világjárvány és politikatudomány (pp. 151–168).
 Napvilág Kiadó.
- Farkas, X. (2017). A liberális politikai közösség politikai kommunikációja 1997-2006. In
 B. Kiss (Ed.), *A polarizáció évei: politikai kommunikáció Magyarországon, 1997-2006* (pp. 306–389). MTA TK Politikatudományi Intézet.
- Farkas, X. (2019a). A zöld közösség politikai kommunikációja. In B. Kiss (Ed.), A centralizáció évei. Politikai kommunikáció Magyarországon, 2006 - 2015 (pp. 209– 257). MTA TK Politikatudományi Intézet.
- Farkas, X. (2019b). Látványvilág. In B. Kiss (Ed.), A szavakon túl. Politikai kommunikáció Magyarországon, 1990–2015 (pp. 185–212). L'Harmattan.
- Farkas, X. (2022). Vizualitás és érzelemszabályozási ajánlatok a COVID-19 járvány első és második szakaszában. In G. Szabó (Ed.), Érzelmek és járványpolitizálás. Politikai érzelemmenedzserek és érzelemszabályozási ajánlataik Magyarországon a COVID-19 pandémia idején (pp. 56–81). ELTE Eötvös Kiadó.
- Kiss, B., Nábelek, F., & Farkas, X. (2017). A liberális politikai közösség kommunikációja, 1990-1997. In B. Kiss (Ed.), *A polarizáció évei: politikai kommunikáció* Magyarországon, 1997-2006 (pp. 466–548). MTA TK Politikatudományi Intézet.
- Merkovity, N., Bene, M., & Farkas, X. (2021). Hungary: The Illiberal Crisis Management. In D. Lilleker, I. A. Coman, M. Gregor, & E. Novelli (Eds.), *Political Communication* and COVID-19 (1st ed., pp. 269–279). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003120254-26
- Szabó, L. P., & Farkas, X. (2022). "Küzdelem a vírus ellen" Orbán Viktor érzelemszabályozási ajánlatai a koronavírus-járvány első és második hullámában. In G.
 Szabó (Ed.), Érzelmek és járványpolitizálás. Politikai érzelemmenedzserek és érzelemszabályozási ajánlataik Magyarországon a COVID-19 pandémia idején (pp. 23– 39). ELTE Eötvös Kiadó.

Article 1

Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media.

Xénia Farkas, Márton Bene

Originally published:

Farkas, X., & Bene, M. (2021). Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 26(1), 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161220959553

Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Imagebased Political Communication Strategies on Social Media

Xénia Farkas⁶, Márton Bene⁷

This version is the accepted manuscript of the following article:

Farkas X, Bene M. Images, Politicians, and Social Media: Patterns and Effects of Politicians' Image-Based Political Communication Strategies on Social Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*. September 2020. doi:10.1177/1940161220959553

Author Biographies:

Xénia Farkas is a Junior Research Fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Institute for Political Science (HAS) since 2015, and a PhD student at the Corvinus University of Budapest since 2018. Her research focuses on visual political communication.

Márton Bene is a Research Fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Institute for Political Science (HAS) and lecturer at Eötvös Loránd University. His research interests are in political communication, social media and politics, and political behaviour. His publications have appeared in refereed international journals such as *Information, Communication & Society, Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly, Journal of Information Technology & Politics* and *Social Media+ Society*.

Abstract

Although images have always been part of politics, research on the visual aspects of political communication recently gained momentum, especially with the spread of social

Corresponding Author:

⁶ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary

⁷ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Eötvös Loránd University, Hungary

Xénia Farkas, Centre for Social Sciences, H-1097 Budapest, Tóth Kálmán u. 4. Email: farkas.xenia@tk.mta.hu

media-based political communication. However, there are still several significant research gaps in this field. The aim of this article is to identify and compare the patterns and effects of Hungarian politicians' (N = 51) image-based communication on Facebook (N = 2992) and Instagram (N = 868) during the Hungarian parliamentary election campaign in 2018. By doing so, we shed light on two important dimensions of personalization: individualization and privatization. This work is designed to fill three gaps in the literature. We argue that existing research of visual political communication (1) treats images predominantly as illustrations; (2) is limited to single platform studies, and (3) does not investigate the engagement effects of images. To move beyond these limitations, this study investigates images as objects of interest on their own, it adopts a cross-platform comparative approach and examines the engagement effects of visual cues by applying a combination of inductive and deductive qualitative content analysis. Our results show that images are often used to personalize communication. While on Facebook the individualization dimension of personalization is more common and popular, on Instagram its privatization dimension prevails. Furthermore, on Facebook, users like more politics-related candidate-centered images, but on Instagram we could not find similar effects for more informal visuals.

Keywords: visual political communication, images, social media, user engagement, personalization, Instagram, Facebook

Introduction

We are surrounded by visuals,¹ such as photos and other kinds of images in our daily life. Compared with written or spoken texts, people tend to believe more what they see, and visuals are easier to remember since they can transmit more specific messages that are more difficult to grasp in verbal communication (Grabe and Bucy, 2009). Although "political communication today is built on a visual foundation" (Schill, 2012, p.119), political communication research often ignores the visual aspects of communication, with the primary focus still on texts and text-based methods. Treated as illustration to textual or verbal communication, images are still rarely objects of interest on their own (Stocchetti, 2011). Over the last few years, visuals have been more at the forefront of political communication research (e.g. Veneti, Jackson & Lilleker, 2019), however, there are still numerous underexplored areas. Our research relates to the increasing scholarly efforts over the last few years that focus on politicians' visual communication strategies on social media. We argue that from a strategic point of view visuals are strongly connected to the personalization of political communication. While social media-based political communication tends to be a popular research field and is often connected to personalization (e.g. Enli & Skogerbø, 2013), there is a lack of knowledge on its visual aspects. Our article aims to address this gap and highlights visual tools that are applied to personalize political communication. Furthermore, by differentiating between formal and informal personal visual contents, our research focuses on the individualization (i.e. focus on the politicians' political work) and privatization (i.e. focus on politicians' personality and personal background) dimensions of personalization.

At the same time, we intend to bridge three significant gaps in the field of visual political communication. First, our goal is to elaborate an extensive coding scheme that investigates images as objects of interest on their own rather than pure illustration to textual communication and is thus suitable to offer a detailed map of political actors' visual strategies. Second, while existing studies in the field focus on single platforms, we adopt a cross-platform approach as the architectures, affordances and norms of specific sites significantly shape communication strategies (see Bossetta, 2018). And third, no study seems to have investigated the effects of different images on user engagement. While the study of engagement effects of politicians' communicative efforts is an emerging subfield in the study of social media and politics (Bene, 2017; Heiss et al., 2019), most work is limited to textual content. To fill these gaps, our aim is to explore cross-platform similarities and differences in the patterns and effects of politicians' visual political communication strategies on Facebook and Instagram during the 2018 Hungarian general election campaign. On the one hand, we hypothesize that personalization is a prevailing and effective strategy of politicians' visual communication. On the other hand, we expect that on Facebook the individualization dimension of personalization will be more frequently used and stimulate higher user engagement, while on Instagram the privatization dimension is the more popular.

Since research currently lacks a portable and adaptable coding model on visual data (Gerodimos, 2019), we have applied a combination of inductive and deductive qualitative visual content analysis to create categories, and our variables focus specifically on the details of images. By images we refer only to still images, consequently moving images –such as videos or gifs– are excluded from our analysis due to their different visual nature that requires different methods of analysis. Our analysis draws upon a unique dataset that

includes each image-based Facebook (N = 2992) and Instagram (N = 868) post of candidates who were active on both platforms during the campaign (N = 51).

Results show that images are often used to personalize communication: while on Facebook the privatization dimension of personalization is more common and popular, on Instagram its individualization dimension prevails. Furthermore, while on Facebook users were more likely to like politics-related candidate-centered images, on Instagram we could not find similar patterns for more informal pictures.

Visual political communication on social media

Visuals have always been part of political communication, they have just become even more important with technological advances: from the printed press to the television, and finally the Internet. Hand (2012) argues that we live in the age of "ubiquitous photography," which is also underlined by statistics: each day people upload 300 million photos to Facebook, and 95 million photos to Instagram (Stout, 2019). This is not surprising, as it is now faster, easier and more motivating than ever before to take and share pictures on social media platforms. Due to the proliferation of mobile cameras, politicians are more visible than ever (Messaris, 2019). At the same time, visuals on social media have become part of political actors' strategic toolkit and are employed to influence voters (Russmann, Svensson & Larsson, 2019).

Although many scholars argue (see Veneti et al., 2019) that visuals have a huge importance when politicians communicate with their voters, only over the past few years has more intense academic attention turned toward them in political communication. However, political communication studies focusing on images have taken a particular approach to visuals and visual communication for a long time. Even though many scholars argue that research on political communication should pay genuine attention on visuals (Graber, 1996; Barnhurst & Quinn, 2012), the real focus is still predominantly on texts.

To understand the visual messages and strategies in social media, we need to move beyond the approach of traditional political communication research that investigates similar categories for visuals and texts, and instead analyze visuals as objects of interest on their own. While our methodology is based on traditional content analysis, to work out categories we rely on a comprehensive inductive visual analysis of the specific details of the images, such as their types or the persons depicted inside the frame, cultural and political references, the sentiment projected by the depiction, and the visual character of the image. Candidates use these visual components as purposeful communication tools to create messages. Hence, we understand them as elements of strategic political communication for achieving candidates' political goals: influencing voters through visual communication. Consequently, our first research question is: What kinds of visual communication strategies are applied by political actors on social media platforms? (RQ1)

Therefore, the first step of our research strategy is to identify visual tools inductively, then to develop a coding scheme based on these tools, and finally to analyze the occurrences of our categories in politicians' visual communication.

When it comes to visual political communication, one of the major puzzles is what kind of political messages can be transmitted through visuals. Although our investigation is primarily of an explorative nature because most categories under investigation are not pre-determined, some hypotheses can still be formulated.

There are strong reasons to hypothesize that social media-based visual political communication is inseparable from personalization (Ekman & Widholm, 2017; Metz, Kruikemeier & Lecheler, 2019). Personalization can be described briefly as the process in which "individual political actors have become more prominent at the expense of parties and collective identities" (Karvonen, 2010, p. 4). Although personalization cannot be considered as a new phenomenon (Balmas & Sheafer, 2015), mediatization (Mazzoleni & Schulz, 1999) and popularization of politics (van Zoonen, 2006), and especially the logic of new media –that highlights candidates instead of parties– have given rise to personalization as a "central feature of democratic politics in the twenty-first century" (McAllister, 2007, p. 585).

The focus of studies on personalization can be divided into three categories: voters' behavior, media coverage, and politicians' communication. The present study focuses on the latter aspect and understands personalization as a communication strategy (Hermans & Vergeer, 2012), which means that politicians intentionally highlight their personal characteristics rather than their parties'. Social media sites are ideal platforms for this strategy as they provide an opportunity for candidates to create their own personal profiles and address their followers directly (Enli & Skogerbø, 2013). Extensive opportunities for visual communication on these platforms can further intensify personalization: while it

may be difficult to express substantial policy messages through pictures, they are especially suitable to present politicians' personal images. Self-made visual content and images that highlight personal traits (Lalancette & Raynauld, 2017) or candidates' personal backgrounds (Liebhart & Bernhardt, 2017) are effective tools to foreground politicians while leaving their parties in the background.

In this study, we investigate the degree of personalization in politicians' visual communication on social media platforms. We argue that politicians are able to personalize their visual presence on these platforms by offering original visual content and images depicting themselves. On the other hand, a non-personalized visual communication would predominantly draw upon imported visual materials and pictures on parties or other political actors. We expect that politicians on social media platforms predominantly use visual communication to personalize their appearance (H1).

As many scholars argue (Poulakidakos & Giannouli, 2019; Ekman & Widholm, 2017), the real question is not about the presence of personalized political communication on social media, rather its prevalence and the way it is produced and shared. However, we have little knowledge on the role of visuals in this matter. Hence, to grasp these less studied aspects, we apply Van Aelst and colleagues' (2011) conceptualization that differentiates between two main dimensions of personalization. First, (1) individualization means that instead of parties, individual politicians appear as central actors in the political arena. The second dimension, (2) privatization means that politicians are presented as private individuals, their personal characteristics and lives are at the forefront of communication instead of their professional features. Interestingly, Keller & Kleinen-von Königslöw (2018) argue that in social media both dimensions are present as part of the entertaining political communication style, however, individualization is more common than privatization. Small (2016) also found that political leaders' personalization strategies on Twitter primarily rely on individualization, while privatization is rather marginal. These works, however, are focused on personalized textual content, but the visual aspects of personalization are rarely identified. Investigating Instagram posts, Russmann et al. (2019) and Poulakidakos & Giannouli (2019) highlight the presence of personalization on images, and although the visibility of top candidates is a crucial aspect of these studies, the visual differences between "personal and private" aspects are less emphasized.

Thus, to operationalize these two dimensions of personalization in terms of image-based political communication, our paper goes beyond existing research. In general, we expect that both privatization and individualization can be effectively pursued by visual communication on social media.

Based on the conceptualization discussed above, we argue that individualization relates to the more formal political work of the candidates, while privatization has an informal character. Visuals offer great opportunities to add more formal or informal layers to candidates' personalized communication. Hence, we describe (1) individualization in personalized visual communication as application of visual tools that highlight candidates in a rather formal way (e.g. settled image, official clothes etc.), and (2) privatization as employing visual tools that help depict candidates informally (spontaneous images, casual clothes etc.). In this research we will discover to what extent candidates use visual elements that make their communication more formal or informal. Formal and informal elements of visual communication are identified by inductive content analysis discussed in the methods section.

It is important to emphasize that we do not code whether an image is individualized or privatized per se. Instead, we focus on the extent of the use of visual elements that are able to make images more formal or informal. We argue that this approach offers a more nuanced understanding of politicians' personalization strategies. Numerous communication tools can be employed in one image, and a two- or three-category coding scheme that put the particular images into the exclusive categories of 'individualized' or 'privatized' would hide this diversity from our observations. Communication strategy is more complex as it may simultaneously apply several formal and informal visual elements to convey messages. An element-based approach is appropriate to unfold these strategies as it captures them by contrasting the overall level of usage of formal and informal visual elements.

Visuals in context. A cross-platform approach

Another gap in the literature is that existing research is limited to single platforms (Gerodimos, 2019). However, as all communication is context-dependent (e.g. Goffmann, 1956), studies on social media increasingly argue that the architectures (Bossetta, 2018), norms (boyd, 2014) and affordances of platforms (Bucher & Helmond, 2018) can shape the way communication is conducted on them. To understand political

actors' visual communication strategies, we specify our RQ1 and adopt a cross-platform approach to explore what features can be considered general characteristics of social media visual communication (RQ1a), and what the platform-specific strategies are (RQ1b).

In Hungary, politicians use two platforms intensively: Facebook and Instagram (Bene & Farkas, 2018). Therefore, our cross-platform investigation compares visual communication tools employed on these sites. Both platforms enable users to connect to each other, to post visual and textual content and to see their connections' posts on a news feed. However, there are several differences between the sites that may shape communication on them. Facebook is the most popular social media site in Hungary as 85 per cent of the online population use it, and 62 per cent of them consume news they receive from it. Instagram has a smaller, but still significant user base with 26 per cent of the online population registered on it, but only 7 per cent of them receive news from it (Newman et al., 2019). While demographically Facebook is a highly diverse platform, the user base of Instagram is more specific, as it mostly attracts younger people (see Perrin & Anderson, 2019). On Facebook, creating a connection between ordinary users requires reciprocity by default, while on Instagram one-sided following is the way to connect with someone. Due to this fact and the norms prevailing on these platforms, Facebook networks are more offline-anchored (Zhao et al., 2008) even if weak ties proliferate here, while on Instagram it is more common to follow users who are not known in person. Political actors' status also differs between Facebook and Instagram. On Facebook, there is a distinction between ordinary users and pages. The pages usually represent public actors (actual or fictional persons, organizations, causes, etc.) who can be one-sidedly followed. Political actors usually create public Facebook pages that are visually separated from ordinary users. On Instagram, political actors appear in the same way as ordinary users (Bossetta, 2018).

As for the role of visual communication, on Facebook it is a widely used tool, although it is only one of several forms of communication. When text is added to the post, visuals appear below it, suggesting it is more of an illustration to the textual message. In contrast, Instagram is built upon visual communication, since all posts must contain some visual content. Text can be added to them, but it appears below the pictures, and visuals still dominate the posts with their size. Further, on Instagram there is no option to share posts or publish hyperlinks. This fact relates to one more important difference between the platforms. The dissemination logic of Facebook is virality, as user engagement with posts is able to extend their visibility beyond direct followers (Bene, 2017). On the other hand, on Instagram user engagement cannot distribute messages; the only non-paid way to make posts visible beyond followers is to use hashtags (Bossetta, 2018). Finally, it is to be stressed that in public discourse Instagram is strongly associated with celebrities and influencers, who visualize intimate details of their personal life for their followers.

The literature demonstrates that politicians use images to pursue personalization strategies on both platforms. Visuals have important added value to politicians' Facebook posts with their more personal and emotional features, and the presence of personalization is higher in the case of politicians' Facebook posts that contain visuals than those without visuals (Metz, Kruikemeier & Lecheler, 2019). Communication on Instagram is predominantly based on self-branding snapshots that typically aim to convey "immediacy, mobility and intimacy" (Ekman & Widholm, 2017, p.18). Since all these studies focus on single platforms, we have no knowledge regarding cross-platform differences and similarities in personalized visual communication.

While we expect that on both platforms visuals are primarily used for candidate personalization, based on the differences discussed above, we assume that visual political communication on Instagram is more informal and thereby more focused on the privatization dimension of personalization than on Facebook (H2), while on Instagram images should be used to display more informal aspects of candidates' life, relevant to the individualization dimension of personalization (H3). On Facebook, political actors are distinguished from ordinary users, as they appear as public figures; news consumption is common on the site; and politicians can draw upon textual cues more intensively to express political messages. Thereby Facebook is more suitable to highlight the candidate's formal, political self. In contrast, on Instagram politicians do not differ from ordinary users; political content rarely appears in the news feed; and due to the fact that users can rely less on textual or – because they are less likely to follow people they interact with offline - personal cues, visuals are extensively used to express something of the individual's personal character, similarly to the way highly followed celebrities and influencers represent themselves there. For these reasons, on Instagram politicians are under stronger pressure to exhibit their personal life and background rather than their political work.

The effects of visual tools on user engagement

Invariably, political actors' purpose is to influence voters through political communication. Hence, it is highly important to investigate how voters respond to candidates' visual communication on social media. There is a growing body of work that investigates the effects of different communicative elements of political actors' social media posts on user engagement (Bene, 2017; Heiss et al., 2019). User engagement is a proper outcome to measure the success of communication on both platforms, even if the reasons for engagement are different. On Facebook, triggering user engagement is a strategic goal in itself, as reactions, comments and shares can significantly increase the visibility of a particular post due to both the virality-based dissemination logic of the platform (Bene, 2017) and the engagement-centric operation of the filtering algorithm (Bucher, 2012). On Instagram, considering the lack of virality and the less invasive use of algorithmic filtering (Bossetta, 2018), the strategic relevance of user engagement is more limited, but it can still be perceived as a proxy of the popularity and success of a post. However, all previous research has focused on the content of the posts in general without a distinct attention on the effects of different visual cues. Therefore, we do not know what kind of images perform well on social media platforms. This is the third gap our research aims to address. Thus, we also focus on the questions of what types of visual tools trigger 'likes' as the most widely used and comparable reaction form (RQ2a) and what cross-platform similarities and differences we can identify in the liking response to politicians' visual communication (RQ2b).

Existing work extensively demonstrates that content that focuses on politicians' personal character and activity is more frequently liked on Facebook (Bene, 2017; Heiss et al., 2019; Gerodimos & Justinussen, 2015). In line with these findings, we expect that personalized images will be more liked on both platforms (H4), but based on the above discussion of cross-platform differences, we also hypothesize that on Facebook, users may be more open to formal, political work-related individualized images (H5), while on Instagram, privatized pictures should be more likely to be liked (H6).

Methods

Data

This research draws upon a unique dataset that includes all social media activities and several individual characteristics (gender, incumbency, etc.) of candidates who either reached at least 1 per cent of the votes in any of the 106 single-member districts or were

named in any of the first 30 places of a party list that received at least 0.5 per cent of votes (8 party lists) $(N = 633)^2$. While the level of Facebook adoption was extremely high across Hungarian politicians (82%), Instagram use was at an early development phase (10%). Of this dataset, this project considers those candidates who owned both Facebook and Instagram accounts at the time of the election (N = 51). Oppositional politicians (72%) and men (79%), are overrepresented among politicians who use both platforms, whose median age is 41. Our research focuses on all Facebook posts (N = 2925) and Instagram posts (N = 858) containing pictures posted from the official starting day of the 2018 Hungarian general election campaign to polling day (17th February to 8th April, 2018).³ On Facebook, 51 per cent of all posts included pictures, while on Instagram that proportion was 93 per cent (the remaining 7% was video content). The visual content and context of pictures were coded by undergraduates. As coding visual material may allow more space to subjective judgments than textual data, each post was coded by three independent coders, and we accept only those codes that were recorded by at least two coders. Figure 1 shows the activity distribution of politicians' image posting on both platforms.



Figure 1. Activity distribution of politicians' image posting

Variables

Since there is a lack of studies that ensure portable and adaptable analysis on visual data (Gerodimos, 2019), we have applied a combination of inductive and deductive qualitative visual content analysis. Inductive content analysis is useful when there is a gap in the existing literature on the topic (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008). We employed it on a random 10 percent of the images (N = 386) that were first open coded to create categories that focus specifically on the details of images, then these categories were grouped into higher categories. The aim of the inductive analysis was to formulate categories that describe the images in a detailed way and find the most appropriate groups of categories that help investigate as many aspects of the image as possible. After formulating a detailed and exhaustive coding scheme that covers the most evident characteristics of politicians' visual communication, we identified elements that made images more formal or informal. For this, we drew upon the experiences of the inductive analysis. Categories that we could not assign to the formal/informal dimensions are not removed from our investigation, as they still represent important indicators of visual political communication strategy, and they function as crucial control variables during the analysis. It is important to note that most categories are treated as non-mutually exclusive elements, and we coded them if they appeared in the pictures. Table 1 notes categories that are mutually exclusive.

Table 1.	Conceptualiza	ntion of categories		
Groups of categories	Category	Interpretation	Indicat or of ^a	Connection
	Photo	still image taken by a camera	G	
	Screenshot	snapshot of a display	G]
	Image macro	image with text, without party symbol	G	mutually
	Campaign flyer	image with text and separately indicated party symbol	F	exclusive categories
	Only text	although uploaded as an image, only text is visible	G	categories
	Cartoon	drawing/animation	G	
Туре	Montage	an image consisting several photos separated by a frame	G	
	Album ⁶	more photos per post	G	
	Selfie	a picture that someone has taken of oneself	Ι	
	Own content	a picture taken by the candidate or his/her staff	Р	
	Meaningful capture	additional information in the caption	G	
	Official	official environment	F	
	Campaign	campaign event	F	
Content	Policy	visual representation of policies	F	
Content	Non-political	without political message and personal information	Ι	
	Personal	personal life	Ι	
Deeple in	Candidate		Р	
People in pictures	Other politician		F	

Table 1. Conceptualization of categor	Fable 1	1. Conce	eptualization	of ca	itegori
---------------------------------------	---------	----------	---------------	-------	---------

	Family		Ι	
	member Ordinary		G	
	citizens			
Candidate	Official	e.g. suit, shirt, tie	F	
in the	clothing			mutually
picture	Casual	casual clothes, e.g. jeans, t-shirt	Ι	exclusive
	clothing			categories
	Campaign	e.g. t-shirt, coat or cap with party logo	F	categories
	clothing			
	Popular	e.g. movies, pop music, sport	Ι	
	culture			
Cultural/ political	Party symbol	official logo of candidate's party	F	
reference	Party colors	official colors of candidate's party	F	
reference	Hungarian	any appearance of the Hungarian flag	G	
	flag			
	Spontaneous	not pre-planned	Ι	mutually
Feature	Settled	pre-planned	F	exclusive
				categories
	Positive	optimistic tone, successes	G	
Sentiment	Negative	pessimistic tone, conflicts, criticisms	G	mutually
	Neutral	neither positive nor negative	G	exclusive categories
	Mixed	both positive and negative	G	Ũ

Note: a= general visual communication feature (G), personalization in general (P), formal feature of personalization

(F), and informal feature of personalization (I).

The aim of the first three groups of categories is to identify basic visual tools and their broader context. We identified the type of images to reveal their visual nature. First, we distinguished between different types of visual images, such as photo, screenshot, image macro, campaign flyer, only-text images, cartoon, montage, albums, and selfies. While most of these categories can be used both as formal or informal tools, selfies have a more informal nature, and campaign flyers are generally related to formal political objects. Second, we investigated whether the particular image is the candidate's own content.⁴ In our conceptualization this is one of the two indicators of personalization: if politicians distribute their own self-made visuals on their own personal pages to their own followers, the visual communication is regarded as highly personal. By introducing the category of 'meaningful caption' we can investigate the role of images in the posts. As we are interested only in the effects of visual elements on user engagement, this variable is also used to remove from the multivariate analysis those pictures where the caption makes a significant contribution to the post. Regarding *content*, we concentrated on what the images are about: 'official' political context, 'campaign', 'policy' issues, 'non-political topic' or the candidate's 'personal' background. While official, campaign and policyrelated content are used to present formal political objects, images of non-political and personal topics make posts more informal.

The category *people in pictures* shows the subjects of images. Furthermore, it refers to "connectivity" (Ekman & Widholm, 2017) through depicting 'candidates' on their own, with 'other politicians', 'family members', or 'ordinary citizens'. Our second crucial indicator of personalization is whether candidates appear in the images. Pictures of the politicians who own the social media profile are considered as personalized content in themselves. Images depicting politicians' family members are considered as informal, while pictures depicting other politicians are related to formal political work. It would be difficult to assess whether showing ordinary citizens in pictures contributes to convey a formal or informal image. However, as politicians are keen to apply this element in their visual communication, it is important for our coding scheme to be able to capture it. *Clothes* can also create connections: official and campaign clothing highlight the candidate's political role, while casual clothes create more informal impressions.

Cultural and political references help understand the cultural and political object of messages: through 'popular-cultural' references politicians can show their human face and create a more informal and ordinary atmosphere. 'Party symbols' such as colors and logos refer to the importance of the party, and thereby relate to the formal dimension. The use of the 'Hungarian flag' or its colors may aim to arouse national sentiments, but in itself this element cannot be connected to the formal or informal dimensions. *Features* and *sentiments* of the images are indicators of the overall nature of pictures. 'Spontaneous' pictures typically convey a more informal image than set-piece visuals. *Sentiment* is always an important aspect of any content analysis of politicians' communication. In order to identify 'sentiment', textual cues were also taken into account.

To investigate what features can be considered as general characteristics of social media visual communication (RQ1a) and what are the platform-specific strategies (RQ1b) employed by candidates on Facebook and Instagram, the shares of the presence of these categories are compared on the two platforms. To answer the second research question, namely what types of visual tools trigger 'likes' as the most widely used and comparable user reaction form (RQ2a), and what cross-platform similarities and differences can be identified in the liking activity (RQ2b), these categories serve as independent variables in multivariate models where the number of likes ($M_{FACEBOOK}=219$; $SD_{FB}=734$; $M_{INSTAGRAM}=85$ $SD_I=226$) are the outcomes. The meaning of liking content on social media is not straightforward at all, but its name and visual appearance (a thumbs-up icon

on FB and a heart icon on Instagram) indicate that liking is designed to express some sort of agreement with the content. This is an instant, easily available and widely used form of reaction on both platforms, but an important difference beyond their visual design is that on Facebook five other instant reaction buttons representing different emotions are at the users' disposal, while on Instagram a 'like' is the only possible prompt reaction. Despite the wider choice available to users, 'like' remained the dominant form of reaction on Facebook, as during the Hungarian campaign, 88 per cent of all reactions entailed liking (Bene & Farkas, 2018).

To account for other potential confounding factors, several control variables are entered into the models that are summarized in Table 2. As our dependent variables are overdispersed count data and they are nested in the level of pages, we ran multilevel negative binomial regression models with a random intercept on the level of candidates.⁵

Level	control variable	code	Facebook		Ins	tagram
			Mean (SD)	Share (of all posts)	Mean (SD)	Share (of all posts)
	day of the post		mode = 51		mode = 51	
post level	Length of the text		141 (388)		103 (134)	
	No. of hashtags		0.6 (1.64)		3.47 (3.86)	
page level	No. of followers		26515 (82972)		956 (1634)	
	No of posts		91 (51)		51 (48)	
candidate level	Gender	0=male 1 =female		female = 16%		female = 32%
	Party affiliation	0= opp. party 1 = gov party		gov.party = 40%		gov.party = 18%
	Incumbency	0 = not incumbent 1 = incumbent		incumbent = 33%		incumbent = 23%
	Local political position	0 = not have 1 = major or local rep.		local politician = 45%		local politician = 41%

Table 2. Descriptives on the post- page- and candidate-level control variables.

Findings

Table 3 shows the extent to which our categories are present in the visual communication of each platform. To estimate the significance of differences between platforms, chi-squared tests are calculated for each category. As a robustness check, chi-squared tests are also performed on sub-samples without the posts of the three most active politicians by platform. Findings indicate that while the general patterns of visual communication are similar on the two platforms, significant variations exist in almost all categories. It is important to note that there is some overlap between the sites: 9 per cent of pictures posted on Facebook are also shared on Instagram, conversely, 30 per cent of Instagram pictures also appear on Facebook. The last column of Table 3 shows the characteristics of images that were present on both platforms.

Personalization in Politicians' Visual Communication

The findings show that the visual communication on both platforms is highly personalized, so our first hypothesis is supported. The majority of visuals on both platforms are self-made pictures depicting the candidates. However, visual communication on Instagram is much more personalized than on Facebook. While on Facebook only little more than 50% of images are self-made and depict the candidate, on Instagram 9 out of 10 visuals are original content, and two-thirds of them show the politicians who own the profile. Overall, on Facebook 66% of images can be considered personalized in terms of containing self-made and/or candidate-focused pictures, while on Instagram this is true for 95% of the posts. Visuals that were posted on both platforms are also extremely personalized, with very similar distributions as in Instagram posts. It seems that while candidates post numerous non-personalized visuals on Facebook, only the personalized ones are cross-posted on Instagram.

Another major difference between the platforms is evident when we turn to the informal and formal elements of visual communication. Beyond the overall distribution, we calculated the share of our elements for personalized posts separately (6th and 7th column in Table 3), but the main patterns are the same as in the total sample. With the exception of campaign clothing, each formal element is significantly more employed on Facebook than Instagram, while the informal elements are presented in larger degree on Instagram than Facebook. Therefore, our second and third hypotheses are supported. Visuals on Facebook are predominantly about the campaign, they are taken in official settings and

the candidates usually appear in official clothes. Many of them are campaign flyers, they often show official contexts or transmit policy messages, and other politicians, logos and party colors are also frequently depicted. On Instagram, the pictures are more often spontaneous and candidates are as often shown in casual as in official dress. A large number of images show family members, convey non-political or personal messages, and are frequently taken as selfies. However, it is important to stress that formal elements are also largely present on Instagram. Most posts are campaign-related, and even if their shares are lower than on Facebook, official clothing, other politicians, logos, party colors and settled design are still frequently employed on Instagram. It seems that while individualization has a strong presence on both platforms, it is dominant on Facebook, while on Instagram it is mingled with privatization. This conclusion indicates that beyond the common patterns, on Instagram visual communication is more of a tool to exhibit the 'human' sides of politicians, while on Facebook it is used to provide insights into candidates' political work. As for cross-posted images, the characteristics of these are more similar to Instagram than Facebook visuals, as they generally feature more informal and fewer formal elements.

Beyond Personalization: General features of Politicians' Visual Communication

Beyond the patterns of personalized communication, our results show several interesting characteristics of visual communication in general. Turning to the formal features, the large majority of pictures are photos on both platforms, but their percentage is much higher on Instagram. While pictures are usually posted separately, uploading several photos as an album is quite usual on Facebook, while exceptional on Instagram. Although texts are usually added to pictures (91 per cent on Instagram, and 88 per cent on Facebook), their function differs on the two sites. Text carries additional information beyond the pictures in almost half of the posts on Facebook, while on Instagram it usually only accompanies pictures without any meaningful contribution. Also, politicians are eager to post visuals of ordinary citizens on both platforms, and in about a third of these posts (39% on Facebook and 33% on Instagram) they are presented in the company of the candidates. Further, while national symbols frequently feature in pictures, cultural references are equally exceptional on both sites.

The sentiment of posts with pictures is predominantly positive, while content with negative or mixed sentiments is an exception. This is true for both platforms, but visual communication on Instagram seems to be somewhat more positive.

Table 3. Patterns of visual communication on Facebook and Instagram. (Occurrences in percentages) (significant deviations are in bold)

Groups of	Category	%	%	P (Chi-	% in	% in	Cross-posted
categories		Facebook (N)	Instagram (N)	Squared test)	personali zed posts (FB)	personalized posts (I)	
	Photo	57.4% (2925)	91.6% (858)	<.001	78.3% (1934)	95.9% (816)	89% (283)
	Screenshot	2.2% (2925)	0.5% (858)	<.001	0.7% (1934)	0.4% (816)	0.1% (283)
	Image macro	6.3% (2925)	2.1% (858)	<.001	1.2% (1934)	1.4% (816)	2.8% (283)
	Campaign flyer	31.7% (2925)	5.5% (858)	<.001	19.2% (1934)	2.3% (816)	7.5% (283)
	Only text	1.1% (2925)	0.0% (858)	<.01ª	0% (1934)	0.0% (816)	0% (283)
Туре	Cartoon	1.3% (2925)	0.3% (858)	<.05	0.2% (1934)	0.0% (816)	0% (283)
	Montage	2% (2893)	2.1% (858)	>.05	2.6% (1934)	2.2% (816)	2.5% (283)
	Album	31.1% (2893)	5.9% (858)	<.001	43.7% (1934)	6.1% (816)	23.5% (283)
	Selfie	3% (2893)	11.1% (858)	<.001	4.4% (1934)	11.8% (816)	13.2% (283)
	OWN CONTENT	53.9% (2893)	91.6% (858)	<.001	80.6% (1934)	96.3% (816)	86.5% (283)
	Meaningful caption	47.4% (2893)	20.3% (858)	<.001	52% (1934)	20.6% (816)	45.2% (283)
Content	Official	9.5% (2893)	6% (858)	<.01	13.5% (1934)	6.4% (816)	7.8% (283)
	Campaign	69.4% (2893)	60.5% (858)	<.001	66.9% (1934)	59.9% (816)	60.9% (283)
	Policy	11.7 % (2893)	3.5% (858)	<.001	10.3% (1934)	3.3% (816)	5.7% (283)
	Non-political	8.5% (2893)	12.5% (858)	<.001	8% (1934)	11.4% (816)	10.7% (283)
	Personal	3.9% (2893)	16.6% (858)	<.001	5.7% (1934)	17.4% (816)	13.2% (283)
People in pictures	CANDIDATE	51.9% (2893)	67.8% (858)	<.001	77.7% (1934)	71.3% (816)	77.9% (283)

	Other politician	24.4% (2893)	15.6% (858)	<.001	22.3% (1934)	15.9% (816)	21.7% (283)
	Family member	1.7% (2893)	6.1% (858)	<.001	2.5% (1934)	6.4% (816)	5.3% (283)
	Ordinary citizens	30.5% (2893)	27.5% (858)	>.05 ^b	38.2% (1934)	27.9% (816)	31% (283)
	Official clothing	73.1% (1477)	47.8% (563)	<.001	73.1% (1477)	47.8% (563)	57.7% (215)
Candidate in the picture	Casual clothing	23.7% (1477)	46.4% (563)	<.001	23.7% (1477)	46.4% (563)	35.8% (215)
	Campaign clothing	2.8% (1477)	5% (563)	<.05ª	2.8% (1477)	5% (563)	5.1% (215)
	Popular culture	1.5% (2893)	1.7% (858)	>.05	1.4% (1934)	1.6% (816)	1.4% (283)
Cultural/political	Logo	34% (2893)	29.6% (858)	<.05	32.9% (1934)	28.9% (816)	24.6% (283)
reference	Party colors	34.2% (2893)	28.9% (858)	<.01	27.6% (1934)	28.1% (816)	16.3% (283)
	Hungarian flag	12.1% (2893)	7.2% (858)	<.001ª	73.% (1934)	5.9% (816)	8.9% (283)
Feature	Spontaneous	43.6% (2777)	50.2% (858)	<.001ª	48.5% (1911)	52.1% (816)	38.7% (283)
	Settled	56.4% (2777)	49.8% (858)	<.001ª	51.5% (1911)	47.9% (816)	61.3% (283)
Sentiment	Positive	57.1% (2604)	64.4% (825)	<.001ª	63.7% (1805)	64.9% (774)	70% (266)
	Negative	6.1% (2604)	1.2% (825)	<.001	2% (1805)	1% (774)	1.5% (266)
	Neutral	28.6% (2604)	31% (825)	>.05 ^b	29.5% (1805)	31.1% (774)	22.2% (266)
	Mixed	8.2% (2604)	3.4% (825)	<.001	4.8% (1805)	3% (774)	6% (266)

Notes: Formal elements are highlighted with dark gray and informal elements with light gray. Elements defining personalization is bolded and uppercased. The fluctuation of sample size across categories is due to the fact that for multiple choice items cases were removed where all three coders marked different values. ^a = it is not significant (p>0.05) when the three most active politicians for each platform are removed from the analysis. ^b = it is significant (p<0.05) when the three most active politicians for each platform are removed from the analysis.

Visual communication and user engagement

Turning to the engagement patterns associated with different visual communication tools, the results of multilevel negative binomial regression models are shown in Table 4. In order to avoid bias due to captions, the analyses have been limited to posts where textual content does not carry any additional information. This means that 47.4% of Facebook (N=1371), and 20.3% of Instagram (N=174) posts were removed from the original dataset for this analysis.

Results provide mixed support to our hypotheses. On both platforms, users are more likely to like pictures where the candidates are featured. Consequently H4, claiming that personalized images will be more liked on both platforms, is supported. On Facebook, where politicians use many imported pictures, candidates' own images are more popular. No significant relationship can be found on Instagram, but this may be due to the fact that on this platform almost all pictures are self-made, so the variance of this variable is low. Turning to the formal and informal elements, it seems that on Facebook people particularly like visuals where political work is more at the forefront, such as policy content and posts where logos appear, while on Instagram, these visual tools do not trigger more reactions. Further, campaign flyers are also significantly less frequently liked on Instagram. However, several results contradict our expectations, such as the higher popularity of non-political content on Facebook. Also, in some cases we found similar patterns on both platforms. Some informal elements exhibit the same patterns on both platforms. Depiction of family members is popular, while spontaneous pictures are unpopular among users on both platforms. Further, selfies, personal content and references to popular cultural objects show no significant relationship with likes on either platform. Overall, findings support H5, as formal elements are rather favored on Facebook but not on Instagram. However, this does not mean that informal elements are more popular on Instagram: actually, only one informal communication tool, the appearance of family members, seems to provoke more likes from Instagram followers, but this is also true for Facebook. Consequently, we need to reject our H6 as privatized images are not more popular on Instagram.

Groups	Category	Facebook	Instagram	
	Campaign flyer ^a	10 (.09)	34 (.09)***	
	Image macro ^a	.33 (.11)**	18 (.12)	
Туре	Montage ^a	28 (.17)	.05 (.14)	
Type	Album	33 (.07)***	00 (.08)	
	Selfie	08 (.13)	08 (.05)	
	OWN CONTENT	.48 (.08)***	11 (.08)	
Content	Official	01 (.13)	03 (.09)	
	Campaign	.18 (.10)	.05 (.06)	
	Policy	.24 (.11)*	14 (.16)	

Table 4. Random-intercept (candidate-level) negative binomial regression estimates for the number of likes on candidates' posts

	Non-political	.43 (.12)***	12 (.07)
	Personal	.04 (.15)	.01 (.06)
	CANDIDATE	.32 (.06)***	.23 (.04)***
People in pictures	Other politician	.03 (.05)	.01 (.04)
	Family member	.64 (.18)***	. 26 (.06)***
	Ordinary citizens	06 (.06)	16 (.03)***
	Popular culture	.27 (.19)	.17 (.11)
Cultural/political reference	Logo	.15 (.06)*	01 (.05)
	Party colors	17 (.06)**	02 (.05)
	Hungarian flag	17 (.07)*	.08 (.06)
Feature	Spontaneous ^b	21 (.06)***	11 (.04)**
	Positive ^c	.18 (.06)**	.16 (.04)***
Sentiment	Negative ^c	43 (.12)***	11 (.16)
	Mixed ^c	07 (.10)	03 (.11)
	Day	.01 (.00)***	.00 (.00)***
	Length of text	.00 (.00)	00 (.00)
	Number of hashtags	01 (.02)	.01 (.01)
Controls	Number of followers	.00 (.00)***	.00 (.00)***
Controls	Number of posts	.00 (.00)	.00 (.00)
	Party	1.70 (.54)**	.27 (.33)
	Gender	.41 (.34)	.22 (.23)
	Incumbent	.92 (.37)*	.18 (.23)
	Local position	-1.03 (.44)*	12 (.31)
	Constant	2.69 (.30)***	3.21 (.17)***
	Variance of random intercept	.81 (.90)	.30 (.55)
	Log-likelihood	-6806	-2631
	Disp. Parameter	1.919 (.076)	12.207 (.89)
	AIC	13682	5333
	N Level 1/Level 2	1277/49	629/46

Note: Formal elements are highlighted with dark gray and informal elements with light gray. Elements defining personalization is bolded and uppercased. Standard errors are in parentheses. p < .10; p < .05; p < .01; p < .01

Discussion and Conclusion

This study has investigated Hungarian politicians' visual communication on Facebook and Instagram. The research was designed to bridge three gaps in the literature: (1) it investigates images as objects of interest on their own; (2) moves beyond the singleplatform approach; and (3) explores the engagement patterns associated with the use of different visual tools. Although the primary purpose of the study is explorative, it has also tested hypotheses regarding the personalized nature of visual communication and its cross-platform variations.

Our findings on political actors' visual communication strategies on social media are in line with those of text-based research (see Enli & Skogerbø, 2013): the presence of personalization in visual tools is highly significant, as politicians often upload images that depict themselves and their own visual content, and these images are also popular among their followers on both Facebook and Instagram. Thus, personalization can be considered as a general feature of social media visual communication. However, there are major differences in the level of personalization of visual communication between the two platforms, as images are much more personalized on Instagram than Facebook.

When it comes to the type of personalization employed by candidates, the results show further differences between the two platforms. Findings suggest that Instagram has a more informal character with more spontaneous, non-political and casual images, while on Facebook more formal, settled and 'political' visuals are used by politicians. As for the effects of visual cues, it seems that formal visual elements are more popular on Facebook than Instagram, however informal elements are not more likely to be liked by Instagram users. It can be said that visual communication on Instagram is related more to the privatization dimension of personalization, while on Facebook the individualization component is more frequently displayed.

Interestingly, images that were posted on both platforms are closer to a typical Instagram than Facebook post. It seems that politicians post their Instagram-compatible Facebook images on Instagram, too. This indicates that politicians strategically use visual communication on these platforms, based on a more or less definite notion about the types of visuals that conform to the norms and demands of the users of these social media sites. However, this notion does not seem to be particularly reflective to users' observable preferences: according to our findings, there is only a minor overlap between the visual elements preferred by politicians and users. Nonetheless, Instagram is a truly new phenomenon in political communication in Hungary. This was the first election when politicians intensively used it, therefore they may have lacked the relevant expertise needed to run an effective campaign on it. Future studies that specifically focus on

temporal dynamics of the supply and demand of visual elements could confirm this preliminary observation.

An important further step could be the investigation of differences in visual communication depending on party affiliation. Furthermore, it would be interesting to understand how politicians run their pages. An important question is if they draw upon external experts and their parties' guidelines or their social media strategy is shaped only by themselves in a more amateur or intuitive trial-and-error way. It would also be important to assess gender-specific differences in visual communication. Additionally, this study suggests that it is necessary to adopt a cross-platform approach when investigating visual communication, as specific features of the particular platforms have different effects on usage patterns (Bossetta, 2018). Future studies should expand the investigation to platforms that we cannot explore here, because in the Hungarian context they are not extensively used for political communication. Also, while this is a first attempt to measure the engagement patterns associated with different forms of visual communication, it would be useful to combine visual and text-based methods in future research on user engagement. While some studies take into account both textual and visual elements of social media posts when investigating effects on user engagement (Bene, 2017; Heiss et al., 2019), their conceptual framework and category system does not distinguish between visuals and texts. It could be a major move forward in the study of user engagement if visual and textual elements were distinctly categorized. We hope that our coding scheme can contribute to this endeavor.

This study has several limitations. First, we have ignored a crucial type of visual communication, i.e. videos. The reason is that we do not think that the same coding scheme can be applied for images and videos. However, as videos may be an even more neglected topic in political communication than images, it would be vitally important to focus on its role and usage in political communication. Second, we are aware that content analysis carried out by multiple coders cannot cover the wide array of visual elements and meanings conveyed by images. Third, this method cannot handle the connections between the elements of the images that shape the meaning and message of the image. Future application of qualitative approaches should help bridge these gaps.

Notes

- Defining what visuals are is challenging, since authors from different visual research fields highlight different aspects of the notion (see Rose, 2001; Kenney, 2008). Our investigation is limited to images uploaded to social media platforms: photos, screenshots, drawings, campaign flyers, and image macros, while moving images are excluded from the analysis.
- 2. Data were collected by the authors and undergraduates from the University of Szeged under the administration of Norbert Merkovity.
- 3. Facebook posts were collected by using the Phyton-based facebook-page-post-scraper package (see https://github.com/minimaxir/facebook-page-post-scraper), while for downloading Instagram content we used the instagram-scraper package (see https://github.com/rarcega/instagram-scraper) via Facebook API. At the time of the data collection, the access to collect data from public Facebook pages were not limited or restricted.
- 4. An image is the candidate's own content if it has been taken by the candidate or his/her staff, and the candidate shares it as his/her own content that is usually related to the campaign or the candidate's weekdays. The originality of the image has been decided by paying attention to the whole post and the caption as well: if the candidate did not indicate that the image was shared from another source, e.g. other political actors, citizens or media, or it was not an obviously re-used image (widely-circulated photos about political actors, imported illustrations etc.), we coded it as an own content.
- 5. For the analysis, we used glmmADMB R package.
- 6. In the case of albums, only the opening pictures were coded.

References

Barnhurst, Kevin G., and Kelly Quinn. 2012. "Political Visions: Visual Studies in Political Communication." In *The SAGE Handbook of Political Communication*, London: SAGE Publications Ltd, 276–91.

Bene, Marton. 2017. "Go Viral on the Facebook! Interactions between Candidates and Followers on Facebook during the Hungarian General Election Campaign of 2014." *Information, Communication & Society* 20(4): 513–29.

Bene, Márton, and Xénia Farkas. 2018. "Kövess, Reagálj, Oszd Meg! A Közösségi Média a 2018-as Országgyűlési Választási Kampányban." In *Várakozások És Valóságok*.

Parlamenti Választás 2018., eds. Balázs Böcskei and Andrea Szabó. Budapest: MTA TK PTI, Napvilág Kiadó, 410–424.

Bossetta, Michael. 2018. "The Digital Architectures of Social Media: Comparing Political Campaigning on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat in the 2016 U.S. Election." *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly* 95(2): 471–96.

boyd, danah. 2014. *It's Complicated: The Social Lives of Networked Teens*. 1 edition. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Bucher, Taina. 2012. "Want to Be on the Top? Algorithmic Power and the Threat of Invisibility on Facebook." *New Media & Society* 14(7): 1164–80.

Bucher, Taina, and Anne Helmond. 2018. "The Affordances of Social Media Platforms." In *The SAGE Handbook of Social Media*, eds. Jean Burgess, Thomas Poell, and Alice Marwick. London: Sage, 223–253.

Ekman, Mattias, and Andreas Widholm. 2017. "Political Communication in an Age of Visual Connectivity: Exploring Instagram Practices among Swedish Politicians." *Northern Lights* 15(1): 15–32.

Elo, Satu, and Helvi Kyngäs. 2008. "The Qualitative Content Analysis Process." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 62(1): 107–15.

Enli, Gunn Sara, and Eli Skogerbø. 2013. "Personalized Campaigns in Party-Centered Politics: Twitter and Facebook as Arenas for Political Communication." *Information, Communication & Society* 16(5): 757–74.

Gerodimos, Roman. 2019. "The Interdisciplinary Roots and Digital Branches of Visual Political Communication Research." In *Visual Political Communication*, eds. Anastasia Veneti, Daniel Jackson, and Darren G. Lilleker. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 53–73.

Goffman, Erving. 1959. *The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life*. 1 edition. New York, NY: Anchor.

Grabe, Maria Elizabeth, and Erik Page Bucy. 2009. *Image Bite Politics: News and the Visual Framing of Elections*. Oxford University Press.

Graber, Doris A. 1996. "Say It with Pictures." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 546: 85–96.

Hand, Martin. 2012. Ubiquitous Photography. 1 edition. Cambridge: Polity.

Heiss, Raffael, Desiree Schmuck, and Jörg Matthes. 2019. "What Drives Interaction in Political Actors' Facebook Posts? Profile and Content Predictors of User Engagement and Political Actors' Reactions." *Information, Communication & Society* 22(10): 1497–1513.

Hermans, Liesbeth, and Maurice Vergeer. 2012. "Personalization in E-Campaigning: A Cross-National Comparison of Personalization Strategies Used on Candidate Websites of 17 Countries in EP Elections 2009." *New Media & Society* 15(1): 72–92.

Keller, Tobias R., and Katharina Kleinen-von Königslöw. 2018. "Pseudo-Discursive, Mobilizing, Emotional, and Entertaining: Identifying Four Successful Communication Styles of Political Actors on Social Media during the 2015 Swiss National Elections." *Journal of Information Technology & Politics* 15(4): 358–77.

Kenney, Keith. 2008. Visual Communication Research Designs. Taylor & Francis.

Lalancette, Mireille, and Vincent Raynauld. 2017. "The Power of Political Image: Justin Trudeau, Instagram, and Celebrity Politics." *American Behavioral Scientist* 63(7): 888–924.

Liebhart, Karin, and Petra Bernhardt. 2017. "Political Storytelling on Instagram: Key Aspects of Alexander Van Der Bellen's Successful 2016 Presidential Election Campaign." *Media and Communication* 5(4): 15–25.

McAllister, Ian. 2007. The personalization of politics. In R. J. Dalton & H.-D. Klingemann (Eds.), *The Oxford handbooks of political science: The Oxford handbook of political behaviour*. Oxford: Oxford University Press: 571–588

Messaris, Paul. 2019. "The Digital Transformation of Visual Politics." In *Visual Political Communication*, eds. Anastasia Veneti, Daniel Jackson, and Darren G. Lilleker. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 17–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18729-3_2

Metz, Manon, Sanne Kruikemeier, and Sophie Lecheler. 2019. "Personalization of Politics on Facebook: Examining the Content and Effects of Professional, Emotional and Private Self-Personalization." *Information, Communication & Society* 0(0): 1–18.

Newman, N., Fletcher, R., Kalegeropoulos, A., & Nielsen, R. K. 2019. Reuters Institute Digital News Report, 2019. Reuters Institute, University of Oxford.

Perrin, Andrew, and Monica Anderson. 2019. "Share of U.S. Adults Using Social Media, Including Facebook, Is Mostly Unchanged since 2018." *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/10/share-of-u-s-adults-using-socialmedia-including-facebook-is-mostly-unchanged-since-2018/ (March 29, 2020).

Poulakidakos, Stamatis, and Iliana Giannouli. 2019. "Greek Political Leaders on Instagram: Between 'Soft' and 'Hard' Personalization." In *Visual Political Communication*, eds. Anastasia Veneti, Daniel Jackson, and Darren G. Lilleker. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 187–206.

Rose, Gillian. 2001. Visual Methodologies: An Introduction to the Interpretation of Visual Materials. SAGE.

Russmann, Uta, Jakob Svensson, and Anders Olof Larsson. 2019. "Political Parties and Their Pictures: Visual Communication on Instagram in Swedish and Norwegian Election Campaigns." In *Visual Political Communication*, eds. Anastasia Veneti, Daniel Jackson, and Darren G. Lilleker. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 119–44.

Schill, Dan. 2012. "The Visual Image and the Political Image: A Review of Visual Communication Research in the Field of Political Communication." *Review of Communication* 12(2): 118–42.

Small, Tamar A. 2016. "Parties, Leaders, and Online Personalization: Twitter in Canadian Electoral Politics." In *Twitter and Elections around the World Campaigning in 140 Characters or Less*, eds. Richard Davis, Christina Holtz Bacha, and Marion R. Just. New York: Routledge.

Stocchetti, Matteo. 2011. "Images: Who Gets What, When and How?" In *Images in Use. Towards the Critical Analysis of Visual Communication.*, eds. Matteo Stocchetti and Kukkonen Karin. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company, 11–37.

Stout, Daniel. 2019. Social Media Statistics: Top Social Networks by Popularity. Retrieved March 29, 2020, from https://dustinstout.com/social-media-statistics/

Van Aelst, Peter, Tamir Sheafer, and James Stanyer. 2012. "The Personalization of Mediated Political Communication: A Review of Concepts, Operationalizations and Key Findings." *Journalism* 13(2): 203–20.

Van Zoonen, Liesbet. 2006. "The Personal, the Political and the Popular: A Woman's Guide to Celebrity Politics." *European Journal of Cultural Studies* 9(3): 287–301.

Veneti, Anastasia, Daniel Jackson, and Darren G. Lilleker, eds. 2019. *Visual Political Communication*. 1st ed. 2019 edition. Palgrave Macmillan.

Zhao, Shanyang, Sherri Grasmuck, and Jason Martin. 2008. "Identity Construction on Facebook: Digital Empowerment in Anchored Relationships." *Computers in Human Behavior* 24: 1816–36.

Article 2

Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and nonpopulist parties across 28 countries

Xénia Farkas, Daniel Jackson, Paweł Baranowski, Márton Bene, Uta Russmann, Anastasia Veneti

Originally published:

Farkas, X., Jackson, D., Baranowski, P., Bene, M., Russmann, U., & Veneti, A. (2022). Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries. *European Journal of Communication*, Online first, 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02673231221082238</u> Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and nonpopulist parties across 28 countries

Xénia Farkas⁸, Daniel Jackson⁹, Paweł Baranowski¹⁰, Márton Bene¹¹, Uta Russmann¹², Anastasia Veneti¹³

This version is the accepted manuscript of the following article:

Farkas, X., Jackson, D., Baranowski, P., Bene, M., Russmann, U., & Veneti, A. (2022). Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and nonpopulist parties across 28 countries. *European Journal of Communication*, Online first https://doi.org/10.1177/02673231221082238

Abstract

Along with the recent boom in support of populist movements in Europe, social media seems to be the ideal place for their interaction with the public. While Facebook has been thoroughly explored for populist campaigning, there is still scarce research on visual aspects of their communication. Analyzing the 2019 European Parliament campaign, this study seeks to determine the distinct characteristics of a populist visual communication style and its differences in relation to the non-populist parties. Applying quantitative content analysis to the images (N=997) posted on Facebook by political parties from 28 countries enabled us to show that there is a predominance of similarities in both communication styles. Although populists demonstrated a higher propensity to depict their leader and use national symbols, these were exceptions to the overwhelming evidence of uniformity in campaigning methods. Hence, we argue that despite evidence

⁸ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary. https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9448-1471

⁹ Bournemouth University, United Kingdom. https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8833-9476

¹⁰ University of Wrocław, Poland. https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2916-4159

¹¹ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Eötvös Loránd University, Hungary. https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0177-9717

¹² University of Innsbruck, Austria. http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8684-6976

¹³ Bournemouth University, United Kingdom. https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6449-9830

Corresponding Author:

Xénia Farkas, Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence, Tóth Kálmán u. 4, H-1097 Budapest, Hungary. Email: farkas.xenia@tk.hu

of textual differences, populist communication does not explicitly manifest through images.

Keywords: visual communication, political communication, populism, Facebook, elections

Introduction

As political communication research undergoes a 'visual turn' (see Authors, 2019; Bucy and Joo, 2021), increased attention has been paid to the resonant power of images to evoke strong emotions (e.g. Coleman and Wu, 2015), to act as a source of political information that are processed quickly (e.g Graber, 1996), and to shape attitudes and behaviours (e.g. Banducci et al., 2008). On account of these characteristics, some have argued that there is a natural fit between populists and visual communication (Kriesi, 2014), which recent empirical evidence would seem to support. For example, the Austrian FPÖ has its own TV-/video-studio (Author, 2021), the Sweden Democrats use visuals to share more private moments than non-populist parties (Ekman and Widholm, 2017), while populists such as Trump have privileged patriotic symbols in their visual campaigning strategy (Muñoz and Towner, 2017). Given the visual cultures that prevail on such platforms (Larsson, 2020), social media has been central to these debates. Indeed, some have argued that there are 'mutual affordances' between populism and social media that have facilitated the rise of populism in many Western democracies (Hopster, 2020).

It is therefore of growing importance to understand how populist politicians are using the visual affordances of social media, and whether a distinct populist visual communication style exists. This becomes more urgent when we consider that, so far, studies on populist communication have largely focused on textual elements which yield only "an incomplete picture of what populism is" (Bucy and Joo, 2021, p. 11). While an emergent body of work examines populist visual communication practices (e.g. Bast, 2021; Mendonça and Caetano, 2021), single-country studies still prevail, and only through further research across multiple national contexts and electoral settings will we understand the dynamics of populist and non-populist visual campaigning styles.

In this paper, we investigate the differences and similarities between populist and nonpopulist actors' Facebook-based visual communication. We apply a quantitative visual content analysis focusing on still images on a random sample (N=997) of the imagebased political communication of parties' Facebook pages from the 28 EU countries in the 2019 European Parliamentary (EP) campaign. Despite the expectations of the literature, we do not find a strikingly distinctive populist visual communication style, which leads us to consider the explanations for this. In so doing, we argue that visually, populist parties more resemble non-populists than vice versa; a point that opens up a number of reflections on the nature of campaigning on social media. Among other explanations, this convergence may be the consequence of the increasing level of professionalization of digital campaigning that offers rather uniform patterns of visual communication.

Populism: approaches and features

Our work applies two key approaches in the study of populism: an actor-centric approach and a communication-centric approach. First, as we compare the communication patterns of pre-defined populists and non-populist parties, we follow the actor-centric approach that defines populism as a thin-centred ideology "that considers society to be ultimately separated into two homogeneous and antagonistic groups, 'the pure people' versus 'the corrupt elite', and which argues that politics should be an expression of the volonté générale (general will) of the people" (Mudde, 2004, p. 562). Mudde's (2004) approach is often used to differentiate between populist and non-populist actors, and our empirical investigation draws upon such categorization. Nevertheless, while our research is designed to identify similarities and differences in populists and non-populists' communication, our hypotheses are motivated by the approach that considers populism a communication style. For this, we apply de Vreese and colleagues' (2018) communication approach, where the main dimensions of populist political actors' communication are (1) people-centrism, (2) anti-elitism, (3) and reference to out-groups (de Vreese et al., 2018). However, as these are all rather content-related dimensions, we supplement it with Moffitt's (2016) political style approach, which allows us to focus on the symbolically mediated performances, specifically the visual aspects. In line with that, these content-dimensions are supplemented with two style features, (4) bad manners, and (5) crisis-communication.

Beside these main dimensions, and beyond the conceptual debate about the definition of populism, research identified several additional characteristics and recurring elements that are not its constitutive features, but widely characterize populist communication. The role of the leaders is often emphasized in populist communication, who are one of 'the

people', but also represent them, thus they typically appear as ordinary and extraordinary at the same time (van Zoonen, 2005). The 'one of you' image is often conveyed by depicting the leader's physical proximity to ordinary people and involvement in ordinary activities. For the extraordinary image, the leader must show the ability to be the voice of 'the people' by showing their "strong, virile and healthy" character (Moffitt, 2016, p. 71). Further, crisis and threat communication involve emotionalization and simplification. Emotional and passionate performances can not only bring the leaders closer to 'the people', but by arousing negative emotions, populists can enhance the feeling of being threatened by 'the elite' or 'the others'. Simplification is also an important part of this toolkit: populists are often "offering simple answers for the crisis, and advocating the simplification of political institutions and processes" (Moffitt, 2016, p. 131). Crisis could be further emphasized both rhetorically and visually by representing military and armed forces.

Populism, social media and visuals

Previous studies have shown that social media platforms are particularly suitable for populist communication. Engesser and colleagues (2017) argue that social media platforms and the logic of connective action – identified by Bennett and Segerberg (2012) as a driver of political activity on these platforms – provide a great opportunity for populist actors to spread and articulate their ideas. Here, personal action frames that are under-specified and open to different interpretations and personal narratives can spread well, which fits well with the people-centric and anti-elite character of populist communication. Indeed, existing studies showed that populist appeals spread well on social media, and users are eager to react, comment on, and share populist messages (Authors, 2021). Also, the fact that social media messages can reach users without the interference of journalist gatekeepers creates an appropriate context for bad mannered-style communication, as well as oversimplified anti-elitist, and exclusionary messages. News media frequently present populist messages in a highly critical frame, highlighting their contradictions and adding important contextual details (Wettstein et al., 2018). On social media, populist messages can spread in an unfiltered way.

On the face of it, the extensive opportunities of image-based visual communication on social media may also benefit populist actors. Visuals¹⁴, such as nonverbal displays, can effectively shape emotional attitudes (Coleman and Wu, 2015), thus images might be a powerful way of populist emotionalization on social media. As for negativity, visuals are suitable to express polarized topics in a pretended moderated way by applying a communicative camouflage through the creation of divergent and ambivalent pictures, instead of straightforward and recognizable symbols (Adami, 2020), and their meanings are not bound to language barriers (Hokka and Nelimarkka, 2019). Further, images can transmit messages that are easier to understand than verbal messages (Graber, 1996), they are able to cut down complex political issues into oversimplified visual messages (Zelizer, 2010), and hence, they might be highly useful tools of populist simplification. Indeed, Larsson (2020) finds that compared with non-populist parties, populists could achieve higher user engagement on Facebook with their visual posts.

While it seems that populist actors can benefit from the visual culture of social media, it is unclear if there is a distinct visual communication style characterizing populist actors. While for textual discourse there is an expanding body of literature documenting how populist communication differs from non-populist, and identifies the ingredients of populist communication (Aalberg et al, 2016), our knowledge is more limited when it comes to the visual aspects of communication. One strand of existing literature examines the visual framing that politicians (including populist) are subject to in mainstream media (while acknowledging that politicians are far from passive objects in this process). In the most comprehensive presentation of populist visual framing so far, based on US candidates' depiction in television coverage from 1992 to 2004, Grabe and Bucy (2009) define the visual elements of the "Populist Campaigner" frame (p. 291) and distinguish two broad categories: mass appeal and ordinariness. Mass appeal refers to the depiction of celebrities, large audiences, approving audiences, and interaction with crowds, while ordinariness contains visual categories of informal attire, casual dress, athletic clothing, ordinary people and physical activity.

A second strand of the literature focuses more on populist actors' visual communication styles and strategies. Gimenez and Schwarz (2016), for example, examine the visual communication styles of the French National Front and the Swiss People's Party,

¹⁴ While visuals can be understood as both still and moving images, our research focuses only on still images (e.g. photographs), and when we use the term 'visual' we refer only to still images.
describing the different visual construction of 'the people' and 'proximity to the people' by differentiating between the depiction of "being with the people, addressing the people and representing the people" (p. 226). Wodak and Forchtner (2014) stressed additional performative elements of right-wing populist leaders, such as the celebrity culture-like self-presentation by the careful selection of meeting places, clothes and the people who are depicted with the politicians. Analysing the visual self-representation of Jair Bolsonaro, Mendonça and Caetano (2021) identify three main groups of populist images: (1) showing ordinariness by mirroring the people; (2) performing extraordinariness by bringing ordinary elements into extraordinary situations; and (3) presenting symbols of power. Investigating Trump's technological performance in the 2016 U.S. campaign, Baldwin-Philippi (2018) argues that amateur production techniques, such as the low quality of images, poorly shot or pixelated images are features of populist communication. Focusing on right-wing populist actors on Instagram, Bast (2021) showed that populist visual messages are similar to non-populist visual political communication in terms of showing expertise and trustworthiness, popularity, as well as private and positive content.

Finally, there are a few studies with a general focus on visual political communication that describe some specific populist features. Ekman and Widholm (2017) analyzed Swedish politicians' Instagram communication and found that right-wing populists are keen on sharing more private content than non-populists. Moreover, investigating election posters in online and offline campaigns, Johansson and Holtz-Bacha (2019) argue that posters are more used for negative campaigning in the case of populist parties.

Research question and hypotheses

Amidst this growing literature on the visual aspects of populist communication, a number of shortcomings still remain. First, studies often concentrate on a few specific elements rather than offering a more overarching understanding about populist communication. Second, these studies are mainly single-country studies focusing on a few, mostly rightwing populist leaders, thus it is very difficult to generalize their findings. Third, investigating solely populist actors' communication means that fundamental questions remain unanswered, such as what are the differences between populist and non-populist visual communication? Is there a specific way in which populists use images on social media? These are highly relevant questions given the extended visual affordances offered by social media platforms. Since our knowledge on the distinctive features of populist communication is largely based on verbal and textual communication research, and populist visual communication is investigated mainly with a narrow right-wing populist focus, we need to go further and bridge these gaps. Hence, this paper carries out an exploratory research in a cross-country context, and applies an actor-focused approach in order to answer the following main research question:

RQ: What are the differences and similarities between populist and non-populist actors' image-based visual communication on Facebook during the 2019 European Parliament election campaign?

We address this research question through a focus on Facebook, as it is the most used social media platform in European countries (Newman et al., 2020).

To capture visual communication in detail we distinguished several elements that parties use when producing visuals for Facebook. While our research is exploratory in nature, based on the concept and characteristics of populism discussed above, some hypotheses are formulated related to the types of visual elements expected to be more often used by populists. For all other categories that are not related to specific hypotheses, open research questions are applied to find out whether their usage is similar or different across populists and non-populists.

The first aspect we address is the formal type of the images used by parties – these include text only, flyer, montage, and photo with or without text. Photos with text on them can simplify visual messages that can be blurred or too complex in the case of photos without text. Furthermore, multimodality – understood here as picture combined with text – is often used to create negative messages (Famulari, in press). Since simplification and negative messages are key features of populist communication (Engesser et al., 2017), it is hypothesized that photos without text are less used in populist communication (H1a), while photos with text are more common (H1b) due to their ability to create more specific, simpler and more negative messages. Without formulating hypotheses, we registered if an image was uploaded into an album, and if filters –such as sepia or black and white filter– were used on it, in order to better describe the applied visual tools. The second aspect is the valenced character of the images where positive, negative, neutral and mixed categories are distinguished. It is hypothesized that the context of an image is more often negative in the case of populist parties compared to their non-populist counterparts (H2),

due to the importance of arousing negative emotions towards 'the elite' or 'the others' (Moffitt, 2016).

In terms of the content of the images, we distinguish between images displaying political work, the campaign, policy issues, and personal/private matters. Due to the ordinariness of populist politicians and their aspiration to resemble 'the people' (Mendonça and Caetano, 2021), it is assumed that personal images focusing on the private life of politicians are more frequent in the case of populist parties (H3a). In contrast, images that emphasize policy issues (H3b) and demonstrate conventional political work (H3c) are assumed to be more common among non-populist parties as populists keep distance from the traditional elite-like political appearance. Apart from (general) negativity in party communications, critical visual content can depict specific political opponents in an unfavourable way. Given their tendency towards anti-elite sentiments and threat-communication, it is also hypothesized that critical visual content is more common among populists than non-populists (H3d).

Images are especially useful tools to personalize communication on social media (Authors, 2020). Here, it is assumed that due to the leader-centric character of populist communication, populist parties more frequently depict their own leaders (H4a). In addition, the anti-elite and critical character of populist communication suggests that other parties' leaders (H4b), as well as other countries' leaders (H4c) will be more often deployed by populists than non-populists. At the same time, it is expected that because of the people-centric focus, populist images will more likely include random people (H4d), and, due to their use of crisis and threat discourses, armed forces more often than non-populist parties (H4e). In terms of the number of the depicted people, it is assumed that populist parties are keen on depicting more people in their pictures than non-populists (H4f) as it can refer to "being with the people, addressing, and representing them" (Gimenez and Schwarz, 2016).

Beyond the specific actors depicted in pictures, a politician's self-presentation is crucial. Based on the results of Grabe and Bucy (2009) we expect that casual clothes are more often depicted in populists' images (H5a) to emphasize the ordinary, people-centric character of populism. Further, in line with the people-centric nature of populism, and the visual populism literature discussed above, we expect that depicting politicians' interaction with (H6a) crowds, or (H6b) random people, and (H6c) depicting their approval by audiences is more common among populist parties.

Symbols and objects, such as flags or coat of arms can refer to a variety of symbolical meanings and serve as subtle backdrop cues that can affect the recipient (Dan and Arendt, 2021). By recording a variety of symbols and objects, we aimed to shed a light on the populist-specific symbolism. We expect that political symbols (EU, country, party) play a more important role in populists' communication as they can easily trigger positive or negative reactions toward the in- and the outgroups (H7a), while popular cultural symbols are able to emphasise the ordinariness of populist actors (H7b). As populists use social media to bypass critical journalistic gatekeepers (Engesser et al., 2017), and they often attack mass media (Fawzi, 2019), mass media-centric image may be less important for populists, therefore we expect that (H8a) microphones and cameras are less often shown in populists' images. Nonetheless, as mobilization against the elite and "the others" is a key feature of populism (Canovan, 1999), the mobilization-focused populist communications are expected to put more emphasis on the act of voting, therefore (H8b) election-related objects appear more frequently on populists' pictures.

Research design

Data and methods

The research is built on a dataset that includes a random sample of parties' image-based Facebook posts published in the last 28 days of the 2019 EP campaign (UK: April 25 to May 23; Ireland: April 26 to May 24; all other countries: April 28 to May 26). Only parties reaching at least 5 percent of the votes in their respective countries were considered for analysis (N = 189), leading to the identification of 12,285 image-based Facebook posts. However, 13% of these posts belonged to a single party: the Italian populist party, Lega Nord. To avoid the potential skewing of our sample, a random sample of Lega posts was included to make its number of posts equal to the second most active party (N = 671), resulting in a sampling frame with 11,376 posts. Then, a random sample (N =1024, 9% of the total sample) was drawn. After removing deleted posts (N = 27) our final sample contains 997 images.

Populist parties were identified by using the categorization of The PopuList (Rooduijn et al., 2019). Our sample is representative of our sampling frame, i.e. the overall Facebook campaign of European parties in terms of both countries and party-type. The largest

deviance between individual countries' shares in our sampling frame and sample is 2% (Romania), and while the share of populist parties' posts is 37% in our sampling frame, it is 34% in our sample. To test our hypotheses, we performed a quantitative content analysis, which allows us to discover patterns, trends, and themes between populist and non-populist parties. We built a detailed coding scheme for the variables discussed above which includes 46 variables (see Table 1, 2, 3) and can be found in the Appendix. Coding was shared between two coders, and we tested the reliability of their work in a sub-sample of 113 posts. Krippendorf's alpha coefficients are acceptable for each category (>.69) (see Appendix).

Results

Visual nature – type, context and content of the images

Our findings are summarized in Table 1. Considering the type of image, photographs with and without text were the most commonly used by both types of parties, and were the only types of images with the usage exceeding 30%. Interestingly, the distribution of textbased visuals and flyers was identical and equaled, respectively, 17% and 10%. As for the differences between non-populists and populist parties, the former are inclined to multimodality (respectively 37% of non-populist and 30% of populist parties have used photos with text). Therefore, H1a and H1b have been rejected by our data: populists are less likely to use photos with text than non-populists, while in case of photos without text there is no significant difference. While montage is a rarely-applied visual element in our sample, populists use it more frequently than non-populists. Although previous academic inquiries proved that there is a positive effect of using filters for user engagement (Munoz and Towner, 2016), populist parties made significantly less use of them. Presenting pictures in albums is an equally popular tool in both sub-samples and is used in 22-23% of image-based posts. Regarding the valenced context, the analysis demonstrates that there is no significant difference between populist and non-populist parties. Pictures are predominantly positive in parties' image-based communication, while negative or mixed images are exceptional even for populist parties which lead us to reject H2.

Table 1. Visual nature – type, context and c	content of the images
--	-----------------------

Groups of Categories	Categories	Non-populist parties	Populist parties	Р
Туре	Text only	17%	17%	>.1

Flyer	10%	10%	>.1
Montage	2%	6%	<.001
Photo with text	37%	30%	<.05
Photo	34%	37%	>.1
Filters	11%	6%	<.05
Album	23%	22%	>.1
Positive	52%	57%	>.1
Negative	5%	6%	>.1
Mixed	4%	3%	>.1
Neutral	38%	33%	>.1
Political work	2%	3%	>.1
Campaign	28%	31%	>.1
Policy	17%	12%	<.1
Personal	2%	0.4%	>.1
Critical	6%	5%	>.1
Other	23%	22%	>.1
	MontagePhoto with textPhotoFiltersAlbumPositiveNegativeMixedNeutralPolitical workCampaignPolicyPersonalCritical	Montage2%Photo with text 37% Photo34%Filters11%Album23%Positive52%Negative5%Mixed4%Neutral38%Political work2%Campaign28%Policy17%Personal2%Critical6%	Montage 2% 6% Photo with text 37% 30% Photo 34% 37% Filters 11% 6% Album 23% 22% Positive 52% 57% Negative 5% 6% Mixed 4% 3% Political work 2% 3% Campaign 28% 31% Policy 17% 12% Personal 2% 0.4%

As discussed above, personal images portraying the non-political aspect of life can serve as an effective vehicle for creating and maintaining the image of somebody who is embedded in society. However, the results of our study demonstrate that the use of personal images is marginal for both populist (0.4%) and non-populist (2%) communication therefore H3a has to be rejected. It was also assumed that the content emphasizing policy issues, e.g. images of factories, hospitals, or school visits, and traditional political work, e.g. pictures of politicians attending meetings, conferences, or working in their offices, would be more prominent in non-populist Facebook postings. Our findings show that the latter used this type of content in 17% of published posts, which was 5% more frequent than populists, and represent a marginally significant difference offering a cautious confirmation of H3b. Traditional political work was barely depicted in the posts of all analyzed parties, and no significant difference exists between populists and non-populists, rejecting H3c. The most frequently used image content type on both party groups was campaign-pictures, however no significant difference between populists and non-populists are found in this respect. Further, and in contrast with H3d, critical content, depicting other parties' politicians from a negative, unfavorable angle or perspective, is not more frequently used by populists (5%) than non-populists (6%).

Actor characteristics and personalization

When it comes to the actors depicted in the posted images, populist parties were significantly more likely to depict their own party leader and party candidates, which is in line with H4a. Top candidates were also often shown in the pictures, but there was no significant difference between populists and non-populist in this respect. However, depicting other party's leaders and politicians was a rather minor phenomenon, and did not differ significantly between populists and non-populists, contrary to H4b. Curiously enough, during the electoral campaign, European populists used the image of other country's leaders significantly more often than non-populists, which confirms H4c. It seems that populist leaders are keen on presenting their populist connections all around the world.



Figure 1. The depiction of other country's leaders. Images uploaded by the Czech populist Freedom and Direct Democracy (left) and Hungarian Fidesz (right).

Our findings support H4d by proving that populist political parties used the image of armed forces more often (2% vs. 5% of identified posts) even if it was a marginal phenomenon in their communication.

Groups of Categories	Categories	Non-populist parties	Populist parties	Р
	Own party's leader	23%	30%	<.05
	Top candidate	29%	24%	>.1
	Own party's politician	33%	44%	<.01

Table 2.	Actor	characteristics	and	personalization
1	110101	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		p • · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

	Other party's leader	3%	4%	>.1
	Other party's politician	3%	4%	>.1
	Other country's leader	0.1%	2%	<.05
	Children	3%	2%	>.1
	Random people	25%	26%	>.1
	Crowd	16%	15%	>.1
	Armed forces	2%	5%	<.1
	0	13%	9%	<.1
	1	38%	38%	>.1
Number of people	2-4	17%	21%	>.1
Number of people	5-10	13%	13%	>.1
	10+	15%	15%	>.1
	100+	4%	4%	>.1

Given the fact that populist communication often relies on a personal connection of the leader with the electorate, the depiction of people in their visual campaign is an important element of their strategy. Surprisingly, the discrepancy between populist and non-populist parties in using the image of random people was not significant, rejecting H4e, and this is also the case for depicting crowds. Both elements are relatively common in parties' visual communication, but not specific to populist parties. Interestingly, the number of depicted people are also strikingly similar between both types of parties. Populists and non-populists were identical in their depictions of large crowds over 100 people (4%), minor gatherings (15%), groups of 5 to 10 people (13%), and single persons (38%), with minor differences in the depiction of 2 to 4 people (17% vs. 21%), therefore H4f is resoundingly rejected. However, depicting any people in images is slightly more common for populists, as only 9% of their images include no people, while this ratio is 13% for non-populists.



Figure 2. The depiction of leaders surrounded by crowds during the campaign. Polish populist Law and Justice (left) and Spanish PSOE (right).

Since it is easier for the average citizen to identify with someone of similar appearance and style, it was assumed that casual clothing would be more often used as an instrument of populist people-centric appeal. However, the results of the analysis do not prove this idea. Politicians in images of both populist and non-populist parties predominantly appear in official clothes, any kind of non-official clothing was exceptional. In this regard there is no significant difference between populists and non-populists, which rejects H5a. The emotional connection-building strategy of visual populist communication also assumes depicting politicians while interacting with random people and crowds, or receiving approval from audiences (Grabe and Bucy, 2009). Although both are rare in parties' visual communication, the first assumption proved to be in line with H6a as deploying interaction with random people is more common for populist parties, but H6b and H6c were rejected by our data, as no significant differences exist between populists and nonpopulists in images showing politicians in interaction with crowds or alongside approving audiences.

To sum up, while there are many similarities between non-populists and populists in how they present actors in their images, it seems that own party politicians and interaction with random people are more emphasized for populists' visual communication. This is also true for other country's leaders and armed forces, albeit to a lesser degree. However, the clothing of these actors are highly similar promoting a rather official image of campaigning.

Symbols and objects in visual communication

The last of the analyzed dimensions of visual communication during the 2019 EP campaign is the representation of symbols and objects. It was assumed that populists' visual communication would involve more political symbols, but this was true only for national symbols. The result of our analysis proves that populists are much more prone (27%) to using national symbols in comparison to non-populist parties (9%). However, this gap was not revealed in the case of EU symbols, where there was no significant difference between populist and non-populist parties. Party symbols were the most frequently used symbolic elements in both sub-samples, but their usage was not significantly different across populists and non-populists. To sum up, H7a is rejected, but it is important to note that it is supported for national symbols. Popular cultural references, however, were equally exceptional in both sub-sample, rejecting H7b.

Groups of categories	Categories	Non-populist parties	Populist parties	Р
Symbols	EU symbol	11%	9%	>.1
	Country symbol	9%	27%	<.001
	Party symbol	66%	61%	>.1
	Popular cult symbol	1%	1%	>.1
Objects	Microphone/camera	19%	19%	>.1
	Election	5%	14%	<.001
Connections	Interaction with crowds	3%	1%	>.1
	Interaction with random people	2%	7%	<.001
	Approving audiences	3%	2%	>.1
Clothing	Official	91%	95%	>.1
	Casual	6%	4%	>.1
	Athletic	1%	0.4%	>.1
	Campaign	3%	1%	>.1

Table 3. Symbols and objects in visual communication

Showing a media-centric image, microphone and camera frequently appear in both populists' and non-populists' images, but no significant difference is found between them in contrast with H8a. However, election-related objects, such as ballot boxes, ballots, or crosses on a ballot are much more specific to populist parties underlining their strong focus on mobilization, and support H8b.

Discussion and Conclusions

Through a focus on the context, content and presentation of actors in the posts of European Parliamentary parties on Facebook, the ambition of this paper was to examine whether a distinct populist visual communication style exists on Facebook. Eight sets of hypotheses were tested based on the expectation that there would be consistent differences in the visual communication repertoires of populist versus non-populist parties. However, with the exception of a few, most of the hypotheses were rejected, suggesting that visual campaigning styles are largely shared. This is an important finding given the direction of previous studies where, discursively, populist political communication has distinct characteristics. Visually too, populist communication is, for example, more leader centric, with qualities of mass appeal and ordinariness (Gimenez and Schwarz, 2016; Grabe and Bucy, 2009); and prominent use of national symbols (Mendonça and Caetano, 2020). While we found elements of these differences, they were still outnumbered by the similarities in visual communication repertoires. This, however, does not make our findings any less interesting or significant, as they allow us to reflect on some important questions for the field.

First, what might explain the similarities over a range of visual forms? Is it that populist parties are adopting non-populist visual practices, or vice versa? On the whole we would argue that the former is more likely. For instance, previous research suggests populists are more likely to utilise negative communications, as they further facilitate the distinction between 'us' towards 'the elite' or 'the others' (Engesser et al., 2017; Moffitt, 2016). However, findings suggest that with a 10:1 ratio in favour of positive over negative posts, populist parties – visually at least – are more in line with what we might expect of non-populists in terms of emotional context. In terms of content too, findings suggested that populist parties would seem to adhere to existing conventions, mostly oriented toward informing audiences about the campaign process and criticizing political opponents, albeit slightly less focused on policy than non-populist parties. In contrast to previous research, there was almost no reference to personal life (e.g. Mendonça and Caetano, 2021), although our focus was on Facebook (rather than Instagram) and on party (rather than personal) accounts.

For the actors visible in campaign posts, it is a more mixed picture, though we would still argue they lean towards established non-populist practices. Populist parties are, for

example, more leader-centric, but still only in 30% of posts, perhaps suggesting that levels of personalization typically seen by populist parties at a national level do not translate to transnational contexts. Further, we saw little evidence of the "populist campaigner" visual archetype that has characterised TV coverage of populist leaders (Grabe and Bucy, 2009). With 68% of populist party posts depicting less than four people, and interaction with crowds or approving audiences barely registering, their visual campaign style did not communicate mass appeal. Neither did it project ordinariness through casual clothing (Grabe and Bucy, 2009; Muñoz and Towner, 2017). To the contrary, populist leaders looked highly formal.

Our findings do, however, demonstrate a considerable difference in the use of nationalistic symbols. Concurrent with other studies (Muñoz and Towner, 2017) our results show that populist parties use more national and patriotic symbols than non-populist parties. Drawing on ethno-symbolism – an area within nationalism studies – Schertzer and Woods (2021) argue that the deployment of ethnic myths, symbols, and traditions facilitate boundary making processes; they define the 'people' through "ethnic and cultural markers (and, in so doing also identify outsiders)" (p. 3). Various studies have demonstrated the widespread populist use of national symbols, from Trump's extensive use of patriotic symbols (Muñoz and Towner, 2017) to the former Venezuelan President Hugo Chávez's use of flags (Salojarvi, 2019).

Thus while there were exceptions, on the whole our study lends support to the emerging body of research suggesting that characteristics established in textual populist communication cannot necessarily be transferred to visual material, at least on social media (Bast, 2021). We offer three reflections that may explain these findings. First, populist leaders are often less the political outsiders that they would have us believe. Like their mainstream counterparts, they are mostly men in suits, who have come from the same elite schools and colleges, and mix with the same vested interests in business and finance. Discursively, they may be able to break from some established communicative conventions, especially through social media, but visually, it may be harder to break them, especially through a shared party social media account. Second, and relatedly, such campaigning conventions are established and reinforced by campaign professionals who work across all aspects of the campaign, and ensure that social media platforms are used in consistent ways, including visually (Authors, 2021). Importantly, studies show that across countries and the political spectrum, such professionals share a common understanding of what counts as campaign professionalism and good practice (Tenscher et al., 2015). Furthermore, recent research has shown how social media firms themselves are actively shaping digital campaign strategy, content, and execution (Kreiss and McGregor, 2018): a process that might likely lead to common practices across party divides. Therefore our results may be interpreted in light of the development of parties as enterprises (Panebianco, 1988), and from the perspective of professionalization of political communication (Holtz-Bacha 2002): as political parties are adopting the logic of private companies' strategies and techniques, campaigns are organized by PR, advertising and digital agencies, whose main goal is efficacy rather than emphasizing populist features. These influences are not to be underestimated, especially in the context of a second-order campaign where few individual politicians have high profiles and the party machine plays an important role. Third, our findings are also a reminder that social media's direct nature does not automatically mean that either populist communicative strategies will prevail, or that populists will be necessarily good at using these sites. Rather, as with their mainstream political counterparts, there is unlikely to be a uniform populist use of these platforms. Together, we suggest that due to these logics, future research might not start from the hypothesis that populist parties have a distinct visual campaigning style to non-populists on Facebook. Further, while our study does not challenge those who find different discursive styles or policy focus between populists and non-populists, it does call for a careful and nuanced use of generic descriptors such as 'communication style' or 'campaign strategy' given that populists may be more distinct discursively than they are visually.

Our study opens up many questions for future research. For instance, maybe the type of election setting plays a role in the use of visual communication. In our case, European elections are second-order events with lower voter turnout than national elections (Reif and Schmit, 1980) which offer different electoral dynamics to national general elections, not to mention non-election contexts. This should be explored by future research. With their distinct affordances, genres and audiences, it is likely that platforms matter, too, and so we should hesitate to generalize findings from one platform (in our case, Facebook) to 'social media' as a whole (Kreiss et al., 2018). Here, it is important for future research to systematically compare different platforms for elements of visual populism, which may find that some platforms share more mutual affordances with populism than others. Finally, while we offer three explanations for the visual similarities between populists

and non-populists found in this study, interviews with key protagonists (politicians, party strategists and communication consultants) would likely reveal important insights about the extent to which this is strategic, or the result of other factors.

Author Biographies:

Xénia Farkas is a Junior Research Fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Institute for Political Science (HAS) since 2015, and a PhD student at the Corvinus University of Budapest since 2018. Her research focuses on visual political communication.

Daniel Jackson is a Professor of Media and Communication at Bournemouth University, United Kingdom. His research broadly explores the intersections of media, power and social change, including news coverage of politics, political communication, the mediation of sport and the dynamics of civic culture in online environments.

Paweł Baranowski is an Assistant Professor at the Department of Journalism and Social Communication at the University of Wroclaw, Poland. His research interests oscillate around political communication, new media and journalism studies.

Márton Bene is a Senior Research Fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence and an Assistant Lecturer at the Department of Political Science, Eötvös Loránd University, Hungary. His research interests are in political communication, social media and politics and political behavior.

Uta Russmann is a Professor at the Department of Communication at the FHWien der WKW University of Applied Sciences for Management & Communication, Vienna, Austria. Her research interests include digital communication, (visual) social media, public relations, strategic communication, political communication, and media and elections.

Anastasia Veneti is a Principal Academic at Bournemouth University, United Kingdom. Her research lies in the intersection of media and politics, including (visual) political communication, digital political campaigning, media framing of protests and social movements, and photojournalism.

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: The research was supported by the Incubator program

of the Center for Social Sciences, Eötvös Loránd Research Network (project number: 03013645). Márton Bene is a recipient of the Bolyai János Research Fellowship awarded by the Hungarian Academy of Sciences (BO/334_20). Xénia Farkas is a recipient of the ÚNKP Fellowship (ÚNKP-20-3-II-CORVINUS-10).

References

Aalberg, Toril, Esser, Frank, Reinemann, Carsten, Stromback, Jesper, and De Vreese, Claes (Eds.). (2016). *Populist Political Communication in Europe* (1st ed.). London: Routledge.

Adami, Angela (2020) Visual Analysis and Right Wing (Populist) Groups. *Partecipazione and Conflitto* 13(1): 315-336.

Baldwin-Philippi, Jessica (2018) The Technological Performance of Populism. *New Media & Society* 21(2): 376–97.

Banducci, Susan A., Jeffrey A. Karp, Michael Thrasher, and Colin Rallings (2008) Ballot Photographs as Cues in Low-Information Elections. *Political Psychology* 29(6): 903–17.

Bast, Jennifer (2021) Managing the Image. The Visual Communication Strategy of European Right-Wing Populist Politicians on Instagram. *Journal of Political Marketing*: 1–30.

Bennett, W. Lance, and Alexandra Segerberg (2012) The Logic of Connective Action: Digital Media and the Personalization of Contentious Politics. *Information, Communication & Society* 15(5): 739–68.

Bucy, Erik P., and Jungseock Joo (2021) Editors' Introduction: Visual Politics, Grand Collaborative Programs, and the Opportunity to Think Big. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 26(1): 5–21.

Canovan, Margaret (1999) Trust the People! Populism and the Two Faces of Democracy. *Political Studies*, *47*(1), 2–16.

Coleman, Renita, and H. Denis Wu (2015) *Image and Emotion in Voter Decisions: The Affect Agenda*. Lanham: Lexington Books.

Dan, Viorela, and Florian Arendt (2021) "Visual Cues to the Hidden Agenda: Investigating the Effects of Ideology-Related Visual Subtle Backdrop Cues in Political Communication." *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 26(1): 22–45.

Ekman, Mattias, and Andreas Widholm (2017) Political Communication in an Age of Visual Connectivity: Exploring Instagram Practices among Swedish Politicians. *Northern Lights* 15(1): 15–32.

Engesser, Sven, Nicole Ernst, Frank Esser, and Florin Büchel (2017) Populism and Social Media: How Politicians Spread a Fragmented Ideology. *Information, Communication & Society* 20(8): 1109–26.

Famulari, Umberto (in press) The strategic use of visuals on Facebook: A multimodal analysis of images and audience reactions during the campaign for the 2019 UK general elections. Visual Communication Quarterly.

Fawzi, Nayla (2019) Untrustworthy News and the Media as "Enemy of the People?" How a Populist Worldview Shapes Recipients' Attitudes toward the Media. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *24*(2), 146–164.

Gimenez, Elsa, and Natalie Schwarz (2016) The Visual Construction of 'the People' and 'Proximity to the People' on the Online Platforms of the National Front and Swiss People's Party." *Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie* 41(2): 213–42.

Grabe, Maria Elizabeth, and Erik Page Bucy (2009) *Image Bite Politics: News and the Visual Framing of Elections*. Oxford University Press.

Graber, Doris A. (1996) Say It with Pictures. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 546: 85–96.

Hokka, Jenni, and Matti Nelimarkka (2020) Affective Economy of National-Populist Images: Investigating National and Transnational Online Networks through Visual Big Data. *New Media & Society* 22(5): 770–92.

Holtz-Bacha, Christina (2002) "Professionalization of Political Communication: The Case of the 1998 SPD Campaign." *Journal of Political Marketing* 1(4): 23–37.

Hopster, Jeroen (2020) Mutual Affordances: The Dynamics between Social Media and Populism. *Media, Culture & Society* 43(3): 551–60.

Johansson, Bengt, and Christina Holtz-Bacha (2019) From Analogue to Digital Negativity: Attacks Counterattacks, Satire, and Absurdism on Election Posters Offline and Online, pp. 99–118 in A. Veneti, D. Jackson, and D. G. Lilleker (eds) *Visual Political Communication*, Palgrave Macmillan.

Kreiss, Daniel and Shannon C. McGregor (2018) Technology Firms Shape Political Communication: The Work of Microsoft, Facebook, Twitter, and Google With Campaigns During the 2016 U.S. Presidential Cycle, *Political Communication*, 35:2, 155-177.

Kriesi, Hanspeter (2014) The Populist Challenge. West European Politics 37(2): 361-78.

Larsson, Anders Olof (2020) Picture-Perfect Populism: Tracing the Rise of European Populist Parties on Facebook. *New Media & Society*: 146144482096377.

Mendonça, Ricardo F., and Renato Duarte Caetano (2021) Populism as Parody: The Visual Self-Presentation of Jair Bolsonaro on Instagram. *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 26(1): 210–35.

Moffitt, Benjamin (2016) *The Global Rise of Populism: Performance, Political Style, and Representation*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Mudde, Cas (2004) The Populist Zeitgeist." Government and Opposition 39(4): 541-63.

Muñoz, Caroline Lego, and Terri L. Towner (2017) "The Image Is the Message: Instagram Marketing and the 2016 Presidential Primary Season." *Journal of Political Marketing* 16(3–4): 290–318.

Newman, Nic, Fletcher, R., Schulz, A., Andı, S., and Nielsen, R. K. (2020) *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2020*. Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism.

Panebianco, Angelo. 1988. *Political Parties: Organization and Power*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Reif, Karlheinz, and Hermann Schmitt (1980) Nine second-order national elections: A conceptual framework for the analysis of European election results. *European Journal of Political Research*, 8(1): 3-44.

Rooduijn, Matthijs, van Kessel, S., Froio, C., Pirro, A., De Lange, S., Halikiopoulou, D., ... Taggart, P. (2019). *The PopuList: an overview of populist, far right, far left and Eurosceptic parties in Europe*. Retrieved from https://popu-list.org

Salojarvi, Virpi. 2019. "Populism in Journalistic Photographs: Political Leaders in Venezuelan Newspaper Images." *Iberoamericana – Nordic Journal of Latin American and Caribbean Studies* 48(1): 28–39.

Schertzer, Robert, and Eric Woods. 2021. "#Nationalism: The Ethno-Nationalist Populism of Donald Trump's Twitter Communication." *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 44(7): 1154–73.

Tenscher, Jens, Karolina Koc-Michalska, Darren G Lilleker, Juri Mykkänen, Annemarie S Walter, Andrej Findor, Carlos Jalali, and Jolán Róka (2016) The Professionals Speak: Practitioners' Perspectives on Professional Election Campaigning. *European Journal of Communication* 31(2): 95–119.

de Vreese, Claes H., Esser, F., Aalberg, T., Reinemann, C., and Stanyer, J. (2018) Populism as an Expression of Political Communication Content and Style: A New Perspective. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 23(4), 423–438.

Wettstein, Martin, Esser, F., Schulz, A., Wirz, D. S., and Wirth, W. (2018) News Media as Gatekeepers, Critics, and Initiators of Populist Communication: How Journalists in Ten Countries Deal with the Populist Challenge. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 23(4), 476–495.

Wodak, Ruth, and Bernhard Forchtner (2014) Embattled Vienna 1683/2010: Right-Wing Populism, Collective Memory and the Fictionalisation of Politics. *Visual Communication* 13(2): 231–55.

Zelizer, Barbie (2010) Journalism, Memory, and the Voice of the Visual. pp. 1–27. In Barbie Zelizer (ed) *About to Die: How News Images Move the Public*, Oxford University Press

Zoonen, Liesbet van (2005) Entertaining the Citizen: When Politics and Popular Culture Converge. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

Supplemental material

This supplemental material contains the coding scheme for "Strikingly similar: Comparing visual political communication of populist and non-populist parties across 28 countries" by Xénia Farkas¹⁵, Daniel Jackson¹⁶, Paweł Baranowski¹⁷, Márton Bene¹⁸, Uta Russmann¹⁹, Anastasia Veneti²⁰ in European Journal of Communication.

Coding scheme

The coding process:

- This research is based on the visual communication, thus almost each and every variable is based only on the images and the visual elements. It is really important that all of the categories and variables needs to be decided on the basis of the images. However, it is indicated that textual messages ON the images should also be considered.
- Hence, after opening a link, the first step is to use <u>https://translate.google.com/</u> to translate every textual messages ON the images to English.
- The next step is to decide the type of the given image (Text only, Flyer, Montage, Photo with text, Photo).
- 4. Images containing only text are not coded further. In the case of albums, only the first one is coded, which is often bigger than the others. If the first image of the album contains only text images, then indicate "Text only" and do not code further. Otherwise, it has to be decided what type of image is the first image.
- 5. Mutually exclusive categories: Type, Context, Content, Clothing, and Number of people, are mutually exclusive categories, which means that coders should choose only one variable that best describes the image. E.g. an image can only be Text only, Flyer, Montage, Photo with text or Photo, NOT both Flyer and Photo with

Corresponding Author:

¹⁵ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary

¹⁶ Bournemouth University, United Kingdom

¹⁷ University of Wrocław, Poland

¹⁸ Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence; Eötvös Loránd

University, Hungary

¹⁹ University of Innsbruck, Austria

²⁰ Bournemouth University, United Kingdom

Xénia Farkas, Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence, Tóth Kálmán u. 4, H-1097 Budapest, Hungary. Email: farkas.xenia@tk.hu

text. If an image is not "text only" type, then the mutually exclusive categories have to be coded in any case, while from the not mutually exclusive categories those ones should be coded which are visible.

- 6. On the other hand, Tools, Actors, Symbols, Objects and Connections categories can have multiple elements, e.g. both Filter and Contrasts can be applied on an image, Album option can be used as well in a post, and an Own party's leader can be depicted with Armed forces, Children, and a Crowd as well.
- 7. Actors: Not like in the case of other categories, where only the image and the text ON the image is important, here it is easier to identify politicians and other actors on the images by reading the whole textual messgae of the post. It is important that variables have to be coded according to the conditions of May 2019, which practically means that party leaders are coded if they were leaders in May 2019.
- 8. Clothing is only important in the case of politicinas, other actors' clothes are not relevant here.
- 9. Number of people: We count the main actors of the image, thus if 3 people (whether politicians or random people, it doesn't matter here) are depicted, but in the far background there are random passers, latter are not counted, only the 3. However, it is important, that only the far backround is not relevant, thus if politicians are the main actors of an image, but in the backround there is a crowd, it has to be coded as a "100+ approximately large crowd".

Groups of Categories	Categories	Description	Krippendorf's alpha coefficients
	Text only	Images containing only text, e.g. https://www.facebook.com/enhedslisten/p osts/10156983371231023; https://www.facebook.com/GreenPartyIre land/posts/10158682912778066; Images depicting only stats, diagrams, screenshots about Twitter posts, or pictograms are also coded as "Text only". We do NOT code them further.	
Туре	Flyer	Images with text, where the symbol of the party (logo or slogan) and a mobilizing word (e.g. Vote!/Come!/Join!) is also included in the image. It is important that a photo of a politician standing next to a flyer on the street is not coded as flyer. Images are coded as flyers in the case of this: https://www.facebook.com/USRNational/ posts/2197265300364642;	.89

Visual nature

	Montage	More than one photos merged into one	
		image, mostly separated by some kind of	
		visible frame (however, there are montage	
		photos where we cannot find any	
		separating frames). If there are different types of images on the montage, simply	
		indicate "montage" and try to code as	
		many further variables as possible.	
	Photo with text	There is a text on the photo, but unlike in	
	I HOLO WITH LEXT	the case of flyers, party symbols (e.g. logo,	
		slogan) are not necessarily visible on the	
		photo. However, if a party symbol is	
		depicted, it can be a "photo with text"	
		category still, but it is important that there	
		are no direct mobilizing words (e.g. "Vote	
		for"), rather citations from politicians, or	
		describing facts.	
		https://www.facebook.com/moderaterna/p	
		osts/10156169508136156;	
		https://www.facebook.com/Sozialdemokr	
		atie/posts/10156849626050081	
	Photo	A simple photo without any text on it.	
	Filters	Strong colour effects that change the	
		colour of the whole image/a separated	
		part of the image. We do not want to	
		figure out whether a bit of light filter is	
		applied or not, here we code only the	0.0
		evident filters, that blur the whole images,	.80
		or give a green or pink effect, e.g.	
TT 1		https://www.facebook.com/diegruenen/po	
Tools		sts/10156310108628034; or part of the	
		image, e.g.	
		https://www.facebook.com/fpoe/posts/13	
		48437291964203	
	Album	Indicate here if a post contains multiple	
		images. Do not type the number of the	.91
		images, only indicate the fact that it is an	.91
		album.	
	Positive	The atmosphere of the image is positive	
		due to positive facial expressions,	
		backgrounds, actors or a textual message	
		ON the image, e.g. it reports some success,	
		expresses hope for something positive in	
		the future, states something positive about	
		someone, or says thanks for someone.	
	Negative	The atmosphere of the image is negative	
		due to negative facial expressions,	
		backgrounds, actors or a textual message	
		ON the image, e.g. the image shows	
		criticism of something or someone,	.91
Context		expresses sadness, negative irony, or	
		presents people with negative emotions.	
	Mixed	The atmosphere of the image is mixed due	
		to a negative facial expression,	
		background, actor with a positive textual	
		message ON the image, or vice versa. E.g.	
		the image shows an angry politician, while	
		the textual message is something positive,	
		or the textual message is negative, but the	
	Noutral	politician is smiling.	
	Neutral	The atmosphere of the image is neutral, there are no strong positive or pagetive	
		there are no strong positive or negative	
		facial expressions, backgrounds, actors or	
	Political work	textual messages ON the image. Political work content is coded when the	
Content	r onical work	image depicts politicians while doing	.69
Content		political work (=NOT campaign), such as	.09
	1	i bonneai work (=nOi cambaigh), such as	

	meetings, conferences, work in their offices.	
Campaign	Images about campaign events, e.g.	
1 0	collecting signatures, party events.	
	Considering that we are investigating a	
	campaign period, most images will fall	
	into this category, but here we should try	
	to list only those images that specifically	
	depict campaign activity. In most cases,	
	politicians are depicted on some kind of	
	stage with a microphone, but sometimes	
	they are handing out flyers on markets, or	
	on the streets. Images depicting a podium	
	with a microphone without any other	
	context are always falling into this	
	category.	
Policy	By visual representation of policies we	
-	mean e.g. factories, construction sites, or	
	hospital, school visits, anything that can	
	have a policy message. If the textual	
	message ON the image refers to a policy,	
	it can also be considered as policy	
	message, e.g. a stock photo-like image,	
	depicting a family of random people, and	
	the written message on the image is about	
	family policy.	
Personal		
r ersonal	Images depicting non-political life,	
	personal appearances: the politician's	
	family members, photos of food, drinks,	
	gym, or photos taken with celebrities,	
-	sport events.	
Critical	Images depicting other parties' politicians	
	from a negative approach, e.g. from a	
	negative angle/perspective, or the textual	
	message ON the image describes other	
	parties'/politicians' critic.	
Other	Anything that cannot be coded into	
	political work, campaign, policy, personal	
	or critical categories.	
 1		

Actor characteristics and personalisation

Groups of Categories	Categories	Description	Krippendorf's alpha coefficients
	Own party's leader	It is important that variables have to be coded according to the conditions of May 2019, which practically means that party leaders are coded if they were leaders in May 2019. Check the parties' from every country before coding. Honorary leaders are also leaders, e.g. Traian Băsescu.	.83
Actors	Top candidate	The first candidate on the EP list of the party. It is useful to check each countries' Wikipedia site on the 2019 EP election, e.g. <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2019 Europ</u> <u>ean Parliament election in Hungary</u> here is a table "Hungarian parties contesting the 2019 European Parliament election" where all of the top candidates are listed.	1.00
	Own party's politician	It is important that variables have to be coded according to the conditions of May 2019, which practically means that	.79

		1.1.0.1	
		politicians are coded if they were the given parties' politician in May 2019. Check the	
		parties' from every country before coding.	
	Other party's	It is important that variables have to be	
	leader	coded according to the conditions of May	
		2019, which practically means that party	.97
		leaders are coded if they were leaders in	.97
		May 2019. Check the parties' from every	
		country before coding.	
	Other party's	It is important that variables have to be	
	politician	coded according to the conditions of May 2019, which practically means that	
		politicians are coded if they were the given	.97
		parties' politician in May 2019. Check the	
		parties' from every country before coding.	
	Other country's	It is important that variables have to be	
	leader	coded according to the conditions of May	
		2019, which practically means that other	1.00
		countries' leaders are coded if they were	1.00
		leaders in May 2019. Check the parties'	
	Children	from every country before coding.	.74
	Random people	Babies, kids, youngsters under 18. Less than 10 persons we cannot identify as	./4
	Random people	politicians, leaders, celebrity, police or	.74
		soldiers.	., 1
	Crowd	Crowd: 10+ person.	.80
	Armed forces	Police, soldiers, etc.	.80
	0		
	1		
Number of people	2-4		.85
realized of people	5-10		
	10+		
	100+		

Symbols and objects

Groups of categories	Categories	Description	Krippendorf's alpha coefficients
Symbols	EU symbol	EU flag, EU stars, but not as the party's logo	.93
	Country symbol	National flag, coats of arms, famous places (Eiffel tower, Brandenburg Gate, etc.)	.85
	Party symbol	Parties' logos (that can be on a pin, or on a hat, t-shirt, on in the background on a roll-up) and the colour of the party (on clothes or in the background on a roll-up)	.80
	Popular cult symbol	Visual reference to movies, music, books, sports	1.00
Objects	Microphone/cam era	Visible microphone, camera or podium. Images depicting TV interviews can also be coded here, even if these objects are not visible, but it is somehow visible that the aim of the image is to highlight the fact of an interview.	.91
	Election	The most conspicuous symbol is a ballot box, but ballots, or crosses on a ballot are also coded here.	.92
Connections	Interaction with crowds	"Shots of the candidate giving rapid, anonymous handshakes, grips, or touches to groups of supporters without individualized or fixed engagement with anyone in particular" (Grabe & Bucy, 2009), or without touches but the	.97

		politician is depicted surrounded by a crowd.	
	Interaction with random people	Shots of the candidate giving rapid, anonymous handshakes, grips, or touches to couple of supporters (not a crowd, but some random people), or without touches but the politician is depicted surrounded by a random people.	.88
	Approving audiences	"Visual linkages to approving audiences shown applauding, waving, cheering, whistling, laughing, nodding in approval." (Grabe & Bucy, 2009)	.94
Clothing	Official	Men: e.g. suit, shirt and/or tie. Women: suits, blouse, dress, high heels	
	Casual	In general: jeans, t-shirt, sweater, sneakers. Men wearing sweater on shirt is also casual.	.77
	Athletic	"Short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear" (Grabe & Bucy, 2009)	
	Campaign	e.g. t-shirt, coat or cap with a party logo	

Article 3 The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook

Xénia Farkas, Márton Bene

Originally submitted:

Farkas, X., & Bene, M. Orbán Viktor vizuális és verbális populista stílusa a Facebookon. Accepted by the journal *Politikatudományi Szemle*, will be published in the 2022/3 issue.

Translated by the first author, who declare that the content of the original article and of the English translation are fully identical.

The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook

Xénia Farkas (farkas.xenia@tk.hu) Junior Research Fellow Centre for Social Sciences, Budapest and Márton Bene (bene.marton@tk.hu) Senior Research Fellow Centre for Social Sciences, Budapest

Author note

Xénia Farkas Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0001-9448-1471

Xénia Farkas is a junior research fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence, and a Ph.D. student at the Corvinus University of Budapest. Her research focuses on visual political communication on social media.

Márton Bene https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0177-9717

Márton Bene is a senior research fellow at the Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence, and a lecturer at Eötvös Loránd University. His research interests are in political communication, social media and politics, and political behavior.

No conflicts of interest to disclose.

Funding: The research was supported by the Incubator program of the Center for Social Sciences, Eötvös Loránd Research Network (project number: 03013645). The research was carried out as part of a Fulbright Visiting Student Researcher Scholarship, supported by Fulbright Hungary.

Acknowledgments: This article is based on the work completed during a Fulbright Visiting Student Researcher Scholarship in The Media School of Indiana University Bloomington. We would like to thank Maria Elizabeth Grabe for her help and support. **Corresponding Author**: Xénia Farkas, Centre for Social Sciences, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Centre of Excellence, Tóth Kálmán street 4, H-1097 Budapest, Hungary. Email: farkas.xenia@tk.hu

The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook Abstract

The aim of this study is to contribute to the field of visual political communication by creating and testing a bimodal (visual and verbal) coding scheme, which can be applied to study populism as a style. For that, the paper translates Moffitt's (2016) theory on populist communication style into a code book that can capture not only the verbal but also the visual elements of populist style. Accordingly, the coding scheme is used to perform a quantitative content analysis on Viktor Orbán's image-based Facebook posts between 2018 and 2020. This three-year period includes election campaigns, the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic, and some months without major political events. The results show that Moffitt's (2016) populist style is only partially present in the Hungarian Prime Minister's bimodal Facebook communication. Furthermore, the comparison of different communication periods does not reveal major differences. However, there are significant variations in verbal and visual communication: the populist style is mainly communicated by visual elements, which means that the study of populist communication requires the examination of visuals.

Keywords: visual politics, populism, multimodality, Facebook, content analysis, social media

The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook

Viktor Orbán is clearly one of the most prominent figures of contemporary right-wing populism (see Mudde, 2016; Körösényi-Patkós, 2017). They embraced a populist political approach at least two decades ago and have represented it in government positions for 12 years. His academically acknowledged prominence in the right-wing populist field is visually well-depicted by the fact that they are one of three populist figures with Donald Trump and Marie Le Pen in the cover of Norris and Inglehart's seminal book about contemporary right-wing populism (Norris & Inglehart, 2019).

Orbán's populist communication style is also a model for several populist politicians worldwide. As for other populist leaders, social media, especially Facebook, is a central platform for Viktor Orbán's communication who is the most followed politician in the Hungarian political sphere (Bene & Farkas, 2018). On this platform, they can directly connect to their followers and via these followers' engagement with their posts they can reach many non-followers as well. However, if one takes a closer look at their Facebook page, they will most probably find posts with very short texts, but with images or videos included. On Facebook, Viktor Orbán's communication is largely visual, verbal messages rarely go beyond a few words.

Although there is increased interest among academics to study populist communication, most existing approaches to populism (e.g. Mudde, 2004; Weyland, 2001; Hawkins, 2009; de Vreese et al., 2018) define the concept in a way that can be applied mostly in verbal messages. Orbán's case, however, shows that this would be insufficient since populist leaders largely draw upon visual communication with a strong performative dimension that is hard to capture based on these approaches. The peculiarity of Viktor Orbán's social media communication cannot be grasped if only their short verbal components are considered while the gestures, scenes, actors, connections, or lookouts appearing in their visual components are ignored.

Luckily, a few studies take on investigating visual aspects of populist communication (e.g. Farkas et al., 2022; Gimenez and Schwarz, 2016; Herkman, 2019). However, in the lack of an overarching populist concept that is able to accommodate visual communication, they could offer fragmented findings of certain elements of visual populism. In this research, we argue, that Benjamin Moffitt's populist style approach with its strong emphasis on performative dimensions of communication, is suitable to be applied to multimodal communication. Therefore, the present study applies Moffitt's (2016) political style approach and considers populism as a symbolically mediated performance in the study of Viktor Orbán's social media communication.

This study focuses both on the visual and verbal aspects of populist communication style when translating Moffitt's (2016) theory into a bimodal²¹ (imagebased and verbal) coding scheme. By this coding scheme, we analyze Viktor Orbán's Facebook activities over a three-year period that included elections (i.e., 2018 Hungarian Parliamentary election, 2019 Hungarian Local election, 2019 European Parliamentary election), the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic, and a number of slow news months. First, we are interested in the extent to which Moffitt's populist style approach is able to describe the social media communication of an exemplary case of populist leaders. Second, we focus on the differences between verbal and visual components of the posts to see if populist elements are communicated differently across modalities. Third, we look at how the application of populist communication is conditioned by political situations by investigating similarities and differences in Orbán's communication under different political circumstances (campaign, COVID-19, cucumber time).

Findings indicate the partial viability of Moffitt's approach in the understanding of Viktor Orbán's social media communication, as one out of the three main categories, i.e. *Appeal to the People vs. the Elite* performed particularly well on Orbán's Facebook image posts, while *Crisis, breakdown, threat* had also a limited presence in their communication. Conversely, the third main component, *Bad manners*, missed almost completely from their social media presence. The most frequently used populist elements are more extensively communicated via visual cues than verbal expressions, but we found no remarkable differences across the investigated time periods.

Theoretical background

Populism and visual communication

Populism is a divisive phenomenon with a multitude of definitional approaches, varying in emphasis on populism as a *thin centered ideology* (Mudde, 2004), a *political*

²¹ The term bimodal connected to the concept of multimodality. Multimodality "questions that a strict 'division of labour' among the disciplines traditionally focused on meaning making, on the grounds that in the world we're trying to account for, different means of meaning making are not separated but almost always appear together: image with writing, speech with gesture, math symbolism with writing and so forth" (Jewitt et al., 2016, p. 2). These connections are not studied in isolation from each other, but integrated in multimodality. Since the study focuses on visual and verbal communication, it can be considered as a bimodal, i.e. a study involving two perceptual domains.

strategy (Weyland, 2001), a *discourse* (Hawkins, 2009), a *communication phenomenon* (de Vreese et al., 2018), and a *style* (Moffitt, 2016). One of the most important common features of these conceptualizations is their emphasis on the opposition between 'the Elite' and 'the People'. However, the different approaches yield different analytical frameworks to study populism with varied ideas on who can be considered as populist, how populism appears, and what are the sources of populism.

With the application of Mudde's (2004) actor centric minimal definition, scholars were able to identify populist parties and leaders and compare them with nonpopulist political actors across countries (see Mudde, 2007; Akkerman et al., 2016) by investigating party manifestos, speeches, or content taken from the websites of political actors (Pauwels, 2017). The strategic approach focuses on how leaders pursue and sustain political power across different national, economic, and social circumstances (Weyland, 2001). By the application of the fuzzy-set theory (Weyland, 2017), it is possible to define the level of populism in the case of political actors. The discourse approach is primarily focused on the appearance of verbal messages that create a divide between ordinary people and elites across time and countries (Hawkins, 2009). Holistic grading methods, resembling content analysis, have been applied to speeches to categorize them as non-populist, mixed, or populist (Pauwels, 2017). According to de Vreese and colleagues (2018), populism as a communication phenomenon is the combination of ideological and discursive dimensions and focuses on the frequency of content and style features. By the application of content analysis, the degree of populism can be described on various platforms (Engesser et al., 2017; Ernst et al., 2017).

However, most of these approaches to populism are rooted in the operationalization of verbal communication: their empirical focus is mostly limited to the verbal content elements of communication. This is a crucial shortcoming as recently researchers have started to recognize the urgency to investigate visuals in political communication, or as Bucy and Joo (2021) call this area of study, visual politics. Scholarly efforts have recently been made to define and operationalize visual populism. Images –just like verbal messages– are used to negative emotionalization by the negative depiction of 'the Others' (Wodak and Forchtner, 2014), to amplify negative implicit social stereotypes (Arendt et al., 2015), and to broadcast symbolic and economic threats (Schmuck and Matthes, 2017). Further, visual depiction of negative emotions as fear, anger, and resentment can spread not only without country or language barriers (Hokka and Nelimarkka, 2019), but images are able to blur and camouflage the explicit radical populist narratives by using no explanations to the cultural context of the depicted scenes (Freistein and Gadinger, 2020). Visuals are also used to highlight populists' closeness to 'the People'. However, the visual construction of 'the People' and 'proximity to the People' can be different since the former signify populist parties for the people, while the latter is the depiction of populist parties of the people (Gimenez and Schwarz, 2016). In addition, it is demonstrated that there are differences in the depiction of 'the People' by left and right populists', as the latter show more homogenous images of 'the People' than the former (Moffitt, in press). Another visual populist feature is the frequent depiction of the leader (Herkman, 2019), whose presentation –including clothing, facial expressions, etc.– symbolizes and embodies ordinary and extraordinary traits (Mendonça and Caetano, 2020). Piontek and Tadeusz-Ciesielczyk (2019) also strengthen this argument on nonverbal elements such as eye contact, facial expressions, or gestures, adding that both negative attitudes towards 'the Elite' and references to the 'the People' are often expressed in this way.

Useful as these fragmented results are, they do not offer a comprehensive or integrated understanding of populist communication. They highlight certain crucial visual elements related to populist communication, but they are less connected to any of the more general conceptual frameworks of populism. Naturally, this is understandable, since, as we argued, most of these conceptualizations do not accommodate visual communication, therefore they are difficult to apply to a multimodal analysis.

However, Moffitt's (2016) conceptualization of populism as a political communication style can fill this gap, when describes it as "the repertoires of embodied, symbolically mediated performance made to audiences that are used to create and navigate the fields of power" (p. 46). This includes not only substantive elements of communication but a focus on how it is performed, which offers a multimodal interpretation framework. In Moffitt's (2016) theory, populism is "not a particular entity or 'thing' but a political style that is done" (p. 155). Its three main features are: 1) appeal to 'the people' versus 'the elite'; 2) 'bad manners'; and 3) crisis, breakdown, or threat. These main dimensions include a variety of sub-categories of populism, such as its leader-centric nature, the leader's ability to perform both ordinariness and extraordinariness at the same time, showing closeness to 'the People' and distance to 'the Elite', creating crisis and enemies, and oversimplifying complex social and political issues. These features can be communicated via both verbal and visual cues.

Consequently, the style approach allows researchers to include both verbal and visual aspects of populism by focusing on the performers, audiences, stages, and the mise-enscènes. A further advantage of this theoretical framework is that it does not interpret populism as a binary category –populist or not– but as a gradual scale on which changes in the populist communication style of different actors can be measured in different periods. In other words, this interpretation of the populist style allows us to look at the communication of actors previously defined in binary terms in a more nuanced way, which results in a broader interpretation of populist performance.

Research questions

So far, scholarly works show rather isolated findings on visual populism. We make an attempt to fill this gap by translating Moffitt's political style approach into a testable formal instrument of measurement for populist verbal and visual communication which cover all of the crucial aspects of their conceptualization of populism. By using this instrument, our goal is to describe multimodal Facebook communication of the Hungarian Prime Minister, Viktor Orbán who is one of the most prominent contemporary populist leaders enjoying longevity in power (Norris & Inglehart, 2019). Although for our testing purposes we could have chosen a case where populism is less clearly present, also, Orbán's right-wingness would not have been necessary, since one of the advantages of the style approach is that it allows for an analysis independent of binary definitions, by examining Orbán's case we can more clearly explore the extent to which Moffitt's (2016) conceptualization is suitable for capturing the bimodal communication of a particular case of populist political actors. Consequently, the first research question of the paper is as follows:

RQ1: Which dimension of Moffitt's (2016) populist style was applied most prominently in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts?

Moffitt's (2016) political communication style offers a stepping stone towards a more amalgamated investigation, allowing the now scattered observations to be integrated within the framework of a theoretically grounded approach. Observations both on rhetorical and aesthetic elements of communication can be treated as elements of the populist style Consequently, the populist style approach allows researchers to highlight visual aspects of a political actor's communication, including non-verbal behavior that could range from gestures and emotional displays to fashion and grooming. Collectively these visual cues have a central role in the construction of populist political communication (Moffitt, 2016). However, it is uncovered to what extent the communication of different populist elements differs across verbal and visual communication. It can be that some elements are more frequently emphasized by visual cues, while others are primarily communicated via verbal messages.

RQ2: Are there differences between the image and textual messages of Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts?

Although the current political context may have an impact on the application of the populist style, there is little knowledge on the timing aspect of populist communication. Thus, a further research question is formulated based on the application of populist communication across different time periods. It is known now that verbal populist communication is often used as a strategic tool, and more actively applied before than after the elections (Schmuck and Hameleers, 2020). As for the COVID-19 period, populist communication was used to strengthen the context of the crisis, create and highlight enemies such as the media and the elites, (Burni and Tamaki, 2021), amplify the strong leadership, the leader's ordinariness, and emphasize the necessity of fighting for the national interests (Bene and Boda, 2021). However, this question has not been investigated in the case of specific political actors, moreover, there is little knowledge on populist communication in the period of non-campaigns. Thus, the third research question of the study is as follows:

RQ3: Were there differences in Viktor Orbán's Facebook communication across the campaign period, the COVID-19 crisis period, and the non-campaign period?

Method

This study can be described as a bimodal quantitative content analysis that assessed Viktor Orbán's use of populism in his Facebook image posts over the course of three years. As moving images (gifs and videos) need different methodological approaches (Rose, 2001), they are excluded from the present study. A coding instrument has been designed that comprised 92 verbal and visual categories. These are mostly deduced from Moffitt's (2016) conceptual work on populist leader styles supplemented with a few other descriptive variables, such as the valence of the posts, the number of people represented, and the actor types, which we adopted from a previous work, that examined populism by content analysis (Farkas et al., 2022), and we also considered the production characteristics of the images. The purpose of this supplement was to put the Moffitt categories in context and to study the basic visual characteristics. Our choice to focus on Orbán's Facebook profile is motivated by the popularity of this social media
platform in Hungary and the prominent role of this page in Viktor Orbán's communication (see, Merkovity et al., 2021). Eighty-one percent of the Hungarian online population uses Facebook and 59 percent of these users consume news on the platform (Newman et al., 2021). In Hungary, Viktor Orbán is the most followed political actor since they registered on the platform in 2010 (Bene & Szabó, 2021) and had 1.1 million followers at the end of 2020.

The sample

Given the goal to contribute insights into visual populism, this study treated the individual image post on Viktor Orbán's Facebook profile as the sampling unit. Text posts accompanying sampled image posts were included in the sample, therefore the sample frame did not include text posts that appeared without images or posts that include videos rather than still images. The sample was drawn using CrowdTangle, a public insights tool owned and operated by Facebook. A total of 495 still image posts were identified on Viktor Orbán's profile between January 1, 2018, and December 31, 2020, which is 46 percent of all the posts they published during this period. This three-year period was chosen for both convenience (access to archived material) and strategic reasons. The time frame included two major events (elections and the emergence of COVID-19) that posed challenges to leadership and thereby provided an opportunity to observe populist inclinations to surface on social media. As a baseline comparison, this period also provided ample opportunity to study quiet news periods, known in the media politics arena as cucumber time.

Three election campaigns occurred during the sample period: (1) Hungarian Parliamentary (02/17/2018 - 04/08/2018), (2) European Parliamentary (04/06/2019 - 05/26/2019), and (3) Hungarian Local (08/23/2019 - 10/13/2019) election campaigns. The sample also comprised the full first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic (03/04/2020 - 07/17/2020) and more than half of the second wave (07/18/2020 - 12/31/2020). COVID-19 periods were determined based on the work of Uzzoli and colleagues (2021), while campaign periods are the official, legally defined time frames of election campaigns. Time periods between elections and before the pandemic were treated as cucumber time. The Campaign Period produced 86 image posts, the COVID-19 Period 176, and Cucumber Time was represented by 230 posts.

Coding instrument

The units of analysis were the individual post from Orbán's Facebook account. An image post contained at least one image and mostly included an accompanying text content (96 percent with text). Most categories were applied separately for the image and textual content. Superimposed text on the image was treated as part of the image and coded accordingly.

A few categories were designed for descriptive insight, these include the valence (positive, negative, neutral, mixed) of posts as well as production variables related to camera shot angle (high, eye-level, low) and shot distance (long, medium, close). The category system employed to assess populism was based on three dimensions conceptually developed by Moffitt (2016): 'The People' versus 'the Elite', Bad Manners, and Crisis, Breakdown, Threat, but several individual categories which can easily be connected to this conceptualization were adopted from existing content analysis (Farkas et al., 2022). Table 1 offers a summary of how Moffitt's (2016) dimensions were operationalized into individual categories and the viability of these categories in capturing instances of populism. As mentioned above, most categories were operationalized to have visual and verbal equivalents, which made comparisons between the two modalities possible. In most cases, the presence or absence of a populist trait was recorded using yes and no options within categories.

Category	Variables (both visual and verbal)	Viability of categories
Appeal to 'the People' vs. 'the Elite'		59 variables in total, 48 useable
Closeness to ordinary people (High frequencies indicate populist style)	Individualized physical attention to people, approving audiences, vox pops, performative expressions of the leader, leader engaged in performative rituals, leader visiting the people, leader attentive to children of ordinary people	 14 variables in total No incidents of: vox pops (visual & verbal) visiting the people (visual & verbal) approving audiences (verbal) Useable number: 14-5=9 Useable visual: 7-2=5 Useable verbal: 7-3=4
Ordinariness (High frequencies indicate populist style)	Rural setting, ordinary food, ordinary leisure (only verbal), family of the leader, animals, sport events, humble personal background, agricultural activities, leader carrying a backpack, leader in informal	 27 variables in total No incidents of: athletic clothing (verbal) backpack (verbal)

Table 1. A summary of the coding system based on Moffitt's (2016) populist style.

	clothing, athletic clothing, leader associated with national symbols, religious symbols, leader denying expert opinions	 agriculture (verbal) denial of experts (verbal & visual) Useable number: 27-5=22 Useable visual: 13-1=12 Useable verbal: 14-4=10
Extraordinariness (High frequencies indicate populist style)	Presence of celebrities, other populist leaders, fitness/health displays, masculinity, graphication, accomplishments of the leader, mediatization of the leader	 14 variables in total No incidents of: graphication (verbal) Useable number: 14-1=13 Useable visual:7-0=7 Useable verbal: 7-1=6
Elites (Low frequencies indicate populist style)	Signifying wealth in setting, the presence of elite	4 variables in total Useable number: 4 Useable visual: 2-0=2 Useable verbal: 2-0=2
Bad manners (High frequencies indicate populist style)	Slang, swearing, political incorrectness	 6 variables in total No incidents of: slang (visual) swearing (verbal & visual) political incorrectness (verbal) Useable number: 6-4=2 Useable visual: 3-2=1 Useable verbal: 3-2=1
Crisis, breakdown, threat Enemies	Presentation of the following entities as	24 variables in total, usable 9 16 variables in total
(High frequencies indicate populist style)	threats: migrants, Brussels, George Soros, Ferenc Gyurcsány, Gergely Karácsony, COVID-19 (only visual), elite, Other enemies (only verbal), media	 No incidents of: migrants (visual) Soros (visual & verbal) Brussels (visual) Gyurcsány (visual & verbal) Karácsony (visual & verbal) media (visual & verbal) COVID (visual) elite (visual & verbal) Useable number: 16-13=3 Useable visual: 8-8=0 Useable verbal:8-5=3

Priming threat (High frequencies indicate populist style)	Reference to the border, armed forces, sounding the alarm, simplification	 8 total categories No incidents of: border (visual) simplification (visual) Useable number: 8-2=6 Useable visual: 4-2=2 Useable verbal: 4-0=4
--	---	---

As mentioned above, most categories were operationalized to have both visual and verbal equivalents, which allowed for comparison between the two modalities. In most cases, we recorded the presence or absence of populist elements within the categories using yes and no options. Table 2 shows visual examples of each dimension.

Dimension	Visual example
Appeal to 'the peop	
Closeness (Physical closeness to the people)	Image: Section of the section of t
Ordinariness (Agricultural activity)	OpenDeers

Table 2. Visual examples of the coded dimensions



As it can be seen from the examples, it is possible to code a post into several categories, for example, in the image of closeness, not only is Viktor Orbán's physical closeness to people depicted, but the ordinariness of the leader is also clearly visible in the simple, casual clothes of the Prime Minister.

The people versus elites.

To assess how Orbán represented 'the People' and 'the Elite', four subdimensions were identified, each measured through multiple categories. First, closeness categories assessed demonstrated comfort with regular people, signaling that the leader is one of them through physical access to him. Physical attention to regular people, being among them, visiting their homes and neighborhoods, paying attention to the children of ordinary people, giving voice to them, and using nonverbal gestures and expressions to acknowledge people were included here.

Second and third, to capture the complexity of populist leaders positioning themselves both as one with the people and exceptional compared to ordinary people, self-depictions of ordinariness and extraordinariness were documented. The ordinariness categories focused on the leader's plain folks personae, sharing the values of ordinary people. Accordingly, this includes the food and drink typically consumed by ordinary people, the leisure activities they enjoy (e.g. attending sporting events, spending time with family, caring for pets), casual dress (e.g. sportswear, jeans, backpack), and a rejection of pomposity and expertise or an appeal to common sense. Emphasis on a leader's humble personal background and a connection to or appreciation of agriculture also counted among the ordinariness categories. Furthermore, the categories of ordinariness include religious and national pride, national and religious symbols, as representations of the values of the people.

Extraordinariness items documented the self-representation of leadership and personal prowess. Familiarity with celebrities, physical fitness and masculinity, media interest in the leader, and accomplishments were coded.

Fourth, populist relations to the elites –political, bureaucratic, economic, religious and cultural elites– were tested through categories that measured their presence in posts as well as settings that signal wealth and privilege.

Bad manners

Three categories were devised to capture how populists distance themselves "from other political actors in terms of legitimacy and authenticity" (Moffitt, 2016, p. 60) by breaking unwritten rules. Using slang, swearing, and politically incorrect statements were recorded in verbal posts. Visual images featuring written signs (e.g. held by supporters or shown in graffiti) or visual appearances of politically inappropriate behavior (e.g. inappropriate physical contact) were also counted. *Crisis, Breakdown, Threat.*

This dimension comprised the populist tendency to create and maintain crisis with the communication of perceived or real threats. It was operationalized in four techniques: constructing groups and people as threats, reminding followers of how a crisis is mitigated, exaggerating threats, and offering simplified solutions to complicated problems. In the case of Orbán, people and groups who have the potential to be on his enemy list are migrants, George Soros, Brussels, two Hungarian oppositional party leaders, Ferenc Gyurcsány (ex-PM) and Gergely Karácsony (Mayor of Budapest), the media, and elites. COVID-19, and other enemies without specifics were also added to capture threat appeals. Threat mitigation involved signals of protection against danger. Visual or verbal references to the border and armed forces were recorded. Alarmist posts that dramatized or exaggerated crises and danger, as well as simplified and sweeping fixes for threats, were also coded.

Data collection

Image and text posts were coded by two coders, one undergraduate student in political science and one of the authors of this article. Two coder training sessions were followed by pre-tests of coder reliability which resulted in Krippendorff's alpha values for individual variables within a range of 0.66 to 1. More coder training ensued before data collection started. A random subsample of 187 posts (38 percent of the full sample) was subjected to an intercoder reliability test that resulted in a mean value of Krippendorff's alphas in 0.91. Three variables that did not achieve the acceptable level of 0.8 value (visual leisure, verbal COVID-19, visual other enemies) were excluded from data analysis. Data were collected over the course of 4 weeks.

Results

Preliminary descriptive findings

From the 495 sampled image posts, three images contained only text (e.g. only statistics, diagrams, screenshots of laws and regulations) and were therefore excluded from analyses. Of the remaining 492 image posts, almost 96 percent were accompanied by a separate text post and another 1.8 percent featured text superimposed on the image posts.

Descriptive insights about the depicted actors, production features, and valence of the image posts show that the leader is presented in 77 percent of the posts, which means visual depiction in all cases, verbal self-references are present only in five posts. The second most frequently depicted actors are the elites (57 percent), while 'the People', other populist leaders, and Brussels appear only in 10 percent of the posts. Supposed enemies of Viktor Orbán, such as George Soros, Ferenc Gyurcsány, and Gergely Karácsony do not appear in the posts neither verbally nor visually at all, and even migrants are present in less than 1 percent of the posts.



Figure 1. Actors presented in Viktor Orbán's posts

In posts where Viktor Orbán is present, these actor types appear in very similar proportions. The only significant difference is related to the elites: 68 percent of the posts depicting Orbán present some elite actors as well.

In terms of valence, the majority (63 percent) of posts were positive. Negative and neutral posts each made up 15 percent of the total and 7 percent of posts comprised a mix of positive and negative tones. However, posts depicting the Prime Minister are significantly more emotional (χ 2=25.006, df=3, p <0.001): while 55 percent of the posts not depicting Orbán are positive and 9 percent are negative, 65 percent of the posts where he appears are positive and 17 percent is negative. The majority of images where the leader is depicted were framed as medium shots (77 percent), suggesting a personable but not intimate personal distance (see Meyrowitz, 1986). About 20 percent of the shots where Orbán is present were long, which are often used as scene-setting or establishing shots without much opportunity for advancing personal connections between a leader and social media users. Only 1 percent of shots were close-ups, indicating Orbán's reluctance to use close paraproxemic cues in his posts.

Eye-level was the most common (90 percent) angle used in images of Orbán, followed by low (6 percent) and high (3.5 percent) angles. It can be said that Orbán's posts did not tend to show either empowering people through low, or diminishing people through high angle shots (Meyrowitz, 1986).

Viktor Orbán's populist style

To answer our research questions, data were collapsed along the major dimensions of conceptual interest and sub-themes such as people vs. elites (closeness, ordinariness, extraordinariness, elites), bad manners, crisis communication (enemies, threats) (see, Table 1). This approach afforded statistical analyses on aggregated dimensions despite low-frequency counts for many individual categories.

The first research question prompted an investigation of the extent to which the three dimensions of Moffitt's (2016) populist style are used by Viktor Orbán's bimodal Facebook communication. In general, as Figure 8 shows the presence of each element in the posts, either visually or verbally, the categories of *Appeals to 'the People' versus 'the Elite'* were applied remarkably often, the creation of *Crisis, breakdown, and threat* was less frequently applied, while the Bad manners category was hardly used by Viktor Orbán.





Unpacking details about the subthemes of the most frequently applied *Appeal to* 'the People' versus 'the Elite' category, results show that ordinariness and elites are present in the majority of the posts – ordinariness in four out of five posts and the elites in three out of two posts. The other two subtheme categories are also characteristic of Viktor Orbán's communication: extraordinariness appears in 39 percent of the posts and closeness in 27 percent. Overall, 97 percent of the posts contain some *Appeal to 'the People' versus 'the Elite'* elements.

However, as '*the People' versus 'the Elite'* category is built on the contradictions between 'the People' and 'the Elite', it is essential to investigate to what extent the elements related to ordinary people –such as closeness and ordinariness– appear together with the representation of the elites. Interestingly, this contrast is present in 56 percent of all posts, i.e. this proportion of posts featured closeness or ordinariness together with the appearance of the elites.

Nevertheless, 'the Elite' is not necessarily portrayed in a negative way in Viktor Orbán's communication. In fact, the elites are more frequently presented in a positive context. Nearly two-thirds (64 percent) of posts featuring elites have a positive valence, 13 percent are neutral, only 15 percent are negative, and 8 percent belong to mixed valence. Negative or neutral posts where both the elites and people-centric closeness or ordinariness categories are present appeared in 14 percent of all posts. This means that the explicit contrast of 'the People' versus 'the Elite' is not general, but it is far from rare as one in seven posts applies this strong distinction.

All the other categories are less frequently applied, especially *Bad manners*, which is present only in 2 percent of all posts. *Crisis, breakdown, and threat* categories are present in 17 percent of all posts, which is based on the depiction of some kind of threat that appeared in 16 percent of the posts, while the enemies are not frequently depicted in the image posts of Orbán. In 18 percent of posts at least two main categories are present, and only in 3 percent of the posts is no populist element. There is only one post, where all three categories are present at the same time:



Figure 3. All three categories in a post. Viktor Orbán's Facebook post, 10/03/2019

In this post, the post text says "short tract from the camp", which is a term with multiple meanings. It is not only a reference to a study on military theory from Miklós Zrínyi, a Hungarian military leader and poet from the 17th century, but it also means a feast, which is visible in the photo. Thus, it can be understood as the application of slang (colloquial and jargon terms, informal words in the post text, e.g.). Further, Orbán is wearing informal clothes, which is a sign of ordinariness. At the same time, the soldiers are signifying both threat and protection from threat.

As *Appeals to 'the People' versus 'the Elite'* subthemes seem to be the most important part of Viktor Orbán's populist style, it is worth having a more detailed focus on variables in this general category.





Closeness categories in Orbán's posts appear primarily through performative rituals and expressions, the other categories are rarely applied. These show the Prime Minister's attendance at events such as funerals, memorial services, weddings or voting, and include verbal mention of these. It also includes the use of body language or expressions that create closeness with the viewer/listener/reader through the use of a consistent sign within the group, such as the thumbs-up, wave, or "go for it". The other categories are rarely used, while the ordinariness was depicted mainly through symbols, especially the representation of national symbols, casual dress, and the rural setting.



Figure 5. Detailed proportions of Ordinariness categories in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts

Extraordinariness is primarily present by showing media interest around the leader and depicting his accomplishments.



Figure 6. Detailed proportions of Extraordinariness categories in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts

Both components of 'the Elite' category are commonly applied: in a significant proportion of posts (57 percent) some kind of elite actor appears in the post, while the depiction of a wealthy environment is present in every third post.



Figure 7. Detailed proportions of Elites categories in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts

To answer the second Research Question, we investigate our variables in verbal and image-based communication separately. As Figure 8 shows, there are differences in the application of the categories based on the modalities.



Figure 8. Proportions of visual and verbal populist categories in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts

Closeness is conveyed primarily verbally by the Prime Minister, while ordinariness and elites are much more presented in their posts visually. Results on the visual ordinariness can be understood with the consideration of the fact that ordinariness categories are mainly present through symbols and clothing. Further, smaller but still significant differences can be perceived between the more visually depicted extraordinariness, and the only verbally represented enemy images, who, from this perspective might be considered as "invisible enemies". Bad manners and threats appear in similar proportions verbally and visually.

Considering the results across the three different time periods, data show relatively little difference.



Figure 9. Proportions of populist style categories in Viktor Orbán's Facebook posts across the three different time periods

As Figure 9 shows, closeness categories are significantly more present in Viktor Orbán's image-based Facebook communication during the campaign period compared to other periods. When it comes to the campaigns, the leader's closeness to 'the People' appears in every second post. Unsurprisingly, the threat is much higher during the COVID-19 period than in the other periods. However, it is the least common during the campaigns, therefore it seems that it is less used to mobilize voters. There are only slight differences in the application of ordinariness categories, but it is worth mentioning that their proportion during the period of COVID-19 is a little, bus significantly higher than during the cucumber period.

Discussion

This study investigated Viktor Orbán's populist style on Facebook with the application of a coding instrument that operationalized Moffitt's (2016) notions of a populist style into a bimodal measuring system. There are conclusions to be drawn about how well Moffitt's populist style approach is able to describe the image-based social media communication of one of the leading European populist actors.

The Appeal to 'the People' versus 'the Elite' dimension captured by far the most

instances of the populist style. Crisis, breakdown, and threat categories are applied to a lesser extent, while Bad manners categories are rarely applied. Also, it should be highlighted, that within the Appeal to 'the People' versus 'the Elite' dimension, 'the Elite' is more highlighted than 'the People'. Further, the depiction of the elites is more positive than negative. This large emphasis on elites can also be observed in situational elements, as setting signifying wealth is more visible in the posts than the rural setting. Compared to the frequent presence of the elites, 'The People' as actors are relatively rarely depicted in the Hungarian Prime Minister's posts. However, the people-centric style is prominent in his self-presentation, as closeness and ordinariness play a significant role in his communication. While these elements are frequently presented in a fragmented way, it is not uncommon that the people-centric elements are directly contrasted with negative elite depiction.

Orbán's bimodal social media communication seems to be fairly consistent, with minimal differences across different periods. Depiction of the people-centric closeness increased during the campaign period, while extraordinariness during the period of COVID-19. However, differences between the modalities are more prevalent: the most frequently used populist elements are more pronounced in visual communication than in verbal communication. Ordinariness and elites are mostly presented visually, and the visual depiction of extraordinariness is also more prevalent than its verbal equivalent. These findings underline the necessity of studying visuals in populist communication. On the other hand, closeness is predominantly communicated by verbal cues.

Generally, results show that Orbán's social media-based populist style does not truly correspond to Moffitt's (2016) definition, his "populist toolbox" is narrower, and his populism is essentially based on 'the People' versus 'the Elite' dimension, specifically the people-centric self-representation and the mostly positive depiction of the elites. The latter can be an important strategy, as Orbán needs to represent an antielite position from an elite position with more than a decade of governance. Thus, this mixed depiction can be considered as a strategic tool. The stability and consistency of communication across the different time periods suggest that Orbán has already developed a populist style on Facebook that does not need to adapt to the actual events. Finally, an important finding is that populist style can be better grasped in visual messages, showing that populism research that focuses only on texts can only give an incomplete picture.

It is also worth noting that the study did not set out to examine Viktor Orbán's

interpretation of himself as a populist actor. Rather, the aim of our paper is to contribute to the understanding of populism as a communication style by translating Moffitt's (2016) theoretical framework into practice, by developing a more nuanced research direction that takes into account visual aspects as well. As a consequence, our results can be interpreted on a scale where the populist communication style and its elements can be applied by all political actors, populist and non-populist, even to varying degrees from period to period.

Nevertheless, the study has limitations. The research focused only on social media, but Orbán may communicate differently through other channels, e.g. crisis communication or bad manner may be grasped better on other communication platforms. Descriptive findings showed that Orbán uses Facebook predominantly for positive communication, thus crisis communication and bad manners do not fit here. Hence, it can be said that Moffitt's (2016) populist style definition can only partially grasp the Hungarian Prime Minister's social media communication. Future research should examine other channels and platforms by the application of the coding instrument.

It should also be noted that the populist Fidesz party's communication has a highly organized, multi-stakeholder communication strategy where a highly developed and organized system of task division operates (Metz & Várnagy, 2021). This means that certain populist elements may not be found in Orbán's communication but they may be highly present in the communication of other politicians, ministers, and media personalities. Future research may be worth examining the populist communication of Fidesz as a populist party separately.

It would also be worthwhile to examine and compare populist and non-populist leaders' communication from other countries to determine at a very general level how much Moffitt's (2016) populist style is inherent in the visual and verbal communication of populist leaders compared to non-populist politicians. Finally, another future direction could be the focus on moving images, as videos are also frequently used visual tools of Viktor Orbán, and they can convey different messages than posts with still images.

Overall, the coding instrument presented in this study can be a useful tool to study populism worldwide, as it has operationalized and translated Moffitt's (2016) theory into flexible verbal and visual frames, where cultural differences can easily be adapted to it by changing specific enemies, or clothes.

References cited

- Akkerman, Tjitske-de Lange, Sarah L.- Rooduijn, Matthijs (2016): Radical right-wing populist parties in Western Europe: into the mainstream? London; New York, NY: Routledge.
- Arendt, Florian–Marquart, Franziska–Matthes, Jörg (2015): "Effects of right-wing populist political advertising on implicit and explicit stereotypes". *Journal of Media Psychology: Theories, Methods, and Applications*, Vol. 27, Issue 4, 178–189.
- Bene, Márton–Boda, Zsolt (2021): "Hungary: Crisis as Usual—Populist Governance and the Pandemic". In: Bobba Giuliano–Nicolas Hubé (szerk): *Populism and the Politicization of the COVID-19 Crisis in Europe*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 87–100.
- Bene, Márton–Farkas, Xénia (2018): "Kövess, reagálj, oszd meg! A közösségi média a 2018-as országgyűlési választási kampányban". In: Böcskei Balázs–Szabó Andrea (szerk): Várakozások És Valóságok. Parlamenti Választás 2018. Budapest: MTA TK PTI, Napvilág Kiadó, 410–424.
- Bene, Márton–Szabó, Gabriella (2021): "Discovered and Undiscovered Fields of Digital Politics : Mapping Online Political Communication and Online News Media Literature in Hungary". *Intersections*, Vol. 7, Issue 1, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.17356/ieejsp.v7i1.868
- Burni, Aline–Tamaki, Eduardo (2021): "Populist Communication During the Covid-19
 Pandemic: the Case of Brazil's President Bolsonaro". *PArtecipazione e COnflitto*, Vol. 14, Issue 1, 113–31. https://doi.org/10.1285/i2035660914i1p113
- CrowdTangle Team (2021). *CrowdTangle*. Facebook, Menlo Park, California, United States. List ID: [71208]
- Engesser, Sven–Ernst, Nicole–Esser, Frank–Büchel, Florin (2017): "Populism and Social Media: How Politicians Spread a Fragmented Ideology". *Information, Communication* & Society, Vol. 20, Issue 8, 1109–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1207697
- Ernst, Nicole–Engesser, Sven–Büchel, Florin (2017): "Extreme Parties and Populism: An Analysis of Facebook and Twitter across Six Countries". *Information, Communication* & Society, Vol. 20, Issue 9, 1347–64. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1329333

- Farkas, Xénia–Jackson, Daniel–Baranowski, Pawel–Bene, Márton–Russmann, Uta– Veneti, Anastasia (2022): "Strikingly Similar: Comparing Visual Political Communication of Populist and Non-Populist Parties across 28 Countries". *European Journal of Communication*, Online first, 1-18. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/02673231221082238
- Freistein, Katja–Gadinger, Frank (2020): "Populist Stories of Honest Men and Proud Mothers: A Visual Narrative Analysis". *Review of International Studies*, Vol. 46, Issue 2, 217–36. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210519000421
- Gimenez, Elsa–Schwarz, Natalie (2016): "The Visual Construction of "the People" and "Proximity to the People" on the Online Platforms of the National Front and Swiss People's Party". *Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie*, Vol. 41, Issue 2, 213–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11614-016-0200-3
- Hawkins, Kirk A. (2009): "Is Chávez Populist? Measuring Populist Discourse in Comparative Perspective". *Comparative Political Studies*, Vol. 42, Issue 8, 1040–67. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414009331721
- Herkman, Juha (2019): "Populism in Political Cartoons: Caricatures of Nordic Populist Leaders". *Popular Communication*, Vol. 17, Issue 3, 252–67. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15405702.2019.1614183
- Hokka, Jenni–Nelimarkka, Matti (2019): "Affective Economy of National-Populist Images: Investigating National and Transnational Online Networks through Visual Big Data". New Media & Society, Vol. 22, Issue 5, 770–92. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1461444819868686
- Jewitt, Carry–Bezemer, Jeff–O'Halloran, Kay (2016): *Introducing multimodality*. London; New York: Routledge.
- Körösényi, András–Patkós, Veronika (2017): Liberal and Illiberal Populism. The Leadership of Berlusconi and Orbán. *Corvinus Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, Vol. 8, Issue 3, 315–337. https://doi.org/10.14267/issn.2062-087X
- Mendonça, Ricardo F.–Caetano, Renato Duarte (2020): "Populism as Parody: The Visual Self-Presentation of Jair Bolsonaro on Instagram". *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, Vol. 26, Issue 1, 210–35. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1940161220970118

- Merkovity, Norbert–Bene, Márton–Farkas, Xénia (2021): "Hungary: The Illiberal Crisis Management". In: Lilleker, Darren–Coman, Ioana A.– Gregor, Miloš–Novelli, Edoardo (szerk): *Political Communication and COVID-19*. Routledge, 269–79.
- Meyrowitz, Joshua. 1986. No Sense of Place: The Impact of Electronic Media on Social Behavior. New York, NY.: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Metz, Rudolf Várnagy, Réka (2021): "Mass," Movement," Personal," or "Cartel" Party? Fidesz's Hybrid Organisational Strategy. *Politics and Governance*, 9(4), 317-328.
- Moffitt, Benjamin (in press): "How Do Populists Visually Represent 'The People'? A Systematic Comparative Visual Content Analysis of Donald Trump and Bernie Sanders' Instagram Accounts". *The International Journal of Press/Politics*.
- Moffitt, Benjamin (2016): *The global rise of populism: performance, political style, and representation*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Mudde, Cas (2004): "The Populist Zeitgeist". *Government and Opposition*, Vol. 39, Issue 4, 541–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-7053.2004.00135.x
- Mudde, Cas (2007): *Populist Radical Right Parties in Europe*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mudde, Cas (2016): Europe's Populist Surge: A Long Time in the Making. *Foreign Affairs*, Vol. 95, Issue 6, 25–30. http://www.jstor.org/stable/43948378
- Newman, Nic-Fletcher, Richard-Schulz, Anne-Andi Simge-Kleis Nielsen, Rasmus (2020): *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2020*. Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism.
- Norris, Pippa–Inglehart, Ronald (2019): *Cultural Backlash: Trump, Brexit, and Authoritarian Populism*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Pauwels, Teun (2017): "Measuring populism: A review of current approaches". In: Heinisch, Reinhard C.–Holtz-Bacha, Christina–Mazzolen, i Oscar (szerk): *Political Populism: A Handbook*. Nomos, 123–36.
- Piontek, Dorota–Tadeusz-Ciesielczyk, Małgorzata (2019): "Nonverbal components of the populist style of political communication: A study on televised presidential debates in

Poland". *Central European Journal of Communication*, Vol. 12, Issue 2, 150–68. https://doi.org/10.19195/1899-5101.12.2(23).3

- Rose, Gillian (2001): Visual Methodologies: An Introduction to the Interpretation of Visual Materials. SAGE.
- Schmuck, Desirée–Hameleers, Michael (2020): "Closer to the People: A Comparative Content Analysis of Populist Communication on Social Networking Sites in Pre- and Post-Election Periods". *Information, Communication & Society*, Vol. 23, Issue 10, 1531–48. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1369118X.2019.1588909
- Schmuck, Desirée–Matthes, Jörg (2017): "Effects of Economic and Symbolic Threat Appeals in Right-Wing Populist Advertising on Anti-Immigrant Attitudes: The Impact of Textual and Visual Appeals". *Political Communication*, Vol. 34, Issue 4, 607–26. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10584609.2017.1316807
- Uzzoli, Annamária–Kovács, Sándor Zsolt– Páger, Balázs–Szabó, Tamás (2021): "A hazai COVID–19-járványhullámok területi különbségei". *Területi Statisztika*, Vol. 61, Issue 3, 291–319. https://www.ksh.hu/statszemle_archive/terstat/2021/2021_03/ts610302.pdf.
- de Vreese, Claes H.–Esser, Frank–Aalberg, Toril–Reinemann, Carsten–Stanyer, James (2018): "Populism as an Expression of Political Communication Content and Style: A New Perspective". *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, Vol. 23, Issue 4, 423–38. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1940161218790035
- Weyland, Kurt (2001): "Clarifying a Contested Concept: Populism in the Study of Latin American Politics". *Comparative Politics*, Vol. 34, Issue 1, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.2307/422412
- Weyland, Kurt (2017): "Populism: A Political-Strategic Approach". In *The Oxford Handbook of Populism*, szerk. Cristóbal Rovira Kaltwasser, Paul Taggart, Paulina Ochoa Espejo, és Pierre Ostiguy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 48–72.
- Wodak, Ruth–Forchtner, Bernhard (2014): "Embattled Vienna 1683/2010: Right-Wing Populism, Collective Memory and the Fictionalisation of Politics". *Visual Communication* Vol. 13, Issue 2, 231–55.
 http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1470357213516720

The visual and verbal populist style of Viktor Orbán on Facebook

Coding scheme

The research has three main aims: (1) to test Moffitt's (2016) theory in practice; (2) to create a detailed and generalizable coding scheme based on the features of populist style; (3) to test whether the populist communication style differs in the three different periods (campaign period; crisis period; cucumber period).

As compared to parties, in performing populism the leaders have a distinctive role (Moffitt, 2016), the analysis focuses on the communication of populist leaders.

The method: multimodal quantitative content analysis.

This coding scheme is based on Moffitt's (2016) work, which means that categories and variables are derived from the description of "Populism as a Political Style" (pp. 50-58).

The coding process, categories and variables

Coders receive an excel database containing all the Facebook image posts of the leader. Specifically, present research is focused on the Facebook communication of Viktor Orbán, hence the excel file contains his image posts from three different periods: the 2018 Hungarian Parliamentary election campaign; the first and second wave of Covid-19 (2020); a period of low activity between campaigns and crisis (2019-2020).

1. As a first step, coders should open the link of the image post from the excel column "Link".

The **unit of analysis** is the individual image post from the leader on his/her account. An image post contains necessarily at least one image, and not necessarily, but possibly a post text, and/or a superimposed text on the image.



This is a multimodal study, which means that both text and image are taken into account. The visual categories are about the individual image and the superimposed text on the image. Think of the superimposed text as part of the image and help to construct the visual message. Yet, when it comes to the presence of the leader please code him as present only when he appears in likeness. In other words, his brand logo superimposed on an image that he does not appear in, should not be treated as he is present. The verbal categories are about the text post. Posts should be coded accordingly: if there is only an image, with or without a superimposed text on it, code only the visual categories, but if there is a text post, code verbal categories too.

Emoji in the text post of the leader can serve as context for interpreting the text, e.g. smiley faces can help determine the valence of the text post. However, emoji are not coded as images.

- 2. The second step is to examine the whole post carefully. Coders are encouraged to scroll down follower comments to find context for the post if necessary and translate verbal messages if necessary (<u>https://translate.google.com/</u>). Coders should keep in mind that their personal views and interpretations should be put aside in applying the instrument. To do this, strive for applying the categories as they are defined and treat the images and words in the way that they are presented by the leader. The goal is to assess how the leader communicates with his/her social media audience. The goal is not to gain insight into coder evaluations or opinions of what the leader is communicating.
- 3. The variables are identified according to whether they are **fulfilled** (in this case, **enter 1** in the given excel cell or select the appropriate category from the drop-down list) or not (in case of **non-fulfilment**, **enter 0** in the given excel cell).
- 4. There are 5 main sections to this coding instrument: MODALITY, VALENCE, PRODUCTION (Camera angle and Shot distance), PEOPLE AND PLACE (Actors, Number of the people, and Setting), and THREE DIMENSIONS ADAPTED FROM MOFFITT (Appeal to 'the People' versus 'the Elite'; 'Bad Manners'; and Crisis, Breakdown, Threat.) All sections start with specific instructions relevant to that one, then categories are described in more details.

SECTION 1: MODALITY

1. This section focuses on the visual and textual components of each post, which means that coders should take into account both the visual and the textual elements according to the instructions.



Text on the image 1=yes (there is text on the image) 0=no (no text on image)	If there is text superimposed on the image after it was taken (e.g., banners, flags, logos, etc.) code "yes" here. Treat the text on the photograph as part of the image and use the information as part of the image for subsequent visual categories.	★ ★★ ★ <p< th=""></p<>
Post text 1=yes 0=no	If there is a verbal message that accompanies the post next to the image*, please code "yes" here. If the post appears as an image only, code "no" here. *The excel file has a "Message" column that contains the post text, even if there's no actual post text visible after open the link – we can see the message in the excel file. Code this as a post text, because they are actually post texts. If there are different messages in the actual post text and the "Message" column, focus on the actual post text.	Image: State Sta

SECTION 2: VALENCE

2. This section refers to the overall tone of the post in terms of positivity, negativity, and neutrality. This means that coders should focus on both the visual and textual components of each post when deciding the overall tone, as valence can be affected by the image itself, the text of the post, and the text on the image. Consider all of these dimensions for a global (all-inclusive) coding decision.

VALENCE		
Positive =1	 The tone of the image could be positive due to positive facial expressions (smile, compassion) of the leader (take a specific look at the leader), or other people, or backgrounds (uplifting nature, patriotic, cheering crowds, bright colors, etc.). The verbal message could also contain positivity cues, (e.g. it reports some success, expresses hope for something positive in the future, states something positive about someone, says thanks for someone, or there is positive humor in the post.) If one modality's valence is positive. For example: visual=neutral, text=positive, overall code will be positive. As the example shows, the visual valence is neutral due to the neutral facial expression of the leader, but the text post's valence is positive, due to the encouraging tone ("Go Szilárd Németh!") that refers to hope. Hence, the overall valence of the post is positive. 	Image: An and A
Negative=2	The tone of the image is negative due to negative facial expressions of the leader (anger, sadness, fear, contempt, disgust), or other people (see the leader's frown and downcast eyes of people around him in the example), or backgrounds (somber and not uplifting). The textual message could set the negative tone with criticism of something or someone, expression of sadness, negative irony, or presents people with negative emotions. If one modality is negative and the other is neutral, code the overall tone of the post as negative. For example: visual=negative, text=neutral, overall code will be negative. As the example shows, the visual valence is negative due to the negative, concerned facial expression of the leader, and there is no text post'. Hence, the overall valence of the post is negative.	Image: Section of the section of t

Mixed=3	The tone of the image is truly a mix of positive and negative cues. This could be due to a negative facial expression (anger, sadness, fear, contempt, disgust) of the leader, or other people, or the backgrounds, with a positive text message or vice versa. E.g. the image shows a happy leader, while the textual message is something negative. As the example shows, the visual valence is negative due to the negative, angry facial expression of the depicted person, the dark colors, and the negative superimposed text, which is part of the visual message. However, the text post's valence is positive, as it is about the rise of the minimum wage (reporting success). Hence, the overall valence of the post is mixed.	X Image: Control of the second of the se
Neutral=4	The atmosphere of the image is neutral, there are no strong positive or negative facial expressions, nonverbal behavior, background cues, other actors and the textual messages also do not offer a specific valence direction, or there is no textual message that could help. Thus, both the verbal and the visual elements are neutral or factual without an emotional charge. The first image to the right offers an example of that: the visual valence is neutral due to the neutral facial expression of the leader, and the post has no specific valence direction either, as it is about a fact ("call center"). Hence, the overall valence of the post is neutral. It can also happen that there is not enough information contained in the post to make a decision about valence, use this option, just like in the second example on the right, there is no text post or superimposed text that could help decide the valence, and there are no facial expressions or any other contextual information. But use it sparingly. It might include a photo without a good view (e.g., back of head) of the leader's facial display, no other people present in the photograph, and no contextual information to assess valence.	

SECTION 3: PRODUCTION--CAMERA ANGLE AND SHOT DISTANCE

3. In this section the focus is on the image alone--thus ignore the text post and text on image. This means that coders should focus only on visual components of each post when deciding the production details.

PRODUCTION:

Angle or camera perspective (Code only for humans. If there is no human face in the picture, code 0 for both production categories.)

High=1	High angle shot looks down at the subject from a higher perspective. Keep an eye on the leaderthe angle should apply to the leader, as it does in the example to the right.	Image: Section 1 and secti
Eye-level=2	The leader is at eye-level with the camera. If the leader is not present, other people are at eye level with the camera.	Image: Second secon
Low-angle=3	The camera angle is positioned below the eye line of the leader, looking up at the leader. The example above is a good example of the camera being at eye level with people in the picture, but at a low angle on the leader.	Image: Section of the section of t
PRODUCTION: Camera distance	(Code only for humans. If there is no human fac	e in the picture, code 0 for both of the production categories.)
Long shot=1	Showing the full figure of the leader (or other people if he/she is not present) inside the frame, which signals an impersonal distance between the leader and the camera. Long shots might also include panoramic views of nature, skylines, or masses of unidentified people. The example on the right shows that the camera is far from the leader, thus his full figure is visible from this distance.	Image: Section of the section of th
Medium shot=2	When the figure of the leader inside the frame is cut off somewhere between the waist and the knee. This signals a social but not close distance to the camera. The example on the right shows that although people in the background are depicted from a long shot, the leader's figure is closer, his legs are not visible, thus this is a medium shot of him.	Image: Section of the section of t
Close-up shot=3	Only the head and shoulders (or even more facial prominence) of the leader are visible inside the frame, suggesting close distance from the camera and a personal relationship. In the example on the right, only the head and shoulders of the leader are visible, his face is close to the viewer of the image, which makes this picture a close-up shot.	

SECTION 4: PEOPLE AND PLACE

From this point forward, coding decisions have to be made for the image and text separately-please see the separation of visual and verbal coding decisions in the columns.

4. The following categories are designed to capture who is appearing in the post, the density of human representation, and the setting of the post.

Who is in the post?	Visual Description	Verbal Description	Examples
Actors			
The leader 1=yes 0=no	If the leader is recognizable in the image code "yes." If the leader is not present visually, code "no." Again, be sure <u>not</u> to code the leader as present due to the branding logo superimposed on an image in which he is not appearing in likeness.	Textual reference in the post text mentions the name of the leader, or reference to him/herself in first-person singular ($E/1 = \acute{en}$, engem, nekem, etc.). Pay attention that the Facebook ID is not part of the post text, just as the example on the right shows, do not code it as reference to the leader.	Image: State of the state
Other populist leader 1=yes 0=no	A populist leader other than Orbán is visually present. Other populist leaders can be from the country of the leader (Hungary=Péter Jakab, Jobbik), but they can be from other countries too, as the example shows on the right: the Polish populist leader is depicted with Viktor Orbán. Dead populist leaders may not be visible (e.g. an image of the funeral) but they should still be coded visually if the image is of their funeral service. They may also appear in an old photo or in a painting or statue. In all cases code them as visually present. For populist leaders check: <u>The photos of the most</u> <u>important populist party</u> <u>leaders</u> , and the <u>Populists in</u> <u>Power Around the World</u> (2018), at the end of the coding scheme.	Mention any other populist leaders. Other populist leaders can be from the country of the leader, but they can be from other countries too. For populist leaders check: Populists in Power Around the World (2018), at the end of the coding scheme.	
Elite 1=yes 0=no	Elites are people who have political, bureaucratic, economic, religious and cultural power. Although a good sign of an elite is formal attire (suit & tie, or its equivalent for women with pantsuits or	Elites are people who have political, bureaucratic, economic, religious and cultural power. Focus on the verbal references to the below listed groups:	

1	1
dresses), focus on the identification of specific groups, that can be identified by: (1) recognizing by knowing the depicted elite, e.g., the pope as a religious elite; (2) cues in the context of the post as in the image example where the name of a large company is prominent behind the concentric elite	 Politicians: from the lead home country, from other countries, and from supranational level, such EU politicians. Bureaucrats and public administration: judiciary state or supranational bureaucracy, such as elite from the judiciary system administration or the human area of the suprame o
 company is prominent behind the economic elite Here are the kinds of elites to be on the outlook for code any of them as present in this category: Politicians: from the leader's home country, from other countries, and from supranational level, such as EU politicians. Bureaucrats and public administration: judiciary, state or supranational bureaucracy, such as elites from the judiciary system, the administration or the bureaucracy. Economic elite: large corporations, executives, managers, economic powers locally or from all around the world, including institutions such as rating agencies, IMF, WTO). Religious elite: priests, ministers, rabis, clergy or religious leaders from any other faith group Cultural elite: artists (=not celebrities, who are known for being known) who are highly appreciated painters, 	administration or the bureaucracy. Economic elite: large corporations, executives, managers, economic powe locally or from all around world, including institutio such as rating agencies, II WTO). Religious elite: priests, ministers, rabbis, clergy of religious leaders from any other faith group. Cultural elite: artists (=n celebrities, who are know for being known) who are highly appreciated painter musicians, producers, etc. and academics, scientists, experts in power positions If any of these group members are verbally refet to, code "yes". Although Brussels, EU, Soros, Gurcsány and Karácsony can be conside as Elite, do not code them here, there are separate
musicians, producers, etc. and academics, scientists, experts in power positions. If any of these group members are visually depicted, code "yes". In the example to the right, the leader is depicted with executives of a large company. But the leader presence with the elite is not necessary, code "yes" here if	categories for them.

2 ry, tes n, the

vers d the ions IMF,

or ıy

not wn re, but ers, ic.), , ıs.

ferred

lered m

	any Elite can be identified in the image. Although Brussels, EU, Soros, Gurcsány and Karácsony can be considered as Elite, do not code them here, there are separate categories for them.		
'The People' 1=yes 0=no	Regular or ordinary people. Their presence is central to the imagein other words, they are the "subject" of the photograph. They could appear with the leader or not. Look for signs of modest clothing, occupations and settings that signal ordinary people. The goal here is to identify non- experts and non-elites. Code "yes", if regular people appear prominently in the photograph as is the case in the first example to the right. However, if only kids or children are depicted, they are not coded as "the People", we have a separate	Verbal reference to 'The People' (Hun: magyarok, az emberek, a nép) should be coded as a "yes" here. General references to groups of "the People" as "the victims" are coded as "yes". The second example to the right shows that the post text refers to "suitable people", thus it doesn't matter that the image is not about them, they appear verbally, so code it here.	<complex-block></complex-block>
LGBTQ+ people 1=yes 0=no	category for them. Code "yes" if members of the LGBTQ+ community are depicted. Look for signs like rainbow flags, banners, pins, posters, or a piece of cloth.	References to the LGBTQ+ community.	
George Soros 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if George Soros is depicted in the image.	Verbal references to George Soros.	
Brussels 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if Brussels or the EU appears visually. This can be a superimposed text on the image, which is part of the visual message, just like in the first example on the right, or a street sign. However, the second example on the right shows only verbal references to Brussels, code "no" here. EU flag, the building of the EU parliament, and the logo of the EU with stars are signs of Brussels – if any of	References to Brussels or the EU, Europe in the post text or in the check-in option. The first example shows only a visual reference to Brussels with the superimposed text, do not code it here. However, the second example on the right shows verbal reference in post text, code "yes" here.	<complex-block></complex-block>

	these are present code "yes" here.		
Ferenc Gyurcsány 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if Ferenc Gyurcsány is depicted in the image, just like in the example on the right.	Verbal references to Ferenc Gyurcsány.	CO22_MANUAR RESERVENCE CO22_MANUAR RESERVENCE CO22_MANUAR RESERVENCE CO22_MANUAR RESERVENCE CO24_MANUAR RESE
Gergely Karácsony 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if Gergely Karácsony is depicted in the image, just like in the example on the right.	Verbal references to Gergely Karácsony. The example on the right has no such a reference.	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTO
Migrants 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if refugees and asylum seekers are depicted, may be presented as amorphous, faceless masses of people, or individually. The check-in can help identify the places where migrants may be depicted, like in the example on the right: "Hegyeshalom Border".	Verbal references to migrants, migration, refugees, refugee camps.	
The number of	fpeople	1	•
No people 1=no people 2=not applicable	Code "No people=1" if no people are present in the image. This includes when only a hand or a leg is visible. The presence of people means that a head is visible, thus as the second example shows only a hand, it should be coded as "No people".	Code "No people=1" if there is a reference to empty streets, deserted landscapes, or other references to the absence of people. These kinds of references may appear during the Covid waves, when people were not allowed to go out. If there is no verbal reference to people, or there is no text post, like in the first example on the right. This option should be used as "Not applicable=2".	
One person=3	Code "One person=3" if only one person is visible no crowds or others in soft focus background.	Code "One person=3" if there is a reference to one person, this might be self-reference of the leader to him/herself, maybe in first-person singular (E/1 = én, engem, nekem, etc.). Pay attention that the Facebook ID is not part of the	Contract of the second se

		post text, just as the example on the right shows, do not code it as reference to the leader.	
	A countable group of people is visiblemore than 1, no more than 5. Code "2-5 people=4" if the image contains 2-5 people, just like in the example image on the right.	Code "2-5 people=4" if there is a reference to a couple of people, inner circle, close advisors, etc. where one can assume a handful or a little more than one.	Image: Section of the section of
	Code "6-15 people=5" if there are clearly more than 5 people in the image but less tan 16. Some might be in soft focus but recognizable individual human bodies can be distinguished, as is the case in the first image on the right.	If the post mentions groups between 6 and 15, including a sympathy group, the cabinet, his staff, extended family, etc. Code "6-15 people=5" here. The second example on the right shows this reference to a small group with the text post "Action groups". This should be coded here.	<complex-block></complex-block>
countable people=6	Code "16 and countable=6" if there are clearly more than 15 people in the image, but still countable. Some might be in soft focus but recognizable individual human bodies can be still distinguished, as is the case in the first image on the right.	Code "16 and countable=6" if there is a reference to the size of smaller crowd as "there are many of us", but clearly not a huge mass.	
7	If a mass of humans, indistinguishable at the individual level is visible, code "Uncountable=7". As the example on the right shows, no individual is distinguishable, only a large mass.	If there is a reference to the size of crowd as "as far as the eye can see" or a sea of faces, masses, etc., code "Uncountable=7". Also: verbal references to general groups as "the Hungarians", "the youth", or "the victims" are coded as "Uncountable=7".	

Dural	Look for signa -fu-ture 1	Verbal reference to rural life	
Rural 1=yes	Look for signs of nature and sparsely populated landscapes. This could be a	or specific rural areas. This could appear as simply	Comment of theme and the second
0=no	landscape photo, just like the first example on the right, or this could be street scenes in villages without cues to suggest major urbanization, just like the second example on the right.	mentioning "vidék" or "falu, falusi", or referring to the name of the rural area, either on the post text, or the check- in option. In Hungary, Budapest and county seats are coded verbally as "Urban", all the other places are coded as "Rural".	
Urban 1=yes 0=no	Major buildings, traffic, and pedestrians are visible as in the example to the right.	Reference to urban life or cities, just like in the example on the right, where the post text refers to London. In Hungary, Budapest and county seats are coded verbally as "Urban", all the other places are coded as "Rural".	
Signifying wealth 1=yes 0=no	Settings that are decorated with opulence or expensive minimalism. Expensive objects or architectural elements are visible and recognizable, just like in the first example image on the right, the architectural elements of the room, and the huge map on the wall. Further visual signs of wealth can be well-known expensive hotels (Hilton, Ritz) places that symbolize wealth (Wall Street, Andrássy street with the depiction of expensive shops), or well-known museums (Museum of Fine Arts), or the red carpet. The third example on the right signifies wealth by depicting fine-dining in a presumably fancy restaurant.	Reference to expensive, exclusive, and lavish environments, for example well-known expensive hotels (Hilton, Ritz) places that symbolize wealth (Wall Street, Andrássy street), or well-known museums (Museum of Fine Arts). The second example on the right verbally signifies wealth by the check-in option that shows Kapisztrán tér, which is located in the Buda Castle.	<complex-block></complex-block>

SECTION 5: THREE DIMENSIONS ADAPTED FROM MOFFITT

From here on categories are based on the three main "**Features of Populism as a Political Style**" from Moffitt (2016, 51-3).

1. The following categories are designed to capture how the connection between "the People" and the leader is depicted, how the leader addresses "the People", and how he/she creates enemies and crises.

(1) Appeal to 'the People' versus 'the Elite'

- 2. This first Moffitt dimension has 4 sub-themes: closeness between the leader and the people, heartland symbols, ordinariness, and extraordinariness.
- 3. Each sub-theme contains a number of categories to capture the complexity of the leader positioning him/herself both as one with the people (and separate from elites) AND extraordinary compared to ordinary people.

Closeness: Categories measure how approachable the leader is and to what degree the leader demonstrates <u>comfort with</u> <u>regular people</u>, suggesting he/she is one of them through physical access to him/her.

regular people,	suggesting ne/sne is one of them	through physical access to him	
Individualized physical attention 1=yes 0=no To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.	Touches, hugs, handshakes, bumps, or any physical closeness to 'The People' that is appropriate to the setting. Selfies are coded here too: images depicting taking of a selfie with the leader, just like in the second or the third example on the right. There might be instances where the arm of a person is visible in the foreground as a selfie is taken. Pay attention that one-person selfies (a person is taking a selfie him/herself), where the leader is not in sight, or only visible in the backrogund without individualized physical attention are not coded here, only selfies taken with the leader. This category refers only to 'the People', not to family interactions, and not to politicians. In case of physical closeness to politicians or family members, code "no" here.	Reference to personal connection and affection, e.g. "my dear/old friend", "people I immediately fell in love with". Also, if the post mentions making selfies with the people.	<complex-block></complex-block>
Approving audiences 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" for the visibility of approving audiences. This might include showing them applauding, waving, cheering, whistling, laughing, showing thumbs up. Could also include people holding banners, posters that approve of the leader or his government. Reminder: The goal is to assess how the leader communicates with his/her social media audience. Thus if an image like the first example to the right is taken out of context in the post (which is a Charlie Hebdo protest in France not related to the Hungarian	Banners, posters or newspapers with words that approve the leader. Also, verbal references to pro-government protesters, or marches are coded here.	
	government), code it as an approving audience. Depictions of pro- government protesters, marches are coded here too, as the second example on the right shows.		
--	---	---	--
Vox pops (voice of the people) 1=yes 0=no	If regular people are presented as endorsing/expressing approval of the leader code "yes." This might appear as an image of a person with text in quotation marks from that person either along or superimposed on the image. The idea is that the people's voice is heard, their words are deemed important by the leader.	The post text cites the people's opinion. There might be quotes from people or paraphrasing about what a regular person told the leader or wrote the leader. Again the idea here is that the leader gives voice to the people through his verbal post.	
Performative gestures/expres sions 1=yes 0=no To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.	Specific expressions, gestures that go to the inner circle of 'the People', the followers, e.g. Sarah Palin winking; G.W. Bush hand- signaling a "W." This also extends to the leader clapping, showing "thumbs up", waving, "fist up", salute, or signaling V for victory. However, saluting soldiers are not coded as "yes", because we are interested in the leaders' performative gestures and expressions. The first example on the right depicts the leader showing his raised arm and fist (go team!) with the group of men as an expression of being part of this inner circle.	Verbal references to cheering someone on, like "Go for it!" or "Good luck!" (Hajrá!), just like in the second example on the right. Phrases like "illiberal" or "libernyák"should also be coded here as inner circle performative expressions.	

Performative rituals 1=yes 0=no	If the leader is shown attending rituals, such as funerals, weddings, laying wreaths at a memorial, church service, or the act of voting, code "yes." Focus on rituals suggest the leader believes and practices the rituals valued by the people. The example on the right shows both visual and verbal cues for this, by depicting the leader in a cemetery, and	Code "yes" if there is verbal reference to performing or attending rituals like funerals, weddings, church service, inauguration of a factory, or the act of voting, etc. The example on the right shows both visual and verbal cues on this, by depicting the leader in a cemetery, and the check-in refers to a cemetery too.	
Visiting 'the People' 1=yes 0=no	the check-in refers to a cemetery too. The leader is visiting ordinary people, victims at their homes, factory workers while working, etc. – but not the managers, experts, supervisors (they are elite). The example on the right shows the leader visiting quadruplets in the hospital – code "yes".	Verbal references to the visit of ordinary people, victims at their home, factory workers while working, etc. – but not the managers, experts, supervisors (elite). The example on the right refers to visiting a random family with quadruplets in the hospital - code "yes" here.	
The heartland s "the People" and <i>National</i> 1=yes 0=no		Verbal references to the nation, country, patriotism. This can be mentioning "nemzet", or just like in the first example, the post text sais "Respect for the brave!", which implies patriotism, or "the Hungarians".	<image/>

Г	TT 10.4	r	
	However, if the image was taken in his office but no		
	world heritage site is visible,		
	code "no" here.		
Religion	If the leader is visually	Verbal reference to religion,	- Charles
-	associated with church, a	church, faith, God,	Harristatel (f Durch arriva.
1=yes	cross, religious holiday celebrations, Christmas,	Christmas.	Marikani -
0=no	religious books, code "yes."	Verbal references as "Isten	Additional Action Addition Additional Action Additional Action Additional Action Additional Action Additional Action Addition Additional Action Additional Action Addition Addi
	As the example on the right	Veled, Titi Bácsi! (God be with you, Uncle Titi!)" are	Encloying, Print Chindiad Battalian Battalian Print Chindiad Battalian Solomer Print Chindiad Battalian Solomer Print Chindia Mattalia Battalian Solomer Chindiad and China Solomer Print Chindiad and China Solomer Print Chindiad and Solomer Solomer Solomer Solomer So
	shows, the leader is	also coded as "yes".	Se now 1 = 100 4.300 4.300 4.300
	attending a religious	The example on the right	🖉 With a conner
	ceremony.	shows verbal cues with	
		"Church service", thus it	
		should be coded as a "yes" here.	
Ordinarinaga	This refers to hains and of 'The I	anda' living lites them and sh	aring their values, passions, and interests.
	-		aring their values, passions, and interests.
Ordinary food, drink	Photo of any food or drink that is not fine-dining,	Verbal references to ordinary, simple foods and	Control of the second s
	expensive, e.g. homemade	drinks, or the act of	Other
1=yes	food, cafeteria food, fast food, traditional foods, a cup	eating/drinking these.	
0=no	of coffee at a gas station.	The example on the right	
	Pictures of restaurant foods	has verbal references to ordinary foods with "Fish	
	can be coded here too, if it looks like a simple, non-	soup", thus it should be	
	expensive meal in non-	coded as a "yes" here.	
	expensive surroundings, just		
	like in the example on the right.		
Ordinary	This category refers to	Verbal references to doing	Chân Viter
leisure	everyday activities such as	any kinds of ordinary	The second secon
1=yes	shopping, eating at a restaurant or café, cooking,	leisure (shopping, eating in	which happened by the second s
	gardening, etc. But not	a restaurant or café, cooking, gardening, etc).	1.4. 714.comments 917.4
0=no	agricultural (food producing)	Verbal reference to	And An American And And American And Andrean And Andrean Andr
	activities. This also includes entertainment and visual	commercial movies, music,	🖓 Webs a connect. 🕡 🖯
	reference to commercial	books.	Q Q I The second
	movies, music, books (religious books are not	The second example on the	 SAC B0 comment: 151 dans Alar Comment: 1/2 dans Alar Comment: 1/2 dans
	coded here). The first	right shows verbal references with "reading	March
	example on the right shows	list" thus code "yes" here.	V 1 Hay
	the leader reading a book thus code "yes" here.		
	The second example shows		
	only the books that he will		
	read code "yes" here too.		
Family	A photo depicting the family	Verbal references to the	
1=yes	members of the leaderown children, grandchildren are	leader's own family (but not	Compared and the second
-	coded here too, as in the two	to families in general).	
0=no	examples on the right.	The second example on the right shows verbal reference	menung and the field points i pre- provide the second sec
	The third example shows	to the leader's family - code	Write and the first state of the second s
	Viktor Orbán's family	"yes" here.	
	I		

Children	without his son, who is depicted on the second example on the right, while the fourth example depicts three from the five of his grandchildren. To identify them, the post text may be useful.	Verbal references to	<complex-block></complex-block>
1=yes 0=no	with children of other peoplenot his own, or only children of other people without the depiction of the leader. The first example on the right shows this, as from the previous category's examples coders can be sure that these children are not part of his family. The second example has a superimposed text about child protection, it's a general visual reference to children code "yes" here.	children in general in the post text. The post text of the second example on the right states "Don't let Brussels decide on our children!". This is a general reference to children.	
Animals 1=yes 0=no	A photo depicting any kind of animal. The first example on the right depicts a dog code "yes" here. The second dog example also adds superimposed text reference to animals, another "yes" code.	Verbal references to animals in general. The first example on the right shows only visual depiction, the second example shows verbal reference in the post text to "animals" - code "yes" here. But don't forget, the superimposed text is part of the visuals, that's not a verbal reference.	

Sport	The leader is attending sport	Using sport phrases, e.g.	Conception of the second secon
events/languag	events, but not doing sport.	goal, play, etc.	Laborations
е	Please pay attention that the	In the case of "Go!" it is	• N S2 (Server) 28 54 • 1 • 1 • 1 • 2 • 1
1=yes	symbol of the Olympic	important that the phrase	
-)-~	games does not necessarily	has to be in a sport context	
0=no	means a sport event, e.g. it	to code it here as a "yes".	Mare Cell And Cell
	can be a press conference	Encouragements to	Mariamet. Q 🖯
	without a sport event.	candidates are not coded as	Q Q • • Other Millor
	The first example depicts the	sport language.	Cypine a food-patie and intervent service and a food-patie and intervent service and a food-patie and intervent service and the service patients a
	The first example depicts the leader on a stand - code	Sport language can appear	g) Like C Comment 20 State
	"yes" here.	not only in sport related	Sindle Stand Sindle Grout Market and North And
	yes here.	posts, just like in the second	the help Sta 9 House for
	The second example has no	example: "Nearly a football	Ministrative group of Ministrative Control Ministra
	visual sport reference code	team." - code "yes" here.	🚱 Wite a connect. 🔹 🗈
	"no" here.		
	The presence of the leader is		
	not necessary here if the		
	image shows a sport event, it		
	should still be coded as		
	"yes" even if the leader is		
	not seen at the event.		
Humble	Photos from the past of the	Verbal references to the	
personal	leader, nostalgic pics are	humble personal	The state of the s
background	posted.	background of the leader.	Li Commente da da ser
oueng. ounu	Former	The example on the right	
1=yes	The example on the right	refers back to Fidesz, 1990	A und radicity of the product of the
0=no	depicts the leader with the	in the post text - code "yes"	Like Mag 1 (June 200)
0-110	whole Fidesz faction 30	here.	Kalojan Landkiki mada
	years ago - code "yes".		
Agricultural	Driving a tractor, using a	Using verbal phrases of	C C C C Chiardian -
activities	scythe, harvesting, etc. (But	agricultural activities	Pakate ky Sahada Radamia midmiznet midmiznet init drama
,	not gardening, e.g. planting	(tractor, scythe, harvesting,	Discoverents 13 (plane) Discoverents 13 (plane) Discoverents 13 (plane) Discoverents 13 (plane)
1=yes	a tree/flower.) The example	etc.). The key here is that	
0=no	on the right shows exactly	the reference is to growing	
	this - code "yes" here.	or harvesting food.	Access Ac
		The example on the right	Contraction of the second seco
		has no verbal reference to	
		agricultural activities, code	
		"no" here.	
Denial of	Visual images with	Criticism of experts,	
experts	superimposed text that	academics, doctors,	
	questions or makes fun of	scientists. Reference to the	
1=yes	experts or promotes the	superiority or importance of	
0=no	importance of common	common sense. (Hun:	
0 110	sense over learnedness.	"józan ész")	
Backpack	The leader is seen wearing a	Verbal references to a	Q Childr V&sor
Бисприск	backpack, just like in the	backpack, just like in the	Lig taka, iziny titicazel.
1=yes	example on the right.	example on the right, where	Blik 728 commers 261 star D Like ○ Commers ☆ Share
0-10	1 0	the text post says: "New	Mott relevant
0=no		backpack".	He get is distingt of get i di
		-	4 treph Ribbond
			Cite expression a percent
To code this,			White a comment.
the leader must			
be depicted			
visually. If he/she is not			
ne sne is not			

likeness, code "no" have. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, ubits clothing is constructed with leader wears jeans, or is-shirt, or wears is may or is shown as a clothing or is clothing or is shown as a clothing or is clothing or is clothing or is cl		1	1	
"ho" here. Clothing is only important in the case of the keader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Solution of the case of the keader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. 0=no Generally, if the leader wave server, cassall jacket, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verhal references to ison. References to ison. References to ison. References to ison, or to shirt, or sweater, cassall jacket, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verhal references in sourd there. 0=no Clothing is only important in the case of the keader mase, or to shirt, or sweater, or swe	visible, in			
Automatical biological biol				
$ \begin{array}{lll} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	"no" here.			
$ \begin{array}{lll} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Informal	Clathing is only important in	D eference to elething is	Chie Vikor
$I = \operatorname{pers} \\ I = \operatorname{pers} \\ $	-		-	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	cioining			ے تعدید اور
0 - no Generally, if the leader wears jeans, or t-shirt, or sweater, casual jacket, the leader must be depiced visually. If here, References to other actors/ cloubs are not relevant here, Note that wears jeans, or t- sweater, casual jacket, even if he wears a suit without a tie. 1 - to be depiced visually, If here is were in the issue visually, if here is were in the ease of the leader, or 'here; Cothing is only important in the case of the leader, or sweater on shirt, casual jacket or sneakers. Cothing is only important in the case of the leader, other ather is gen, or relevant here. 1 - yes 0 - no Cothing is only important the ease of the leader, other actor's cloubs are not relevant here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, stort parks, jogging gent, or other ather gent. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, vecer/flootball jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, stort ather. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, vecer/flootball jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, stort ather. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, stort ather. 1 - no The photo depicts the leader with clethrikes, qet should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of clethrikes. The mentions the names of clethrikes. If there is verbal references to the leader's strong, writes, qet or date is sport, write and heathry physical state or athictism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example in the takeder is code "yes." In the example in	1=ves		-	Salar Harden (
0 ^{-no} Generally, if the leader wers jears, or t-shirt, or wears (ears, or t-shirt, or wears(ears, or t-shirt, or wears(ears, or t-shirt, or without at is. clothes are not relevant here. Verbal references to casual clothes are not relevant here. 1 the leader must be depicted "yes" here. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here. Verbal references to casual clothes are not no shirt, casual jacket or snackers. 4 Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. 1 ⁻ pyes Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear. 1 ⁻ pyes Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other atherize gar", socer floatball jersey, like in right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear. 1 ⁻ no right gar", socer floatball jersey, like in right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader is short parts, jogging gar, or other athletic gear. Verbal self-references to short parts, jogging gar, or other athletic gear. 1 ⁻ the bedder this, with clebrities (soccer players, athlets, pop stars, write, ext. J. Clebrities (soccer players, athlets, pop stars, write, ext. J. Clebrities (soccer players, athlete sold as "yes" vern if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of celbrities. If there is	-)-~	relevant here.		Source State
wears jeans, or t-shir, or sweater, casual jeaket, baseball hat or sneakers. Unbuttoned shir, no tic, even if he wears a suit without a tie. Verbal references to casual clothing, e.g. jeans, or t-shir, or sweater, sweater, and papera in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. Clothing is only inportant in the case of the leader, other athletic gear. 1 -yes or code this, the bader mark is specified with or berichts (soccer players, athletics (soccer players, athletics, specified with or behalts (soccer players, athletics, path, athletic gear, it is not recervant here. Verbal references of the leader is not see, the reduct is store, store, gear, store, or behalt, the cader is not see, athletic gear. Celebrities The photo depicts the leader is not see, at the were. The ensure of the leader is not see, at the event. The ensure of the leader is not see, at the event.<	0=no	Generally, if the leader		the bady ty With Bady With Bady
To code this, the kader must be depicted "yes" here. wears a suit ubuttoned shirt, no tic, even if he wears a suit without a tie. Wear a references to casual clothing, e.g. jeans, or t- shit, or sweater, or sweater on shirt, casual jecket or sneakers. <i>the kine</i> The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here. Coloning is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Coloning is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. <i>1 - yes</i> Clothing is only important fright. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. To code this, the keader must be depicted "no" here. The photo depicts the leader right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear. The mentions the names of clebrities. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability win clebrities (seccer players, athless, pot shout as the code is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, if shout as clib coded ar "yes" even if the kader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of clebrities. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, wirtics, strong, virte and shout as clebritie and event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virte and shout set at the event. If there is verbal reference to the header's strong, work, wirthe adder is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the header's strong, boythy, wirthe adder is				The Bary 1/2 The Control of the Con
To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If here some the vears a suit without a tic. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - ord "yes" here. $\frac{Athletic}{trops}, ort-shirt, or sweater, or sweateron shirt, casual jacket orsnakers.\frac{Athletic}{trops}, ort-shirt, assual jacket orsnakers.\frac{Athletic}{trops}, ort-shows a casual jacket - ord"yes" here.\frac{Athletic}{trops}, ort-closing generation of the leader, otheractors' clokes are notrelevant here. The leaderappears in short pants,jogging gener, or otherathletic gen",soccer/football jersey, like inthe example image on theright.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gener, orother athletic genr.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gener, orother athletic genr.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gener, orother athletic genr.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gener, orother athletic genr.To code this,he clearbrites\frac{Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gener, orother athletic genr.The prosence of the leader isnot necessary here if theimage shows clearbrites (soccerplayers, athletes, pop stars,writes, etc.). Clekhrites arepeople who are known forbeing known.The presence of the leader isnot secent the event.$			nere.	
Unburgenergy he leader must be depicted without at ite.Unburgenergy use of the wears a suit without at ite. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here.Cohing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, joging gear, or other athletic gear", seccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear.To code this, witeles, code "no" here.The photo depicts the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People."The mentions the names of clebrities.Celebrities l=-yes 0=noThe photo depicts the leader is not seen at the evant.The mentions the names of clebrities are people who are known for being known.The mentions the names of clebrities are yes" ven if the leader is not seen at the evant.Fitness l=-yes 0=noIf the photo high lights the leader is strong, write and wyes" in the evantIf there is verbal reference to the leader is strong, yphysical state or the is headity.Fitness l=-yes 0=noIf the photo high lights the kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In t	To code this		Verbal references to casual	
be depicted visually, IT herkshe is not visuble, in likemess, code "no" here.even if he wears a suit without a tie. The example on the right shows a cusual jacket - code "se" here.shirt, or sweater, or sweater on shirt, casual jacket or anakers.dhildric clothing is nor here.Clothing is only important in the ease of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short parts, jogging gear, or other athetic gear", soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right.Chothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear, or other athletic gear, other athletic gear, other athletic gear, other athletic gear.File the sample image on the right.To code this, the is not visible, in likemess, code "no" here.The photo depicts the leader is ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of" the People."Celebrities l - people mo here, clo Celebrities are pople who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not accessary here - if the image show scelebrities, i, i, should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not secant at the event.The mentions the names of clothrities.Fitness l - people l - people l - people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not secant at the event.If there is verbal reference to the kader's strong, yrile and healthy physical state on the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state, ode "yes." The is canned and specie reference to the headh's ystrong, virile and healthy physical state, ode "yes." The is cannel and or the secone ball - code "yes."				
or output to the protect visually. If he/she is not visible, in tikeness, code "no" here.without a tie. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here.on shirt, casual jacket or sneakers. $dtheticclothingl=pvesClothing is only important inthe case of the leader, oriogging gear, or otherathletic gear",soccer/foothall jersey, like inthe example inage on theright.Clothing is only importantin the case of the leader,other actors' clothes are notrelevant here.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gear, orother athletic gear.Clothing is only importantin the case of the leader,other athletic gear.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gear, orother athletic gear.Clothing is only importantin the case of the leader,other athletic gear.Verbal self-references toshort pants, jogging gear, orother athletic gear.Clothing is only importantin the case of the leader'sshort pants, jogging gear, orother athletic gear.To code this,the leader mustbe depictedvisable, inno" here.The photo depicts the leader'sa bility to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the"embodiment of 'the People.'CelebritiesI=pvs0=noThe photo depicts the leader isnot seem at the event.The mentions the names ofclebrities.FitnessI=pvs0=noIf the photo highlights theleader's strong, write andheahly physical state onthe keader's strong, write andheahly physical state onthe keader's strong, write andheahly physical state ondwysical state, ond "yes."FitnessI=pvs0=noIf the photo highlights theleader's strong, write and<$				
he/sho is not visible, in likencess, code "no" here. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here. sneakers. <i>Mildetic</i> clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear", soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right. clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. To code this, the leader must visually. If her/sho is not visually. If her/sho is not win clebrities The photo depicts the leader's ablets, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are proper who are known for being known. The mentions the names of celebrities. The mentions the names of being known. <i>Timess</i> If the photo highlights the inage show scelebrities and "yes" even if the leader is not scen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader' strong, sporty, write an healthy physical state of the leader' strong, sporty, write an healthy physical state, of the leader is not see soft here. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, write and healthy physical state, code "yes."	-			
The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here. The example on the right shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear", soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Versal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If hershe is not visible, in "a" here. The shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Extraordinariness: It shows the leader is not necessary here – if the image shows celebrities, at should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of clebrities. Fitness l=-yes 0-no If the photo highlights th leader's strong, vrile and healthy physical state on the health examination of the leader's strong, vrile and healthy physical state, ood "yes." This can includer efference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	•		-	
Walker, in ikeness, cole "no" here.shows a casual jacket - code "yes" here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear".Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader other athletic gear".Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear, or other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear, or other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear, or other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. other athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. the athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader. the athletic gear.Clothing is only important in the athletic gear.Extraordinariness: It shows the leader is not necessary here - if the repelve who are known for being known. The many is not seen at the event.The mentions the names of 		The example on the right	shoukers.	
Indications, tode "yes" here."yes" here."no" here."yes" here."no" here.Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athietic gear", soccer/football jersey, like in the edepicted wisible, in likeness, codeTo code this, the leader must be depicted visible, in likeness, codeClothing is only important in the example image on the right.Clothing is only inportant in the case of the leader, other attrict gear.Clothing is only inportant in the case of the leader, other attrict gear.To code this, the leader must be depicted visible, in likeness, codeThe shot depicts the leader is and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People."Extraordinarises: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "the other tits (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Cletbritises are pople who are known for being known.The mentions the names of cletbrities.Fitness $l=\gamma es$ $0=no$ If the prosone of the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sport, write, set.). Cletbritise and healty physical state or atheletics is, e.g. doing sport, $0=no$ If there is norebal reference to the leader is not seen at the event.Fitness l = γes $0=no$ If the ploto highlights the leader's strong, virile and healty physical state or atheletics is no include reference to the health examination of the leader's here.If there is nerbal reference to				
Athletic Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear', soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear', soccer/football jersey, like in the example image on the right. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear'. Soccer/football jersey, like in tright. Clothing is only important in the case of the leader, other athletic gear. To code this, its easyn is not visible, in its deter with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebritise (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of celebrities. Fitness If the ploto highlights the leader is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athletic is socrep table. Socreps. The seen the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the right, the leader is kits in the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kits in the soccer ball - code "yes." In the cample on the right, the leader is kits in the soccer ball - code "yes." In the cample on the right		-		
clothing the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gar", soccer/football jersey, like in the case of the leader, sock was code "no" here. in the case of the leader, other athletic gar", soccer/football jersey, like in the case of the leader, sock was code "no" here. Verbal self-references to short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear". To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If here hes is not right. The meators' clothes are not right. Verbal self-references to short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear. To code this, in likeness, code "no" here. The short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear. The meators' clothes are not right. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Celebrities The photo depicts the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sprite and healthy physical state or athletic is score yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy. If there is healthy.	no nere.			
clothing the case of the leader, other actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gar", soccer/football jersey, like in the case of the leader, sock was code "no" here. in the case of the leader, other athletic gar", soccer/football jersey, like in the case of the leader, sock was code "no" here. Verbal self-references to short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear". To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If here hes is not right. The meators' clothes are not right. Verbal self-references to short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear. To code this, in likeness, code "no" here. The short parts, joging gar, or other athletic gear. The meators' clothes are not right. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Celebrities The photo depicts the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The mentions the names of the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sprite and healthy physical state or athletic is score yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy. If there is healthy.	Athletic	Clothing is only important in	Clothing is only important	
I = yes $0 = no$ actors' clothes are not relevant here. The leader appears in short path, jogging gear, or other athletic gear", soccer/football jersey. like in the example image on the right.other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.other actors' clothes are not relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.other actors' clothes are not relevant here.To code this, the dediction right.the example image on the right.the actor was below the the search was below the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of 'the People." Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "immediation of the clobrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not seen at the event.The mentions the names of celebrities.Fitness $I = fue possion was celebrities, itshould still be coded as"yes" even if the leader isnot seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceto the leader's strong,sporty, virile and healthyphysical state orathleticism, e.g. doing sport,This can include referenceto the health can include referenceto the health can include referenceto the health shows he/sheis healthy.If the leader isstrong,sporty, virile and healthyphysical state, code "yes."This can include referencet$				
$l \rightarrow ves$ relevant here. The leader appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear", soccet/football jersey, like in the example image on the right.relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.relevant here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.To code this, the leader must be depicted 'wisually. If hershe is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.relevant here.Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear.Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Celebrities $1 \neg ves$ $0 \neg no$ The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athlets, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the inshould still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not necessary here if the leader's strong, virile and heatthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, virile adheatthy physical state, code "yes." This con include reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile an heatthy physical state, code "yes." This con include reference to the heath examination of tike leader that shows he/she is healthy.	coming	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Jord Market
0=no appears in short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear". soccer football jersey, like in the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." The mentions the names of clebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The the is verbal reference to the leader's strong, while and healthy physical state or athletic is and the size of "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is is healthy. If there is verbal reference to the headthy physical state, code "yes." To code this, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is is healthy. If there is worehal reference to the headth examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	1=yes			
0-n0 jogging gear, or other athletic gear", soccer frobtabil jersey, like in the example image on the right. Verbal self-references to short pants, jogging gear, or other athletic gear. To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. Image: soccer frobtabil jersey, like in the example image on the right. Image: soccer frobtabil jersey, like in the example image on the right. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The mentions the names of celebrities. <i>I -yes</i> If the photo highlights the leader is not seen at the evander is not seen at the evander is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader is not seen at the evander on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. If there is verbal reference to the leader is code "yes", here, code "yes", This can include reference to the headth physical state or athletic sing, e.g. doing sport, code "yes" here. If there is nortal headth healthy physical state or othe headth reference to the headth reference to the headter is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. To code this, code "yes" here. is headthy.			relevant here.	
To code this, the leader must be depicted visually, If he/she is not visually, If he/she is not no code visually, If he/she is not visually, If 	0=no		Verbal self-references to	
To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. other athletic gear. other athletic gear. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The mentions the names of clebrities. The mentions the names of clebrities. <i>I</i> -yes 0-no If the poto highlights the mage shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the headter that shows he/she is healthy. <i>I</i> ocode this, To code this, If the graphical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she			short pants, jogging gear, or	
To code this, the example image on the right. To code this, the example image on the right. Extraordinariness : It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of 'the People.' Celebrities l=yes 0=no The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yess" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or 0=no Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or 0=no To code this, To code this, To code this, To code this, To code this, The secret based for the source ball - code "yes" here. To code this, To code this, To code this, The secret constant - To code this, The secret constant - The secret constant - The s		-		
the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. right. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Celebrities "no" here. The photo depicts the leader players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The mentions the names of celebrities. <i>The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is is keiking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. If there is verbal reference to the health examination of the leader is strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state or on the right, the leader is is healthy. </i>	To code this.			
he depicted isally. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code isble, in ikeness, code isble, isble	· · · · · ·			
 visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People." Celebrities 1=yes 0=no Difference of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is not secore ball - code "yes" here. To code this, code "yes" here. 		fight.		
he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here. Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the Celebrities The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities ar people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, i should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. The tree is verbal reference to the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. If there is verbal reference to the health examination of the leader is should still be coded as "yes" when if the leader is not seen at the event. Finess If the photo highlights the leader is not seen at the event. If there is verbal reference to the headth y physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is trong, write and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	-			
visible, in likeness, code "no" here.It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People."Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of "the People."Celebrities $l=yes$ $0=no$ The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.The three is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is headthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is headthy.If there is verbal reference to the leader frame sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader has thows he/she is healthy.	•			
likeness, code "no" here.It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of 'the People.' Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the "embodiment of 'the People.' Celebrities $1=yes$ $0=no$ The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.The three is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is headthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the healthy, bysical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is hows he/she is healthy.				
"no" here.Extraordinariness: It shows the leader's ability to lead and represent the "the People" by presenting him/herself as the"embodiment of 'the People."Celebrities "embodiment of 'the People."The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known.The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.FitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example is healthy.To code this,code 'wes."				
 "embodiment of 'the People.' Celebrities The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soocer ball - code "yes" here. To code this, To code this, The provide the leader is healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soocer ball - code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. To code this, To code this, To code this, The presence of the leader is healthy. The persence of the leader is healthy. The persence of the leader is healthy physical state, code "yes." The code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy explicit the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the healthy. The reference to the health examination of the healthy the healthy thealthe the health examination of the healthexamination of the h	"no" here.			
 "embodiment of 'the People.' Celebrities The photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soocer ball - code "yes" here. To code this, To code this, The provide the leader is healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soocer ball - code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. To code this, To code this, To code this, The presence of the leader is healthy. The persence of the leader is healthy. The persence of the leader is healthy physical state, code "yes." The code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy explicit the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the leader is healthy. The reference to the health examination of the healthy. The reference to the health examination of the healthy the healthy thealthe the health examination of the healthexamination of the h				
CelebritiesThe photo depicts the leader with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known.The mentions the names of celebrities.The mentions the names of celebrities. $0=no$ more respective of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.The three is verbal reference to the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the headth that shows he/she is healthy.			to lead and represent the "the P	eople" by presenting him/herself as the
l = yes $0 = no$ with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known.celebrities.The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.celebrities.FitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy example on the right, the leader is header is shealthy.If there is verbal reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	"embodiment of	'the People.'		
l = yes $0 = no$ with celebrities (soccer players, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known.celebrities.The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.celebrities.FitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy example on the right, the leader is header is shealthy.If there is verbal reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	<u> </u>			G Co Schin Vätor
l = yesplayers, athletes, pop stars, writers, etc.). Celebrities are people who are known for being known.Image shows celebrities, it is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes."If there is not seen at he event.To code this,To code this,To code "yes" here.If the example is healthy.	Celebrities			Developer of the second
0=no $0=no$ $0=no$ $0=no$ $0=no$ $The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader is not seen at the event. If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is healthy. To code this, The presence of the leader is healthy. The presence of the leader is healthy.$	l=ves		celebrities.	•• 97K 2.7K comments 1.5K shar
b = no people who are known for being known. The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event. Fitness If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." To code this, code "yes" here. is healthy.	<i>I</i> -yes			() Like Community () Share Most relevant
being known.The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as 	0=no			Ragon ji koli kancert és magne ji koli kancert és magne ji koli kancert és
The presence of the leader is not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, 				The Day of
not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceFitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.		being known.		A Constant C
not necessary here if the image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceFitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.		The presence of the leader is		🦚 🗰 White a comment 🖓 😢 0
image shows celebrities, it should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceFitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.		-		
should still be coded as "yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceFitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.				
"yes" even if the leader is not seen at the event.If there is verbal referenceFitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, $o=no$ If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes."If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." $0=no$ athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.				
not seen at the event.FitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, $o=no$ If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes."To code this,To code this,To code "yes" here.To code this,				
FitnessIf the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and healthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is to code this,If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes."To code this,If the photo highlights the leader's strong, virile and physical state or to the leader's strong, physical state, code "yes."If there is verbal reference to the leader's strong, physical state, code "yes."0=noathleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.		-		
I = yes $0 = no$ $I = yes$ $0 = no$ $I = yes$ $I = ye$		not seen at the event.		
I = yes $0 = no$ $I = yes$ $0 = no$ $I = yes$ $I = ye$	Fitness	If the photo highlights the	If there is verbal reference	
l=yeshealthy physical state or athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.sporty, virile and healthy physical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.				
0=no $0=no$ $athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is To code this, To code this, athleticism, e.g. doing sport, code "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is to the health examination of kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here. by yical state, code "yes." This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.$	1=yes		0.1	
o=nocode "yes." In the example on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.This can include reference to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	-			
on the right, the leader is kicking the soccer ball - code "yes" here.to the health examination of the leader that shows he/she is healthy.	0=no			
To code this, kicking the soccer ball - the leader that shows he/she is healthy.				
To code this, code "yes" here. is healthy.				
	To code this.			
	the leader must			

be depicted			
visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.			
Masculinity 1=yes 0=no To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.	Visual depiction of masculinity and/dominance. This could be in clothing (unbuttoned shirt showing part of the chest) or in behavior that objectifies women such as appearing with scantily clothed women, touching women inappropriately, or signs that they are used as "props" to signal the leader's physical prowess. It could also be visible in depictions of women in traditional gender roles as caregivers or sex symbols. The first example on the right shows the leader in a group of strong menit signals the leader is accepted in a group of macho men. The second example shows closeness to a woman that by general standards would be rated as attractive, of reproductive age, and eager to appear in close proximity with the leader. This signals the sexual prowess of the leader - code "yes" in both cases.	Verbal references to masculinity and manliness or denigrating another man as somebody less masculine. This also includes verbal references to women as objects or in their traditional roles as caregivers.	<complex-block></complex-block>
Graphication 1=yes 0=no To code this, the leader must be depicted visually. If he/she is not visible, in likeness, code "no" here.	Iconization of the leader, e.g. the Obama Hope poster, or any graphic design on the photo, e.g. a halo effect around the leader, just like in the example on the right.	This category is unlikely to emerge as a verbal category. References to the leader as a saint, hero, icon, knight, or having such qualities would constitute a verbal equivalence to be coded as "yes."	ORBÁN VIKTOR MINISZTERELNÖK

Accomplishme nts 1=yes 0=no	The photo depicts the leader's accomplishments, e.g. awards, results of elections, signings, policies, and/or celebration. The first example on the right shows accomplishments in terms of confirmation of his work with a letter from a voter thanking and praying for the leader's work. Images depicting the hard work of the leader, both in terms of physical and mental work, inauguration of a factory or a new route, or just like in the second example on the right, where the pile of paper symbolizes the huge amount of work.	The text refers to the accomplishments of the leader, e.g. "we did it", "we won" "we made it", winning. References to hard work or success of the leader. The third example on the right has a verbal reference to do hard work: "the work goes on". Code "yes" here.	<complex-block></complex-block>
Mediatization 1=yes 0=no	The presence of a media is clear and part of the subject matter of the photograph and their interest in the leader is shown. Both the first and second example on the right shows that the leader is facing a media interest. Depictions of the leader in newsrooms or at radio stations are also coded here. Pay attention that cameras and phones of "the people" are not coded as mediatization.	Verbal references both to pro- and non-government online or offline media attention to the leader, interviews given by the leader. The examples on the right has no such verbal references code "no" here.	<complex-block></complex-block>
(2) 'Bad Manne 4. We foo Slang 1=yes 0=no	cus on 3 categories here: slang, s Look for colloquial and jargon terms, informal words on clothes or banners, posters, or in the superimposed text on the image, which is part of the visuals. If it is present, code "yes." However, this category will most likely only be coded on the verbal side.	wearing, and political incorrect Colloquial and jargon terms, informal words in the post text, e.g. flaszter (=pavement), fusi (=working without a permit).	ness

Swearing 1=yes 0=no	If swearing on clothes or on a banner, a poster, or in the superimposed text appear in the image, code "yes." This category will most likely only be coded on the verbal side.	'Coarse' and culturally vulgar expressions appear in the text postcode "yes."	
Political incorrectness 1=yes 0=no	This category might include socially inappropriate closeness (e.g. a hand kiss to a female politician) or visual appearances of the leader's defiance of politically correct attitudes about gender, sexual preference, religion, disability, age, race, etc.	To 'mention the unmentionable', presenting 'what everyone quietly thinks', claiming favoritism against Hungary, for example in the case of the EU/Brussels, treating Hungary unfairly. Slurs against minority groups, criticism of 'political correctness', taunting and mocking a group, individual, or ideas.	

(3) Crisis, Breakdown, Threat

1. We focus on 13 categories here.

The first 9 categories are about the depiction of/reference to potential threats, there are also 2 categories about signaling protection against threat and danger, and there are 2 categories measuring sounding the alarm, and simplification. 2.

Crisis, Break	down, Thre	at: Groups a	and people

-	· · ·	-	
Migrants as	If refugees and asylum	Code yes if there are	
threat	seekers presented as	references to migrants,	Contrain Vikitor In contraint a historicid hostificat
1	amorphous, faceless	migration, refugees,	۩ 11K 1.5K comments 355 shares
1=yes	masses of people who are	refugee camps as threats	the □ Comment → Share Most relevant +
0=no	a threat, code "yes."	to the Hungarian way of	
0 110	Images of invasion,	life physically, culturally	MEG KELL ÁLLÍTANI!
	crossing borders illegally,	or economically.	Mitigrinovita 2015 das, kotelead koteliatoria riere des a jareinyczys odatoka te
	overcrowding public		V Orbán Viktor
	spaces, posing a security		
	threat in committing		
	crime, individual refugees		
	and asylum seekers		
	wearing burkas, or poor,		
	dirty clothes convey a		
	negative and threatening		
	depiction.		
	The example on the right		
	shows superimposed text		
	about migrants as threat,		
	also the image has a dark		
	filter that refers to		
	negativity, additionally the		
	facial expressions of the		
	refugees are somewhat		
	negative – code yes here.		
George Soros	George Soros appears as a	References to George	
as threat	threat to Hungarian ideals	Soros as posing a threat to	
	and values by propagating	Hungarian ideals by	
	and supporting the idea of	propagating and	

1=yes	Open Society, liberal	supporting the idea of	
0=no	ideology, NGOs, and migration. Thus, he would appear as evil with a master plan to destroy conservative, Christian values.	Open Society, liberal ideology, NGOs, and migration. Thus, he would appear as evil with a master plan to destroy conservative, Christian values.	
Brussels as a threat 1=yes 0=no	Depiction of Brussels, the EU Parliament, EU politicians, technocrats as agents of the threat to the well-being and independence of Hungary. The first example on the right shows a sign in the dark about Brussels - code "yes" here. The second example has a superimposed text "Brussels has attacked Hungary", which is a strong visual sign of threat - code "yes".	References to Brussels, the EU, EU Parliament, EU politicians, technocrats, who appear as agents of a threat,to Hungarian well-being and independence The first example on the right has no verbal threat reference, but the second has one in the post text: "Don't let Brussels decide on children!" - code "yes" here.	<complex-block></complex-block>
Ferenc Gyurcsány as a threat 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if Ferenc Gyurcsány is depicted in the image as an agent of the threat, as in the example on the right. He appears as the embodiment of the left, who destroyed Hungary during his rule, and he has controlled all the opposition ever since. His goal is to destroy what Fidesz has built up.	Code "yes" if Ferenc Gyurcsány is referred to in the post text as an agent of threat. He appears as the embodiment of the left, who destroyed Hungary during his rule, and he has controlled all the opposition ever since. His goal is to destroy what Fidesz has built up. The example on the right has no verbal reference, only visual - code "no" here.	
Gergely Karácsony as a threat 1=yes 0=no	Code "yes" if Gergely Karácsony is depicted in the image as an agent of threat, as in the example on the right. He appears as the embodiment of the left, who destroys Budapest. The example on the right is coded as "yes" because of the dark and red colors that convey the negative message – a threat.	Code "yes" if Gergely Karácsony is referred to in the post text as an agent of threat, as in the example on the right. He appears as the embodiment of the left, who destroys Budapest. The example on the right has no verbal reference in this sense, code "no".	ELAMARAA DECENSION ORBÂNTIS DECENSION ORBÂNT
Media as a threat 1=yes 0=no	Visual representation in the image or text on the image to suggest that news media are fake, biased, unfair, enemies of the people, anti- government or unreasonable.	References to"fake news" or any hostility towards news/journalism. This can be local or international news.	

The elite as	Elites are people who have	Elites are people who
threat	political, bureaucratic,	have political,
	economic, religious and	bureaucratic, economic,
1=yes	cultural power. Elite can	religious and cultural
0=no	be: Politicians,	power, whose visual
	Bureaucrats and public	depiction can be various.
	administration, from	Elite can be: Politicians,
	business or economic	bureaucrats and public
	sectors, religious figures,	administration, from
	or cultural experts.	business or economic
	If any of the above	sectors, religious figures, or cultural experts.
	mentioned groups or	or cultural experts.
	members of the groups are	If any of the above
	visually represented as	mentioned groups or
	threats or enemies (by	member of the groups are
	dark and red colors or with	verbally referred to as
	the superimposed text),	threats or enemies, code
	code "yes" here.	"yes" here.
	Although Brussels, EU,	Although Brussels, EU,
	Soros, Gurcsány and	Soros, Gurcsány and
	Karácsony can be	Karácsony can be
	considered as Elite, do not	considered as Elite, do not
	code their negative	code their negative verbal
	depiction here, there are	appearance here, there are
	separate categories for	separate categories for
	them.	them.
	If the Elite is visually	If the Elite is verbally
	represented as threat,	referred to as threat,
	choose from the drop-	choose from the drop-
	down list, who they are:	down list, who they are:
	Politicians: From the	Politicians: From the
	leader's home country,	leader's home country,
	from other countries, and	from other countries, and
	from supranational level,	from supranational level,
	such as EU politicians.	such as EU politicians.
	Bureaucrats and public	Bureaucrats and public
	administration: Judiciary,	administration: Judiciary,
	state or supranational	state or supranational
	bureaucracy, such as elites	bureaucracy, such as
	from the judiciary system,	elites from the judiciary
	the administration or the	system, the administration
	bureaucracy.	or the bureaucracy.
	Economic elite: Large	Economic elite: Large
	corporations, executives,	corporations, executives,
	managers, economic	managers, economic
	powers locally or from all	powers locally or from all
	around the world,	around the world,
	including institutions such	including institutions such
	as rating agencies, IMF,	as rating agencies, IMF,
	WTO).	WTO).
	Delisione eliterensis de	Delisione eliterensis de
	<i>Religious elite</i> : priests, rabbi, ministers, or leaders	<i>Religious elite</i> : priests, rabbi, ministers, or
	of any other faith group.	leaders of any other faith
	or any other faith group.	
		oronn
	Cultural elite: Artists	group

	known for being known), who are highly appreciated painters, musicians, producers, etc.), and academics, scientists, experts in power positions.	<i>Cultural elite</i> : Artists (=not celebrities, who are known for being known), who are highly appreciated painters, musicians, producers, etc., and academics, scientists, experts in power positions.	
Covid-19 as a threat 1=yes 0=no	Visual representation in the image or the superimposed text of the Covid-19 virus as a threat. This may appear e.g. as patients on breathing machine in hospitals, mass graves, dead bodies, or the picture of the virus itself. It is important to code images here as a "yes" if the tone of the image or the superimposed text refers to threat.	Verbal references to Covid-19 as a threat in the text post. It is important that the text not only describes the virus or its effects, it has to have a threatening tone to code it as a "yes".	
Other enemies as threat = write in the cell what kind of threats are depicted/menti oned in the post	Visual representation in the image or text on the image of any individuals or groups of enemies as threats that are not listed above, e.g. NGOs, or minorities. Please pay attention to "the People" as enemy, and if they appear like that, write "the People" here.	Verbal representation in the post text of any individuals or groups of enemies as threats that are not listed above, e.g. NGOs, or minorities. Expressions like this have an undefined enemy, code it as "undefined" – "We have to protect Hungary with the young generation. Their future is at stake." Please pay attention to "the People" as enemy, and if they appear like that, write "the People" here.	
Crisis, Breakdov	wn, Threat: Mitigation		
Border 1=yes 0=no	Border signs, fences, barriers, stop signs. The border symbolizes the threat, but also the protection from it. The first example shows both the fence and the borders - code "yes" here.	References to the border, fence, barriers, stop signs. The border symbolizes the threat, but also the protection from the threat. The second example on the right shows verbal reference to the borders in the post text - code "yes" here.	

Armed forces 1=yes 0=no	The leader is seen with or showing off soldiers, police, border guards, or any armed forces as ready and eager to protect the country. This might manifest in images of formal military parades or	References to soldiers, police, and border guards, or any armed forces. They symbolize the protection from the threat, countering the threat. References to military parades, welcoming	<complex-block></complex-block>
	informal mingling with people in uniform, as the two examples show. Thus, look for signs of people in uniform to make a coding decision. If they symbolize countering threat in the abstract or more concrete, code "yes" here.	ceremonies with soldiers, or informal greetings to/of armed forces. The second example refers to soldiers in the post text - code "yes" here.	Control Contro Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control C
Crisis, Breakdo	wn, Threat: Sounding the al	arm	
Sounding the alarm 1=yes 0=no	Look for signs of exaggeration, attention grabbing, and tittelation to provoke fear and concern or to stir emotion. This might be visible in large and alarming red superimposed text on the image, darkend ominous images, negative compelling images (protests, migrant invasion, negative emotional facial displays) use of graphics to divide people or ideas into different conflicting camps within the image. There might be reminders from the past to provoke fear related to historical suffering The first example on the right shows exactly this: dark background, red letters, reminder from the past - code "yes" here. However, the second example does not have any	Words like: Emergency, breaking rules, alert, safety, victim, crisis, are good general indicators of this category's presence in the text post. Narratively, the text post might be disseminating information about a crisis or perpetuating a continuing sense of crisis. Also look for metaphors of conflict: e.g. war battles, sport or any other metaphors that signal crisis, conflict, threat. The second example on the right refers to a "fight" in the post text - code "yes" here.	<complex-block></complex-block>

	visual signs, only verbal		
	ones - code "no" here.		
	ones - code no nere.		
Crisis, Breakdo	wn, Threat: Simplification		
Simplification	The idea here is that the	Defense and to simula	
Simplification	leader offers simplistic	References to simple solutions to complicated	
1=yes	explanations for problems	policy issues. The text	A calidad hulyet a kitrasonitoki romanitikai silaininata todi megadotanii
	and/or simplistic solutions	post of the example on the	billier Commente 346 phones billier Commente 346 phones billier Commente and billier
0=no	for problems. Look for	right says: "large	BRÜSSZEL A KLIMAVEDELMICSOMAG ÁLCÁJA ALATT AKARJA MEGADÓZTATNI
	signs of the leader	corporations should be	A HÁZ-ÉS LÁKÁSTULAJDÓNOSOKAT, the Paylos to Series to Se
	presenting him/herself as	taxed instead of families"	A blob als a sublida : A blob als and a sublida : A blob
	"the fixer" or the person	which is a simplification	Weite a communit 🕹 🖄 🧐
	who has the wisdom and	of tax policies and the	
	will of a savior. Visually,	leader offering a quick	
	this could happen through	fix- code "yes" here.	
	utopian (hopeful sunrises,		
	sentimental human emotion, triumphant		
	waving or high five) or		
	dystopian (showing chaos		
	or crises) images. Stock		
	photos might be used to		
	capture a simple, happy		
	scene to suggest the quick		
	fix for a crisis/problems.		
	Most important the		
	leader appears as the fixer		
	who won't let bad things		
	happen by solving the problem. Large facial		
	prominence of the leader,		
	especially combined with		
	a statement of the		
	threat/crisis and claiming		
	to be the fixer is a known		
	way for communicating		
	this idea. The point is here		
	that a simple solution, and		
	reassurance is offered for the problem.		
	The example on the right		
	shows superimposed text		
	on a prominent image of		
	the leader: "Brussels wants		
	to tax the homeowners, wants to raise the utilities.		
	Hungary insists on utility		
	cuts." This simplifies a		
	problem and positions the		
	leader as the guardian of		
	Hungarians against unfair		
	tax - code "yes" here.		
	1		

Photos of the most important populist party leaders

Austria Harald Vilimsky		Macedonia Nikola Gruevski	
Belarus Alexander Lukashenko		Netherlands Geert Wilders	
Brazil Jair Bolsonaro		Philippines Rodrigo Duterte	
Czechia Andrej Babiš	(2)	Poland Jaroslaw Kaczynski	6
Czechia Tomio Okamura		Russia Vladimir Putin	

Germany Jörg Meuthern	Slovenia Janez Jansa	
Greece Alexis Tsipras	Ukraine Volodymyr Zelensky	
Italy Silvio Berlusconi	UK Boris Johnson	

Italy Matteo Salvini	UK Nigel Farage	
Italy Giorgia Meloni	USA Donald Trump	
	Turkey Recep Tayyip Erdoğan	Ma Ri

Populists in Power Around the World (2018)

	Country	Leader or	Years in	Type of				Ecuador
		Party	Office	Populism				Georgia
	Argentina	Carlos Menem	1989–1999	Anti- establishment				Greece
	Argentina	Néstor Kirchner	2003-2007	Socio- economic				Hungary
	Argentina	Cristina Fernández de Kirchner	2007-2015	Socio- economic				India
-	Belarus	Alexander Lukashenko	1994-	Anti- establishment				Indonesia
	Bolivia	Evo Morales	2006-	Socio- economic				Israel
	Brazil	Fernando Collor de Mello	1990-1992	Anti- establishment				Italy
	Bulgaria	Boyko Borisov	2009-2013, 2014-2017, 2017-	Anti- establishment				Italy
	Czech Republic	Milo š Zeman	1998-2002	Anti- establishment				Japan
	Czech Republic	Andrej Babiš	2017-	Anti- establishment				Macedonia
	Ecuador	Abdalá Bucaram	1996–1997	Socio- economic				Nicaragua
	Ecuador	Lucio Gutiérrez	2003-2005	Socio- economic				Paraguay
	Country	Leader or Party	Years in Office	Type of Populism				
		Lugo		economic				
	Peru	Alberto Fujimori	1990-2000) Anti- establishme	ent			
	Philippines	Joseph Estrada	1998-2001	Anti- establishme	ent Country	Leader or	Years in	Type of
	Philippines	Rodrigo Duterte	2016-	Cultural		Party	Office	Populism
		Duterte			T-:	Char Chui	2000 2008	A + 1
	Poland	Lech Walesa	1990–1995	Anti- establishme		Chen Shui- bian	2000-2008	Anti- establishment
	Poland Poland	Lech Walesa Law and Justice	1990–1995 2005–2010 2015–	establishme			2000-2008 2001-2006	
		Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian	2005-2010	establishme), Cultural 4 Anti-	nt Thailand	bian Thaksin		establishment Socio-
	Poland	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu Vladimir	2005-2010 2015-	establishme), Cultural	nt Thailand	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck	2001-2006	establishment Socio- economic Socio-
	Poland Romania	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu	2005–2010 2015– 2004–2014	establishme D, Cultural 4 Anti- establishme Cultural	nt Thailand Thailand	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck Shinawatra Recep Tayyip	2001-2006 2011-2014	establishment Socio- economic Socio- economic
	Poland Romania Russia	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu Vladimir Putin Aleksandar	2005-2010 2015- 2004-2014 2000- 2014-2017	establishme D, Cultural 4 Anti- establishme Cultural	nt Thailand Thailand Internet Thailand Internet Turkey	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck Shinawatra Recep Tayrip Erdogan Donald	2001-2006 2011-2014 2003-	establishment Socio- economic Socio- economic Cultural
	Poland Romania Russia Serbia	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu Vladimir Aleksandar Vucic	2005-2010 2015- 2004-2014 2000- 2014-2017 2017-	establishme), Cultural 4 Anti- establishme Cultural Cultural	Thailand Thailand Thailand Thailand United States	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck Shinawatra Recep Tayyip Erdogan Donald Trump Rafael	2001-2006 2011-2014 2003- 2017-	establishment Socio- economic Cultural Cultural Anti-
	Poland Romania Russia Serbia Slovakia	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu Vladimir Putin Aleksandar Vucic Vladimír Meciar	2005-2010 2015- 2004-2014 2000- 2014-2017 2017- 1990-1998 2006-2010	establishme), Cultural 4 Anti- establishme Cultural 5 Cultural 0, Cultural	Thailand Thailand Thailand United States Venezuela	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck Shinawatra Recep Tayyip Erdogan Donald Trump Rafael Caldera Hugo	2001-2006 2011-2014 2003- 2017- 1994-1999	establishment Socio- economic Cultural Cultural Anti- establishment Socio-
	Poland Romania Russia Serbia Slovakia Slovakia Slovakia	Lech Walesa Law and Justice party Traian Basescu Vladimir Putin Aleksandar Vucic Vladimir Meciar Robert Fico	2005-2010 2015- 2004-2014 2000- 2014-2017 2017- 1990-1998 2006-2010 2012-2018	establishme o, Cultural 4 Anti- establishme Cultural 5 Cultural 6 Cultural 9 Cultural 9 Cultural 9 Socio- economic	Int Thailand Thailand Int United States Venezuela	bian Thaksin Shinawatra Yingluck Shinawatra Recep Tayyip Erdogan Donald Trump Rafael Caldera Hugo Chavez Nicolás	2001-2006 2011-2014 2003- 2017- 1994-1999 1999-2013	establishment Socio- economic Cultural Cultural Anti- establishment Socio- economic Socio-

Country	Leader or Party	Years in Office	Type of Populism
Ecuador	Rafael Correa	2007-2017	Socio- economic
Georgia	Mikheil Saakashvili	2004–2007, 2008–2013	Anti- establishment
Greece	Syriza	2015-	Socio- economic
Hungary	Viktor Orbán	1998–2002, 2010–	Cultural
India	Narendra Modi	2014-	Cultural
Indonesia	Joko Widodo	2014-	Anti- establishment
Israel	Benjamin Netanyahu	1996–1999, 2009–	Cultural
Italy	Silvio Berlusconi	1994–1995, 2001–2006, 2008–2011, 2013	Anti- establishment
Italy	Five Star Movement/ League coalition	2018-	Anti- establishment
Japan	Junichiro Koizumi	2001-2006	Anti- establishment
Macedonia	Nikola Gruevski	2006-2016	Cultural
Nicaragua	Daniel Ortega	2007-	Socio- economic
Paraguay	Fernando	2008-2012	Socio-